Foreword - April 2016
We are very pleased to introduce the Annual Report for the year 2015/16, a year which has seen
significant progress and achievement at NHS Wirral CCG.
We recognise that the NHS is in a period of significant change and challenge as detailed in the ‘NHS
Five Year Forward View’ and it is necessary for us to ensure that we work with our partners in
Health and Social Care to transform services, including the introduction of new models of care, to
meet the challenge of an ageing population and rising demand on services.
In order to achieve this, we introduced a revised constitution as well as progressing changes to our
Governing Body composition, a new internal management structure and further developing our
relationship with member practices.
We believe that these changes provide a firm base for us to progress innovative system wide
change with our health and social care partners locally and across Cheshire and Merseyside.
Therefore our focus will be to help our community have healthier lives, providing high quality care
when it is needed whilst ensuring that we have a sustainable health and social care system.
We would like to take this opportunity to thank our staff as well as our partners in health and social
care, for their commitment and hard work in meeting the needs of the people we serve.
Dr Pete Naylor, Chair

Jonathan Develing, Accountable Officer

Dr Sue Wells, Acting Chair
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Publication Arrangements
The Annual Report and a full copy of the Annual Accounts will be published on the Department of
Health website.
Paper copies and summary versions of (and alternative formats of) the Annual Report will also be
available on request to members of the public free of charge through the Corporate Affairs Team.
If you would like a paper copy please contact:
Paul Edwards, Director of Corporate Affairs – 0151 651 0011 pauledwards4@nhs.net
Laura Wentworth, Corporate Affairs Manager – 0151 651 0011 l.wentworth@nhs.net
Electronic copes are also available on the CCG’s website:
www.wirralccg.nhs.uk

1

1. Performance Report
1.1

Statement from the Accountable Officer

The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical Commissioning Group
shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be appointed by the NHS Commissioning
Board (NHS England). NHS England appointed Jonathan Develing to be the Accountable Officer of
the Clinical Commissioning Group on 4th May 2015.
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer, including responsibilities for the propriety and
regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable Officer is answerable, for keeping proper
accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
Clinical Commissioning Group and enable them to ensure that the accounts comply with the
requirements of the Accounts Direction) and for safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s
assets (and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularities), are set out in the Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment
Letter.
Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed each Clinical
Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year financial statements in the form and on the
basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The financial statements are prepared on an accruals basis
and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Clinical Commissioning Group and of
its net expenditure, changes in taxpayers’ equity and cash flows for the financial year.
In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the
requirements of the Manual for Accounts issued by the Department of Health and in particular to:
•

Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant accounting
and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a consistent basis;

•

Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;

•

State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Manual for Accounts issued
by the Department of Health have been followed, and disclose and explain any material
departures in the financial statements; and,

•

Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis.

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set out in my
Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.
Name: Jonathan Develing
Role: Accountable Officer
Signature:
Jonathan Develing

Date: 24th May 2016
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1.2

Purpose and activities of the organisation

Wirral has many strengths which include a growing economy, a narrowing productivity gap between
the Wirral and the North West as well as being strategically placed to take advantage of its role
within the Liverpool City Region and the Northern Powerhouse. It has a proven record of supporting
businesses and has a dynamic small business economy coupled with a strong visitor economy.
Despite this there are significant inequalities, especially in relation to deprivation which is most
prevalent in Eastern Wirral which has some of the most deprived wards in England. This drives
lower health outcomes and in these areas more people are likely to smoke, have low levels of
physical activity and poor diets. This is further exacerbated by low levels of economic activity and
productivity. In addition, the Wirral has an older age profile when compared to the national average,
especially those aged 65+ and of these people 34/100 will live alone which equates to 47,300.
NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) commissions services for people registered with
54 general practices listed within the CCG area and this aligns with that of Wirral Borough Council.
As of 31st January 2016 we are responsible for a population of 334,179 (this figure represents those
registered with a GP practice).
The CCG is a membership organisation and all GP Practices on Wirral are signed up to the CCG
constitution which outlines the key duties and structures of the organisation.
Further details of our GP member practices can be found on our public website:
https://www.wirralccg.nhs.uk/About%20Us/our-practices.htm
We have a bold mission and vision statement which is supported by values that were developed by
our staff and members of the Governing Body.

Our mission is:
“To commission high quality services which enable the people of Wirral to improve
their own health and well being”
Our vision is that:
“People will have the opportunity to live longer healthier lives regardless of where they live
on Wirral”
This vision is underpinned by our values, which are:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Leadership – that is credible, passionate and ambitious
Accountability – we will take personal and organisational ownership
Partnership – we will seek to develop positive relationships with people and our partners
Quality – we will always seek to raise standards and improve outcomes
Character – we will be respectful, supportive and transparent
Integrity – trustful and trustworthy in all we do

Our objectives are to:
•

To empower the people of Wirral to improve their physical, mental health and general well
being

•

To reduce health inequalities across the Wirral

•

To adopt a health and well being approach in the way services are both commissioned and
provided

•

To commission and contract for services that:
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o Demonstrate improved person centred outcomes
o Are high quality and seamless for the patient
o Are safe and sustainable
o Are evidence based
o Demonstrate value for money
•

To be known as one of the leading Clinical Commissioning Groups in the country

•

Provide systems leadership in shaping the Wirral health and social care system so as to be fit
for purpose both now and in five years time.

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA)
Wirral’s Joint Strategic Needs Assessment highlights a number of significant challenges to the
Health and Social Care Economy in respect of its resident population. Some of the key population
features are provided below:
Further information regarding the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment is available on our website:
https://www.wirralccg.nhs.uk/About%20Us/
Health Economy Profile
Using population estimates for the Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group area, Wirral’s overall
population is projected to increase by 2% between 2016 and 2028, from an estimated 321,837 in
2016 to 328,823 in 2028. Wirral has a relatively high older population and a relatively low proportion
of people in their twenties and thirties compared to England and Wales as a whole. The older
population (over 75) is expected to increase at the fastest rate over the next decade; from 31,664 in
2016 to 43,677 in 2028, which equates to an increase of over 38%. The biggest decrease will be in
the 45-64 year age group; from 88,375 in 2016 to 80,011 in 2028, which represents a 9% drop.
Health Inequalities
Wirral has a diverse population that is characterised by social demographic extremes, ranging from
some of the most affluent electoral wards in the country to some of the most deprived.. One in four
of all children in Wirral live in poverty, but in specific areas (e.g. Bidston & St James ward), this is as
high as 50%. Wirral also has the largest inequalities in ‘Disability Free Life Expectancy’ (years spent
free from illness and disease) of all local authorities in England. The impact of this across a wide
range of health and social outcomes is evident, resulting in an unacceptable 10 year difference in
life expectancy (74 years in Rock Ferry compared to 84 years in Heswall). Lifestyle behaviours such
as smoking and drinking too much alcohol, as well as obesity, contribute to health inequalities, and
these behaviours are also more prevalent in Wirral’s most deprived areas (e.g. the prevalence of
smoking in the most deprived areas of Wirral is around 50% higher than the national average).
Wirral CCG is striving to reduce these significant inequalities and aspires to eliminate them entirely
in the future. Achievement of this ambitious aim will need a multi-faceted approach due to the
complex nature of the issues and a number of strategies are already in place, examples of which
include:
•

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) used to inform service development and joint
commissioning

•

Health and Wellbeing Board strategy in place and being implemented across the Wirral Health
and Social Care economy

•

Enhanced services in primary care aimed at the early identification and treatment of disease

•

Collaborative working with Wirral Local Authority (in particular Public Health and the
Department of Adult Social Services) in a number of areas relating to reducing inequalities,
including the re-procurement of drug and alcohol services and the 'Healthy Child Programme',
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co-development of a plan for the Better Care Fund and regular strategic joint commissioning
meetings
•

Commissioning of health workers to proactively target specific groups that have difficulty
accessing health services

•

Impact assessment of all CCG commissioning to ensure equitable service provision in order to
prevent further widening of the inequality gap

Population health issues
As highlighted above, persistent inequalities have led to a wide range of local health and social
issues. However, the key areas of specific concern for the Wirral include:
•

The rate of alcohol related admissions to hospital is double the national average

•

It is estimated that there are around 4,200 adults with undiagnosed heart disease

•

The prevalence of hypertension (high blood pressure) is 15.2% (50,228), which is higher than
the national average. However, estimates suggest that there could be a further 40,000
undiagnosed hypertensive people in Wirral.

•

Hospital admissions due to substance misuse amongst 15-24 year olds are significantly higher
than the national average

•

Around 30,000 people aged 65 or over report that they have a Limiting Long-Term Illness,
which is projected to increase to 41,000 by 2030

•

Around 654 people die each year from smoking related deaths, which is a rate of 240 per
100,000 people aged 35 and over. This is 20% higher than the national rate.

•

The number of new cases of female lung cancer has risen by 7% in the past 10 years.

•

There are potentially 3,260 patients with undiagnosed diabetes and projections by the
Association of Public Health Observatories (APHO) suggest that diabetes prevalence will rise
to 9.3% by 2030

•

The rate of hospital admissions related to violent crime is higher than the national average.

•

The number of people with a longstanding health condition caused by stroke is projected to
increase by 14% by 2020

•

The most recent estimates suggest there are around 4,500 people (aged 65 or over) living with
dementia

Further information about the population of Wirral can be accessed via the Joint Strategic Needs
Assessment, which is available on: http://info.wirral.nhs.uk/ourjsna/
•

Wirral has a relatively high older population and a relatively low proportion of people in their
twenties and thirties compared to England and Wales as a whole.

•

The older population (aged 65 years and above) are expected to increase at the fastest rate
(than any other age group) over the next decade; between 2011 and 2021 it is estimated that
this population group will have increased by 17.4%

•

The population over 85 is projected to increase from 8,460 in 2011 to 10,985 in 2021, which
equates to a 29.9% increase

•

The biggest decrease is in the 35-59 year age group, from 108,548 in 2008 to 82,061 in 2021

•

Births reached a 15 year high in 2011

•

The Employment domain of the IMD 2010 indicates that Wirral performs poorly on this
indicator. This is an indication of the scale of the challenge faced in Wirral and the need for a
focused and coordinated approach to tackling worklessness and economic activity
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•

Wirral has a predominance of Mosaic groups which are at the polar extremes of the income
spectrum, indicating that the differential between people on very low and very high incomes is
pronounced within Wirral

Wirral Registered Population be Age Band

Wirral IMD Rank – Index of Multiple Deprivation 2010
The Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) IMD 2010 shows that Wirral is the 60 th most deprived of the
326 districts in the country and is therefore in the bottom 20% nationally. There has been no change
on previous data (IMD 2007).
The IMD places 30 of Wirral’s Lower Super Output Area’s (LSOA) in the lower 5% in England and
23 LSOAs in the 3% most deprived nationally.
Demands for services are changing due to the changes in demography, lifestyle behaviors and
expectations of the public, below are the key challenges which are highlighted in the Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment (JSNA).
With the information available, it is predicted that the biggest burdens of ill health for the people of
Wirral and the areas of challenge for the CCG and wider health and social care economy are:
•

Addressing the health inequalities within the Borough

•

Respiratory disease

•

Alcohol and alcohol related diseases

•

Cancer

•

Diabetes

•

Heart disease and stroke
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1.3

Performance

1.3.1 Measuring Performance
Over the past year, the CCG has developed processes and systems in order to track the progress of
its service providers (e.g. local hospitals, community services and other providers) against a number
of national outcomes indicators, and ensures that patients’ rights within the NHS Constitution are
maintained.
The NHS Constitution gives patients specific rights, and these include:
•

The right to begin treatment within 18 weeks of a GP referral (or within 62 days if the referral
is for cancer)

•

The right to be seen, discharged or admitted to A&E within 4 hours of arrival;

•

In urgent cases, the right to an ambulance within 19 minutes of 999 call;

•

Where an operation is cancelled at the last minute for non-clinical reasons, the right to an
operation within 28 days of the cancellation.

What we have achieved in 2015/16 against these standards (based on most recent intelligence):
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NHS Constitution Indicators:
2015/16 Full 2015/16 Full
Year
Year RAG
Performance
Rating

Target
a) NHS Constitution support measures
Referral To Treatment waiting times for non-urgent consultant-led
treatment
Admitted patients to start treatment within a maximum of 18 weeks from
referral – 90%
Non-admitted patients to start treatment within a maximum of 18 weeks
from referral – 95%
Patients on incomplete non-emergency pathways (yet to start treatment)
should have been waiting no more than 18 weeks from referral – 92%
Diagnostic test waiting times
Patients waiting for a diagnostic test should have been waiting less than 6
weeks from referral – 99%
A&E waits
Patients should be admitted, transferred or discharged within 4 hours of
their arrival at an A&E department – 95%
Cancer waits – 2 week wait
Maximum two-week wait for first outpatient appointment for patients
referred urgently with suspected cancer by a GP – 93%
Maximum two-week wait for first outpatient appointment for patients
referred urgently with breast symptoms (where cancer was not initially
suspected) – 93%
Cancer waits – 31 days
Maximum one month (31-day) wait from diagnosis to first definitive
treatment for all cancers – 96%
Maximum 31-day wait for subsequent treatment where that treatment is
surgery – 94%
Maximum 31-day wait for subsequent treatment where that treatment is an
anti-cancer drug regimen – 98%
Maximum 31-day wait for subsequent treatment where the treatment is a
course of radiotherapy – 94%
Cancer waits – 62 days
Maximum two month (62-day) wait from urgent GP referral to first
definitive treatment for cancer – 85%
Maximum 62-day wait from referral from an NHS screening service to first
definitive treatment for all cancers – 90%

90%
95%
92%

99%

95%

No waits from decision to admit to admission (trolley waits) over 12 hours
Cancelled Operations
No urgent operation to be cancelled for a 2nd time
Ambulance Handovers
Ambulance Handover within 15 mins (WUTH only)

93.5%
91.8%

98.3%

87.4%

Red
Red
Red

Red

Red

93%

96.9% Green

93%

98.2% Green

96%

98.3% Green

94%

98.3% Green

98%

99.5% Green

94%

98.4% Green

85%

84.1% Red

90%

96.4% Green

Maximum 62-day wait for first definitive treatment following a consultant’s
decision to upgrade the priority of the patient (all cancers) – no operational
standard set
Category A ambulance calls
Category A calls resulting in an emergency response arriving within 8
minutes – 75% (standard to be met for both Red 1)
Category A calls resulting in an emergency response arriving within 8
minutes – 75% (standard to be met for both Red 2)
Category A calls resulting in an ambulance arriving at the scene within 19
minutes – 95%
b) NHS Constitution support measures
Mixed Sex Accommodation Breaches
Minimise breaches
Cancelled Operations
All patients who have operations cancelled, on or after the day of
admission (including the day of surgery), for non-clinical reasons to be
offered another binding date within 28 days, or the patient’s treatment to
be funded at the time and hospital of the patient’s choice.
Mental health
Care Programme Approach (CPA): The proportion of people under adult
mental illness specialties on CPA who were followed up within 7 days of
discharge from psychiatric in-patient care during the period – 95%
Referral To Treatment waiting times for non-urgent consultant-led
treatment
Zero tolerance of over 52 week waiters
A&E waits

83.0%

90.7% Red

75%

75.5% Green

75%

73.1% Red

95%

94.9% Red

0

45

0

12 Red

95%

0

97.8% Green

10 Red
Red

0

6

0

0 Green

100%

72.8% Red

-

Refer to
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-

Treatment (RTT) review of all specialities recently undertaken with a predicted recovery
trajectory for the end of April; however, some uncertainty due to the impact of strikes. All
breaches are regularly reviewed by the CCG and Wirral University Teaching Hospital NHS
Foundation Trust (WUTH) at monthly contract meetings.

-

WUTH reported a DEXA scanner breakdown which temporarily affected waiting times. This
issue is now resolved and the standard has recovered.

-

A revised system-wide recovery plan has been developed in line with NHS England’s 8 high
impact areas and the local recommendations from the Emergency Care Improvement
Programme (ECIP). This is now being closelt monitored via the System Resilience Group
(SRG). WUTH provides the CCG with a capacity report 5 times daily between 9am and 9pm
which measures real time activity on site which is received by the in hours CCG manager
and shared with the on-call manager. Local schemes such as Single Front Door, Street
Triage and additional ambulance capacity to deal with local acuity calls have been
commissioned to support delivery of the 4 hour A&E standard.

-

WUTH has taken forward a piece of work in liaison with other Trusts to address delayed
transfers of care and shorten the cancer treatment pathway. The CCG, through the SRG has
been assured that the impact of these improvements will be achieved by April 2016.

-

A data analysis and performance review has been carried out. A task and finish group is
being established to develop a focussed action plan to address the issues with amublance
handover within 15 minutes (WUTH only) and category A calls resulting in an emergency
reponse arriving within 8 minutes.

-

Mixed Sex Accomodation breaches predominantly relate to patients in critical care who have
recovered sufficiently to move to another ward. Data collection in critical care areas has been
reviewedand there is a plan in place to implement a robust bed move policy.

-

For the last 2 months, WUTH have liaised with providers regarding 52 week waits. Those
identified are not directly attributable to WUTH but to wirral patients receiving care from other
providers. A review of these breaches has identified that many relate to incorrect coding or
instances where the patient has had to delay treatment themselves due to personal
circumstances.

-

Issues relating to cancelled operations may have been contributed to by junior doctors
strikes and non achievement of the 4 hour target and an increase in elective admissions.
Due to an improvement in data recording, all organisations that undertake elective
operations have been included, hence the increase in this years report.
During 2015/16, the focus on quality has remained a high priority to ensure that patients
receive the best possible care and positive outcomes.

1.4

Financial risks and issues

The 2015/16 financial statements (yearend accounts) have been prepared under a direction
as issued by NHS England under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended by
14Z15 of the Health and Social Care Act 2012 Reports by clinical commissioning groups)
and in accordance with appropriate accounting standards.
a) Statutory Financial Duties
The financial statements included within this annual report demonstrate a challenging year
for the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), the statutory financial duties are outlined
below:
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•

Revenue Resource Limit
The CCG has a statutory duty to contain its revenue expenditure within its notified revenue
resource limit.
The CCG received a revenue resource limit of £490.411 million for the 2015/16 financial
year but reported a deficit of £1.423 million against this resource (0.28% away from a
breakeven position). In line with statutory requirements that is set out in secion 30 of the
Local Audit and Accountability Act, this has been reported to the Secretary of State by our
External Auditors.
NHS England Business Planning required CCG’s to plan for a minimum 1% surplus and the
CCG did not meet this requirement.

•

Capital Resource Limit
The CCG has a statutory duty to contain any capital expenditure within its notified capital
resource limit.
The CCG received no capital resource during 2015/16.

•

Expenditure not to exceed income received.
The CCG has a statutory duty for expenditure not to exceed income. The CCG did not
meet this requirement
The CCG expenditure for 2015/16 was £491.834 million, compared to income of £490.411
(million)

•

Running Costs Allocation
The CCG has a statutory duty not to exceed its running cost allocation via expenditure on
administration costs.
The CCG administration expenditure for 2015/16 was £7.147 million against an allocation of
£7.446 million.
To note, £1.266 million was adjusted non recurrently (in line with guidance received) from
running costs to programme for programme ‘administration costs’.

b) Supporting Requirements
•

Cash Management
The CCG must ensure that it does not exceed its approved level of cash available within
the financial year.
The CCG has had an effective cash management approach in 2015/16 financial year,
achieving its target of holding a minimal cash balance at the end of each financial period.
The CCG held a minimal cash balance of £7k at the end of the financial year which was
below the target set by NHS England for CCG’s to hold a maximum 1.25% month end cash
balance of the main cash drawdown (circa £491k)

•

Better Payment Practice Code
The Better Payment Practice Code requires the clinical commissioning group to aim to pay
all valid invoices by the due date or within 30 days of receipt of a valid invoice, whichever is
later. The NHS aims to pay at least 95% of invoices within 30 days of receipt, or within
agreed contract terms.
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Details of compliance with the code are given in the notes to the financial statements. In
addition to the statutory duties, all NHS organisations were required to make payments to
their creditors within 30 days (unless other terms have been agreed). The target is for
CCGs to pay 95% of invoices within this timescale.
The CCG is an approved signatory of the Prompt Payment Code. This initiative was
devised by the government with The Institute of Credit Management (ICM) to tackle the
crucial issue of late payment and to help small businesses. Suppliers can have confidence
in any company that signs up to the code that they will be paid within clearly defined terms,
and that there is a proper process for dealing with any payments that are in dispute.
Approved signatories undertake to:
•

Pay suppliers on time;

•

Give clear guidance to suppliers; and

•

Encourage good practice

Further information on the code can be found at www.Promptpaymentcode.org.uk

2015-16

2015-16

Number

£000

Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year

9,953

76,718,111

Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target
Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid
within target

9,722

76,038,274

97.68%

99.11%

2,975
2,943

350,904,800
350,027,727

98.92%

99.75%

Measure of compliance
Non-NHS Payables

NHS Payables
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target
Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within
target

The CCG has consistently met the target of 95% throughout 2015/16.

1.5

Performance Summary

Summary of Financial Performance:
Financial Resources and Surplus Position
NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group received a final resource allocation of £490.411
million for the 2015/16 financial year which was made of £7.446 million for running costs
(admin) and £482.965 million for programme expenditure.
NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Groups expenditure for 2015/16 financial year was
£484.688 million programme expenditure and £7.147 million on running costs (admin).
The resulting performance was that the CCG did not achieve its planned surplus figure of
£4.823 million (equivalent 1% in line with NHS England Business Rules %) but posted a
deficit of £1.423 million.
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The movement from planned surplus to deficit was notified to NHS England during 2015/16
financial year and was predominantly due to increased activity across a number of
expenditure areas, its main secondary care provider, Wirral University Teaching Hospitals
NHS Foundation Trust, prescribing expenditure, Spire Murrayfield and Any Qualified
Providers.
2015-16
Resource Allocation
£million

2015-16
Actual Expenditure
£million

Variance
£million

482.965

484.688

1.72

7.446

7.147

(0.299)

490.411

491.834

1.42

Programme
Running Costs
Total
•

CCG 2015/16 Expenditure
NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group spent its resources as follows:
2015-16
Actual
Expenditure
£million

Variance
£million

333.914

336.519

2.60

Non NHS contracts

15.172

17.901

2.729

Prescribing

59.425

60.754

1.329

Commissioned out of Hospital

35.336

35.040

(0.296)

2015-16
Planned Expenditure
£million
NHS contracts

Third Sector
Intermediate Care and
Reablement

0.066

0.064

(0.003)

16.823

19.127

2.30

Other

17.406

15.284

(2.122)

478.142

484.688

6.546

Running costs

7.446

7.147

(0.299)

Planned Surplus

4.823

0

(4.823)

490.411

491.834

1.423

Total Programme Expenditure

Overall Performance

An analysis of 2015/16 programme expenditure shows that the majority of the CCG
expenditure relates to services commissioned with NHS Providers (69%), with prescribing
expenditure (13%) and commissioned out of hospital care (for example Continuing
Healthcare, Fully / Joint Funded packages of care) (7%) resulting in 89% of overall resources
being utilised in these areas.
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0%
7%

NHS contracts
4% 3%

Non NHS contracts
Prescribing

13%

Commissioned out of
Hospital

4%

Third Sector

69%

Intermediate Care and
Reablement
Other

The remaining 11% consists of expenditure with other non-NHS providers (4%), Intermediate
Care and Reablement (Better Care Fund) (4%) and other commissioning expenditure which
includes non-recurrent expenditure as identified in original financial plans and in support of
Local Enhanced Services.
•

NHS Contracts
The 2015/16 expenditure with NHS provider organisations of £336.5 million is shown in the
table below:
Provider
Wirral University Teaching Hospital
NHS Foundation
Trust (WUTH)
Wirral Community NHS Trust (WCT)
Cheshire and Wirral Partnership NHS
Foundation Trust (CWP)
North West Ambulance Service NHS
Trust (NWAS)
Non-Wirral ‘Acute’ / ‘Secondary Care’
Providers
(Non-Wirral)
Non-Contracted Activity (NCA)
Total NHS Contracts

Type of Service

£million

%

220.38

65%

43.17

13%

32.19

10%

Ambulance

12.06

3%

various

26.20

8%

various

2.51
336.51

1%
100%

Acute services
Community
Services
Mental Health and
Learning Disability
services

*excludes better care fund expenditure
65% of the CCGs expenditure is with our local acute provider Wirral University Teaching
Hospital NHS Foundation Trust.
A detailed breakdown of ‘Acute’ / ‘Secondary Care’ Providers (Non-Wirral) Activity £26.2
million is illustrated below:
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- Royal Liverpool and Broadgreen
University Hospital NHS Trust
- Countess of Chester Hospital
NHS Foundation Trust

18%
27%
6%

- Aintree University Hospital NHS
Foundation Trust
- Liverpool Women’s NHS
Foundation Trust

6%
9%

16%
9%

10%

- Alder Hey Children’s NHS
Foundation Trust
- South Staffordshire and
Shropshire Healthcare NHS
Foundation Trust
- Liverpool Heart and Chest
Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

•

NHS Contracts commentary
There has been a mixture of performance issues with commissioned services from NHS
providers.

•

Wirral University Teaching Hospital NHS Foundation Trust (WUTH)
The 2015/16 contract plan with WUTH was increased above CCG planning assumptions
during contract discussions and during the financial year with year the end expenditure
position being an outturn of circa £1.9m over performance. (Excluding Better Care Fund and
Systems Resilience)
Performance against planned contract value at the end of the financial year is split as
illustrated in the table below:
2015-16
Contract plan
£million

2015-16
Actual Expenditure
£million

Variance
£million

Elective and Day Case

42.01

42.53

0.52

Outpatient Attendances

25.76

26.39

0.63

Outpatient Procedures

5.88

5.82

(0.06)

9.69

9.89

0.20

66.93

69.03

2.10

7.97

7.60

(0.37)

Maternity

4.86

5.34

0.49

Diagnostic Imaging
Non-Payment by Results (incl
Commissioning for Quality
and Innovation - CQUIN)
Contract Sanctions &
Penalties
Other
Total

2.14

2.09

(0.05)

54.91

55.72

0.80

(2.54)
0.92
218.53

(5.71)
1.68
220.38

(3.17)
0.76
1.85

Planned Care

Unplanned Care
Accident & Emergency
Non-Elective
Non-Elective Non-Emergency
Other
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Other NHS Providers
There have been significant over activity against the plan across other NHS contracts. In
particular, Royal Liverpool & Broadgreen University Hospitals NHS Trust (£0.721m), Aintree
University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (£0.290m), and St Helen's & Knowsley NHS
Trust (£0.160m).
Non-NHS Contracts
For non-NHS providers, 2015/16 expenditure of £17.9 million, the main providers are set out
below:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Spire Murrayfield
Locally Commissioned Services
Peninsula Health LLP
St Johns Hospice
Spa Medica
One 2 One Midwives

- £6.230 million
- £3.682 million
- £2.01 million
- £1.64 million
- £1.46 million
- £0.97 million

The expenditure within the Spire Murrayfield contract is predominantly within the elective and
day case points of delivery based on referrals into the provider. The activity covers various
specialities in particular trauma and orthopaedics.
In terms of the Peninsula contract, the services accounting for the majority of the expenditure
includes Ear Nose and Throat which has seen a rise in activity across all appointment types.
Physiotherapy activity has risen due to Muscular Skeletal, and Audiology which again has
seen a rise in activity.
In relation to St Johns Hospice, the CCG commissions Hospice Services on a block contract
basis therefore expenditure has remained the same as financial year 2014/15. The CCG
also commissions Hospice & Home Services which has seen a small decrease compared to
last year’s performance.
Non-NHS Contracts has seen an over performance in year against planned spend with the
highest variances being within Locally Commissioned Services and Spire Murrayfield.
Activity within Locally Commissioned Services has risen across Physiotherapy, Radiology
and Audiology. Of the £1.43 million overspend within this service line, Physiotherapy
accounts for £757k due to Muscular Skeletal appointments.
Prescribing
Monitoring and future planning of trajectories for prescribing expenditure remains one of the
key areas for the CCG given the material level of expenditure (13%) and potential impact of
delivery of the overall financial position
The 2015/16 financial year has seen considerable movement within the year in respect of
prescribing patterns and overall expenditure. The expenditure position at the end of the
financial year was an over spend against planned levels of activity of £1.329 million and was
based upon increased volumes and cost growth.
The impact and availability of new technologies and prescribed drugs continues to be a
material risk to the Clinical Commissioning group and further work is required with the
Medicines Management Support from the Midlands and Lancashire Commissioning Support
Unit in order to assess the potential financial risks associated with this.
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Commissioned Out Of Hospital
Expenditure relating to Commissioned Out of Hospital care consists in the main of Continuing
Healthcare and Fully funded / Jointly funded packages of healthcare with partners in Adult
Social Services
Expenditure within this category continues to be a significant growth area of expenditure for the
clinical commissioning group and has increased over the last few financial years on a like for
like basis.
Other Expenditure Areas
The CCG held a contingency of £2 million as part of its agreed financial plan in respect of any
potential variances against planned levels of activity. Given the above pressures regarding
NHS and Non-NHS contracts and Prescribing contingency has been fully utilised and slippage
against planned commitments within both recurrent and non-recurrent budgeted expenditure
has contributed to the financial position as included above.

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
The CCG’s financial statements have been prepared based on International Financial Reporting
Standards (see accounting policy note within financial statements).
Losses and Special Payments
The CCG had no losses and special payments to report for 2015/16. Should any occur, as part
of its risk management processes, the CCG would follow up all thefts of equipment and damage
to buildings, and endeavours to minimise such incidents in the future.
Accounting policies
There were no changes to accounting policies used during the financial year.
Service Developments:
During 2015/16 Wirral CCG has developed a programme of transformation for urgent care,
elective care and care for people with long term conditions. The CCG has developed
multidisciplinary speciality groups to focus and develop effective pathways of care.
Key developments include:
•
•
•
•

Diabetes
Respiratory
Ophthalmology
Cardiovascular

A Community Diabetes Service has launched delivering face to face, telephone and email
advice and appointments using a hub and spoke model. GP’s, Consultants, nurses, podiatrists
and educators from the different organisations have come together to deliver this new and
innovative model of delivery. Care will be delivered in the 4 Wirral hubs as part of a rolling
programme to bring care closer to home and deliver out of hospital care. These new ways of
working are bringing primary and acute care systems together focussing on empowering people
to take a more active role in their own care and prevent complications of disease, Patients

and professionals alike are seeing the benefits of this partnership approach to care.
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A Community Respiratory service is in development similar to that of the one developed
for diabetes; however, there is often an acute need if people experience an
exacerbation of disease. This model therefore offers an acute response in terms of ‘hot slots’
available in the community as an alternative to traditional hospital care. Again, this new way of
working sees GPs, Consultants, nurses and therapists from the different organisations working
together to deliver community care.
In ophthalmology, partners from the different organisations are working together to ensure care
is provided at the right time, in the right place and by the right clinician, given that Wirral has a
number of different providers ranging from acute to community providers. The ability to refer
patients electronically is in development to ensure there is an appropriate and timely referral. In
addition, further developments will allow patients to be discharged from the acute hospital when
appropriate and receive long-term follow up in the community from a provider of their choice.
The Cardiovascular clinical group has focussed on pathways for artrial fibrillation,
anticoagulation, hypertension and stroke.
Cancer Strategy:
Cancer remains the biggest cause of premature death for our population, with survival data in
our region being far worse than the rest of Europe. Earlier detection is vital if more lives are to
be saved; outcomes are significantly better for people when cancer is detected and treated at
an earlier stage.
It is recognised that nearly 45% of cancers could be prevented and we know there is an urgent
need to look at strategies to raise public awareness and to help primary care tackle lifestyle and
behavioural choices that influence the development of cancers.
We also have a growing number of survivors who are living with and beyond a diagnosis of
cancer. This has led to a need to see cancer as a more chronic long-term condition, with
ongoing support and services.
By bringing individuals together who have an interest in cancer across our region, we were able
to share experiences, celebrate successes but also consider possible new approaches
particularly with regards to early diagnosis, treatment pathways for cancer care and living with a
cancer diagnosis.
Learning from these shared experiences will enable the development and implementation of a
refreshed and renewed Cancer Strategy for Wirral CCG, with the aim of being able to improve
the quality and effectiveness of care and improve the experience of our patients and those
individuals important to them .

Other service developments
We have established a new pathway for patients with an acquired brain injury to ensure that
they have access to the most appropriate placement to meet their needs. This has led to both
savings for the health economy and an improvement in patient outcomes.
The CCG has undertaken a review of community paediatrics service and has developed,
together with the paediatricians and commissioning colleagues, a vision for a new model, which
it will work with the service to implement during 2016/17.
Through extensive engagement, the CCG has developed improved pathways for young
people’s transition between health services, which will be implemented in the spring.
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The Future in Mind plan has seen the development of a Single Point of Access for children and
young people’s mental health, along with joint working with schools so that teachers and
children are able to access support in the right place, at the right time.
We have implemented the NHS England guidance for crisis care for people with a learning
disability, holding reviews for all those in an inpatient setting to try to improve the discharge
process. We have undertaken engagement with people with a learning disability to understand
what is important to them and to shape our strategy that will be published in Spring 2016.
Working with NHS England, we have made further investment into Psychological Therapy
services in order to improve waiting times and outcomes. We have also made an investment in
dementia nurses so that those that are housebound or living in a nursing home are able to
access assessments, support and advice.
Key Strategic Developments:
Healthy Wirral
In 2015, Wirral CCG joined other local health and social care organisations to create Wirral
Partners. This group was successful in bidding to become a Primary and Acute Care Systems
(PACS) Vanguard site in response to the call for sites to develop new care models as part of the
NHS England Five Year Forward View. The new care model was called Healthy Wirral and
stated the Wirral Partners intention to “enable people to live longer, healthier lives regardless of
where they live on Wirral. This will be achieved by developing a model of integrated care which
is supported by an informatics-enabled population health management solution”.
The new model of care is designed to meet a “triple aim”: 1) to improve clinical outcomes, 2)
improve patient experience and 3) ensure sustainability of the health and social care system.
The model will:
- Enable people to live well and stay well for longer
- Create a person-centred integrated system that will respond quickly safely and appropriately
when needed
- Drive technology to enable proactive approached to integrated care
The model aims to meet the needs of the whole population of Wirral using different approaches
to meet their needs, the following figure illustrates:
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Examples from 2015/6
Exte nd/develop I ntegrated Te ams e .g. single front
door/i nte gra te d ga te wa y to s upport ne w ca re
mod e l s

Ne w ca re models e .g. re gistries a ddress rising risk
p a ti e n ts a s we l l a s h i gh ri s k

Exte nd to we llnes s a nd s e l f -ca re e .g. ma p p i n g
communi ty a s s e ts

• High-Risk Patients: Those patients at the top of the triangle of need (top 5%) will be
identified through risk stratification. Their needs will be met holistically via more intensive,
focussed care in a specialist setting or where possible in the community such as via the
integrated care coordination teams.
• Rising-Risk Patients: Population health management will enable us to identify and support
the population across the whole triangle of need but particularly those who fall into the ‘rising
risk’ category (15-35%). Initially, we will be focussing on specific conditions highlighted in the
Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) such as asthma. This staged approach will enable
us to co-design these pathways and related outcomes based on what matters to service
users, carers and the wider population. This process will support not only the development of
the registries for use by practitioners to inform their care planning, but also an outcomes
based commissioning approach to redesign payment models for these pathways.
• Low-Risk Patients: The majority of the population (60 – 80%) only require minimal support
to meet their health and wellbeing needs. We want to see the local health and social care
system move from supporting the medical model of health to promoting and enabling the
social model of health i.e. moving the focus from “what is the matter with me” to “what
matters to me”.
The programmes of work highlighted below identify some of the key areas which drive the
development of our new care model:
• Enhanced integration which includes Integrated Community Care Teams, a single front
door for unplanned care on the Arrowe Park Hospital site, a rapid community response
services, a single integrated gateway (single point of access to health and social care
services), dementia liaison nurses and voluntary sector initiatives.
• Transformation of Diabetes care including end-to-end service redesign, operational
delivery supported by our new population health management tool, and a new
commissioning and contracting model.
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• Transformation of Respiratory care including end-to-end service redesign, operational
delivery supported by our new population health management tool, and a new
commissioning and contracting model.
• Prevention and Early Help/Self-care – The identification and mapping of community based
assets and provision of effective access for the population to information, advice and
guidance.
All of the programmes are enabled by the following cross functional work streams:
•

People and Organisational Development – Developing an integrated, flexible workforce
aligned to a Wirral wide system which has capability and capacity aligned to local need.

•

Communications, Insight and Engagement – Understanding what matters to local people and
creating opportunities to shape future delivery, providing effective communications to all
stakeholders.

•

Information and Technology – The implementation of the new Wirral Care Record and
registries to support the management of care pathways and population health analysis.

•

Redesign of funding and contracting models to support a system-wide approach to
outcomes-based commissioning.

Healthy Wirral New Model of Care:
The Healthy Wirral new model of care is based on a model where care is delivered in an
integrated way across primary, community, social and acute sectors with connections into the
voluntary sector to reduce the risk of hospital admission and increase the availability of care in a
local community based setting and where possible in people’s homes.
The focus of our Health and Wellbeing model is person centred and considers self-care and
independence as a foundation to wellbeing, enabling timely access to information, advice and
guidance as appropriate and access to public sector services only when necessary. Our model
promoted a care-navigation approach to accessing layers of provision as appropriate to
individual need, which supports people to live healthier for longer, but with less emphasis on
institutional care and more on empowered self, familial and community based models.
The following illustration shows the wider Health and Wellbeing Model with the Healthy Wirral
Vanguard programme highlighted in red:
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HEALTHY WIRRAL HEALTH & WELLBEING MODEL

Technology and Informatics Programme:
Through the implementation of a new joint care record (Wirral Care Record) we are able to take
a targeted approach to the health of the local population. In 2015/16 clinical teams have worked
in partnership with informatics leads to co-design five “registries” for Respiratory and Diabetes
care which are based upon the best national, international and local care standards to drive a
consistent delivery of high quality care to the local population. These registries which go live in
2016 have been designed for children and adults. The registries will provide data to drive
improved clinical outcomes, patient experiences and efficiencies to enable sustainability of the
local health and social care system.
The Wirral Care Record is scheduled to go live in 2016 when data streams from Primary and
Acute care, quickly followed by Community Care will flow into the system, allowing staff from
across the whole Health and Social Care system to view a single version of an individual’s care
record. Wirral Partners are currently also aiming to include data from mental health and social
care services during 2016/17, enabling all Health and Social Care professionals caring for a
patient access to confidential, up-to-date information to ensure each patient receives the best
possible care.
The Wirral Card Record will be implemented according to the strictest possible Information
Governance Standards, and will be accompanied by a community engagement initiative to
ensure maximum public awareness and confidence in the system.
Primary Care Development
Development across Primary Care has progressed at pace during 2015/16 in response to
continuing challenges in meeting the health needs of patients. Primary Care is at the centre of
the development of integrated co-ordinated care hubs as more services are wrapped around the
full range of primary care provision. All four hubs are now established and primary care
continues to increase its collaboration with the hubs for the case management of patients with
long term conditions and complex needs.
A Primary Care Quality Scheme was developed and introduced during the year with the
emphasis on supporting primary care with its demand management challenges. The CCG
invested an additional £1m to enable Wirral general practices the freedom to innovate in how
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they determined the best solution for their respective registered patients. Examples of good
practice were shared across the primary care community to improve learning.
The CCG continued to invest in a number of locally commissioned services from primary care;
these included anti-coagulation monitoring, dementia diagnosis and a complex elderly care
service. These services are above and beyond what is required of primary care through its core
contracts and reflect the commitment of the CCG to invest where the greatest health needs
requires additional support.
Core Primary Care services are commissioned by NHS England for the provision of services to
registered patients. The CCG successfully obtained approval, with the majority support of the
primary care practice membership, to commence the joint commissioning (co-commissioning) of
primary care services in conjunction with NHS England. This joint approach will enable local
innovation, informed by local clinicians, to secure the right health services, at the right time and
place for Wirral patients.
Primary Care needs to continually update its clinical knowledge as improvements to medicines,
new research studies and other innovations in healthcare, offer opportunity to improve health
outcomes for patients. The CCG continued to invest in Protected Learning Time events for GPs
and Practice Nurses throughout the year with eight half day events, each with a dedicated
clinical topic and supported by expert speakers. Attendance at these events has exceeded 150
clinicians on each occasion, In addition, the CCG started a scoping exercise to understand and
define a Primary Care Academy for Wirral, with accredited study modules.
In response to the NHS 5 Year Forward View, primary care general practices started to develop
future ways of working that could address the challenge of providing primary care services
across 7 days.
Primary Care on Wirral has continued to adapt and innovate in response to national and local
policy drivers during the past year and the CCG is committed to supporting innovative
transformation that achieved improvements for patient’s health.
Integrated care:
A modern model of integrated care will be achieved by systematically integrating both services
and pathways, horizontally and vertically across organisational boundaries, providing tailored
care for patients. For horizontal integration this has meant a single team approach to care
across health and social care services so that duplication is reduced and care is co-ordinated in
a more effective manner.
Successful vertical integration has meant that primary, community and hospital services are
working together to ensure patients journeys are seamless across organisational boundaries.
The past year has seen continued progress towards the integration of services for adults with
health and social care needs. Referrals to the Integrated Care Coordination Teams are received
at the single point of access and triaged to prioritise need and ensure people who require
support quickly get it, with the aim of supporting people in their own home.
The services of the main health and social care organisations in Wirral are moving towards
integrated teams within four hubs shaped around the footprint of four local parliamentary
constituencies and these terms are working with partners using clear pathways to make best
use of the resources available in the community and the hospital to support admission
avoidance and timely discharge.
The teams are now co-located (relocated to new premises in February 2016) and have
integrated effectively through the blending of staff roles, the redesign of processes to streamline
and remove duplication and through the optimisation of efficient and timely record keeping
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enabled by Information Technology. In 2016/17 the initiative will be expanded to include the
single point of access for Mental Health and Learning Disability services with ongoing redesign
activity to streamline and simplify the referral pathways, seeking opportunities to increase
efficiency and improve experience for professionals such as GPs and Social Workers as well as
the local people accessing the services.

Wirral is quickly moving towards a fully integrated service across Health and Social Care
providing rapid access to information and advice regarding services, as well as robust
Intermediate Care and Case Management, all provided via an Integrated Community Hub
Model.
Access to the highest quality urgent and emergency care:
Wirral CCG, working in collaboration with our partners in the Acute (Hospital), Community and
Primary Care sectors, is developing new models of commissioning which will enable greater
integrated working to create a comprehensive Urgent Care system for the Wirral. It is
anticipated that equitable access to unplanned care services will be provided across the four
Wirral parliamentary constituencies, supporting the delivery of integrated Health and Social
Care provision.
Both locally and nationally, Accident and Emergency Departments are under intense pressure
and Wirral is no different. From December 2015, we have implemented a pilot project to
navigate patients to the most appropriate point of care. The concept, known as Single Front
Door, utilises both Primary and Acute (Hospital) services based at the Arrowe Park Hospital
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site. The scheme used highly experienced nurses to assess patient needs as soon as the
patient presents in the Emergency Department, directing individuals to the most appropriate
point of care for their presenting need – this may be into the Emergency Department, Walk-inCentre, a pharmacy or the patient’s own GP. The early benefits of the pilot are seen through
patients being directed into Primary Care where they receive assessment and treatment in a
more timely and appropriate manner, thereby creating a better patient experience. The added
benefit is reducing some pressure in the Emergency Department to allow staff there to focus
resources on the most vulnerable and critically ill patients.
The strategic redesign of urgent care services is facilitated by strong committed partnership
working between commissioner and providers at all levels, supported through the leadership of
the CCG GP lead for urgent care. Moving forward, plans to remodel services and facilities will
create and deliver our vision to move the Single Front Door project to the next phase of
development, resulting in the provision of a comprehensive Urgent Care facilities for Wirral.
Integrated working with partners such as the North West Ambulance Service and Adult Social
Care will also ensure a joined up approach to all aspects of the patient journey through urgent
care services.
Specialised services concentrated in centres of excellence:
Specialised services are those provided in relatively few hospitals, accessed by comparatively
small numbers of patients but with catchment populations of usually more than one million
people. These services tend to be located in specialised hospital trusts that can recruit a team
of staff with the appropriate expertise and enable them to develop their skills. There are a small
number of these specialist services in the Wirral, such as renal dialysis. The majority of other
specialist services are provided in hospitals in other areas and are often part of a service
pathway, such as renal transplant for severe chronic kidney disease. These services are
commissioned by the Specialised Commissioning Team, which is based in the NHS England
Cheshire & Merseyside Sub-regional team.
The CCG has continued to work with the Specialised Commissioning Team to ensure that the
pathways to access specialised services are seamless for any patient from Wirral who requires
specialist intervention.
The CCG also works closely with the team to ensure that the views of the patients are taken
into account when commissioning these services and any quality issues relating the services
are raised at the Quality Surveillance Group meetings, which are held monthly. In this way the
CCG is keen to ensure that patients received the highest quality of care and the best outcomes
are achieved.
The CCG also work closely with commissioners of specialised services and neighbouring
CCG’s where there maybe potential for commissioning at scale. This might be in areas where
this is low volume of activity in tandem with high cost per procedure and a high degree of
clinical specialism.
Partnerships:
During 2015/16, the CCG has made significant progress in strengthening joint working
relationships and activity between local health and social care partners.
One of the key areas of progress has been the development of several joint strategies, including
Autism, and Children and Young people. These documents have involved extensive
collaboration and engagement with stakeholders, and lay the foundation for further joint work to
continue in areas such as Learning Disability and Dementia, which are planned for 2016/17.
Through partnership working, the CCG has been able to attract significant additional resource,
aligned with the ‘Future in Mind’ plan for Children and Young People’s mental health, and a plan
for extra care housing for people with a learning disability.
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The CCG has recognised opportunities to achieve more streamlined models of service delivery,
working with its Local Authority partners to review the current offer for advice and information
services, and developing a social prescribing model. As part of this work, it has continued to
engage with a wide range of voluntary, community and faith organisations working in Wirral.
The Better Care Fund has enabled the CCG and Local Authority to pool resources in order to
improve community provision and move care closer to home. By jointly commissioning a range
of new services, both organisations have been able to demonstrate a reduction in hospital
admissions. This joint working will continue into 2016/17.
The CCG has worked extensively with its commissioning colleagues in Cheshire to oversee the
transfer of the Continuing Healthcare service from the Commissioning Support Unit to the
CCG. The five CCGs have formally established a joint committee in common in order to
collectively manage the new service and shape its development together.
These five CCGs, together with Merseyside colleagues, have also been working on a joint plan
to reduce the use of inpatient beds for people with a learning disability. This is due to be
published in early 2016/17.
Wirral and West Cheshire CCGs were successful in a national bid for additional resource for a
diabetes prevention programme, which will start in 2016, sharing best practice across both CCG
areas. Together with their colleagues in Cheshire and Warrington, and with the support of NHS
England, the CCGs have set up a collaborative commissioning forum for mental health and
learning disability, to share ideas and commission collaboratively where appropriate.
The CCG has collaborated with NHS England in order to reduce waiting times and improve
outcomes for those accessing psychological therapy. We have continued to make good use of
the Strategic Clinical Networks and other forms of support as made available through the
national and regional teams.
The CCG and Local Authority have agreed an intention for further integration between their
commissioning functions and have already started to implement matrix working between teams
where this will reduce duplication. We have also seen economies of scale by sharing our
contracting function with West Cheshire CCG, and will seek further opportunities to do this with
our commissioning partners where appropriate.
Better Care Fund:
The Better Care Fund has a number of purposes but primarily from a health perspective the
focus is to provide 7 day services in the community which will increase the provision of care in
the community in order to reduce the need for admission to hospital and reduce the need for
prolonged stay in hospital. The development of the Better Care Fund has been undertaken with
a real sense of partnership between the CCG and the Local Authority, with a lead manager from
each organisation working closely together at every step and engaging with all key partners
throughout the process. A section 75 agreement has been signed which is a formal agreement
for the pooled budgets of the CCG and the Local Authority.
The schemes during 2015/16 include community based services available 7 days a week
enabling access to GPs, community nurses, social workers and other community health and
social care professionals offering both planned and rapid response and in particular, focussing
on meeting the needs of the frail elderly people. The Better Care Fund board has monitored the
implementation of the various schemes and their impact throughout the year. Overall there has
been a positive impact in terms of provision of additional support available in the community for
the Wirral population.
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Health and Wellbeing Board:
The Accountable Officer and Chair of the CCG are both members of the Health and Wellbeing
Board and have attended the quarterly meetings throughout 2015/16 which were chaired by the
Leader of the Council. The Health and Wellbeing Board is a statutory committee of Wirral
Council which was set up in line with the Health and Social Care Act 2012. The Health and
Wellbeing Board has a core membership but also operates a wider constituency to ‘promise’ the
health and wellbeing in Wirral.
The member organisations of the Health and Wellbeing Board, which includes Wirral CCG, are
committed to working together at every level to improve the quality of life and wellbeing of the
residents of Wirral.
Members of the committee have agreed to work together actively to achieve the vision and
mission of the Wirral Health and Wellbeing Board on the basis of the following values, which are
reflected in Board members behaviours and decision making framework:
• Putting local people first in everything we do, putting the needs of local people and
communities before organisational boundaries
• Valuing excellence and professionalism wherever it is found
• Mutual trust and respect – valuing each person as an individual, taking what other have to
say seriously
• Being honest about our point of view and what we can and cannot do
• Creative and innovative solutions to problems
• Removal of barriers to equality of access and opportunity
NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group have worked closely with the Local Authority to both
contribute to and developed a joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy in line with section
116B(1)(b) of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007.
Areas
discussed at Health and Wellbeing Board the CCG’s response to the ‘Five Year Forward View’
and the Healthy Wirral programme. There have also been updates to the Health and Wellbeing
Board with regard to development of Sustainability and Transformation planning across both the
Wirral economy and wider footprints.
It is intended that once the Annual Report has been reviewed by the CCG’s External Auditors
that this would be shared with the Health and Wellbeing Board. In addition two members of the
Health and Wellbeing Board are attendees of the CCG’s Governing Body and hence engaged in
the development of the CCG’s Annual Report.
Furthermore, the CCG and the Commissioning functions of the Local Authority are currently
working closely to integrate where there is benefit to patients and clients from a health and
wellbieng perspective.
Communications and Engagement:
Wirral CCG fully recognises its duty to involve and engage its stakeholders in the planning and
delivery of services that it commissions. Our stakeholders are wide ranging and include
patients who currently use services and the wider community on the Wirral. All GP practices in
the Wirral are members of the CCG and recognising this we have progressed a comprehensive
range of engagement activity to build a strong foundation with our membership. This has
included regular members meetings, development sessions for GP members and a tailored
development programme for practice managers and nurses.
The Heathy Wirral Programme has completed a major engagement exercise in January 2016
called ‘What matters to Wirral?’ this sought the views of our community on healthcare provision
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now and to inform how it should look in the future. This engagement told us that people
recognise that healthcare services need to change and want us to be more transparent about
how the NHS operates as well as telling us that they are open and comfortable in talking about
the challenges ahead. There was also a strong sense of people wanting support to take
personal responsibility for their health and wellbeing.
Engagement with patients remains a key priority for the CCG and during the year, the CCG
supported the establishment of a single Wirral Patient Voice group, made up of patient
representatives from each general practice patient participation group. Officer elections were
supported by the CCG and an agreed constitution accepted. The group has been involved in
the commissioning process for the following service areas; Direct Access Diagnostics, Diabetes
and Medicines Waste.
The CCG recognises the role that Healthwatch Wirral has in acting as the consumer champion
for health and social care locally and we welcome the attendance and contribution of the
Healthwatch Wirral chair at our Governing Body meetings.
Throughout 2016/17 the CCG will develop a new Communications and Engagement Strategy
which will not only ensure that the CCG meets its statutory duties to involve, consult and
engage but also to progress a conversation with our local community and stakeholders aligned
to the three aims of our new Local Service Delivery Plan which are:
1) Better Health
2) Better Care
3) Better Value
We will commit to having open, honest and transparent communications and engagement
activity so people understand how services will develop and change and have the opportunity to
tell us their views.
It is the CCG’s belief that there have been no serious lapses in the discharge of its duty to ivolve
the public.

1.6

Sustainable development

NHS Wirral CCG takes its responsibilities to the environment very seriously. It undertakes a
range of measures that are mindful of the future environment and these include:
• Recycling paper and plastics regularly
• Lighting is motion operated and hence when rooms are not utilised, lights automatically
switch off
• Staff are actively encouraged to turn off their computers at the end of the working day
• All procurements require potential providers to supply their approach to sustainability
• Cover sheets for Governing Body and other committees have introduced a section on
sustainability, so that members and the public can see the potential impact of new service
developments
• Operating the majority of business from a single site that reduces usage of cars
• Encouraging car sharing when attending off-site meetings
• Purchasing new, more efficient and environmentally friendly printers
• Promoting back to back printing where paper copies are required (for example, Governing
Body papers for members of the public)
• Using tablet computers for staff who frequently attend meetings, reducing the need for hard
paper copies
• Storing scanned documents electronically where legally appropriate
NHS Wirral CCG’s Headquarters are currently located in Old Market House, Birkenhead and is
based on a rental lease agreement with NHS Property Services. The CCG is not the sole tenant
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of this building and occupies approximately 24%. Therefore data supplied below shows Old
Market House in its entirety.
Table 1 – Utility usage & cost
Finite resources management
Electricity usages (kwh)
Gas usages (kwh)
Water usages (m3)

OMH
610,756
430,663
3,140

Electricity cost
Gas
Water usages cost

£80,501
£12,115
£15,888

1.7

Duty to improve quality of services

As outlined in the Health and Social Care Act 2013 the CCG has a duty as to the improvement
in quality of services, and as such must exercise its functions with a view to securing continuous
improvement in the quality of services provided to individuals for or in connection with the
prevention, diagnosis or treatment of illness. In order to fulfil this requirement, during 2014/15
Wirral CCG has established robust mechanisms and individuals with key responsibilities to
ensure that high quality are commissioned and maintained.
NHS Wirral CCG has a number of mechanisms by which it ensures it addresses the quality of
services. These are listed below:

Clinical Quality Review Meetings:
As part of the contractual process, quality review meetings are held with each acute, community
and mental health provider organisation. In 2015/16 this has included hospices and
independent providers. These are contracting meetings that focus on quality providing an
opportunity to review areas for improvement and good practice and to monitor any improvement
activities.
These meetings provide a robust mechanism where commissioners and providers can work
together to identify and strive to meet standards that will serve to deliver services and improve
quality. Relationships have been established to support local accountability and response to
local needs and requirements.
Improvements have been made in number of areas following the work undertaken in these
meetings including a reduction in pressure sore formation, the development and achievement of
a crises care concordat with acute, community and mental health providers and a process
established to eliminate mixed sex accommodation breaches.
Quality Reviews:
These are undertaken on an adhoc basis within provider organisations and provide intelligence
to gain assurance that there are robust measures in place within organisation to ensure that
high quality care is in place, or to identify areas where improvement is required.
The reviews consist of a small team from the CCG using a defined criteria based on CQC
standards to assess the standard of care, staffing and patient experience.
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In September 2015, the acute trust underwent a comprehensive inspection of services by CQC.
In preparation for this visit, the CCG supported the trust by undertaking “mock inspections” of
areas in order assess the quality of care using the CQC domains.
Quality Performance and Finance Committee:
This sub-committee of the CCG Governing Body provides members with assurance in relation
to the systems and processes that have been put in place with regard to quality within the
organisation. This includes regular reports on complaints, serious incidents and never events to
identify trends and themes across commissioned services. In addition to reviewing inspection
reports from independent bodies e.g. Care Quality Commission. Further information relating to
this committee can be found within the Annual Governance Statement (Section 2.7).
Quality Surveillance Group (QSGs):
A network of Quality Surveillance Groups have been established across the country to bring
together different parts of health and care economies locally and in each region of England to
routinely share information and intelligence to protect the quality of care patients receive. Over
the past year, Wirral CCG has played an active role in the Cheshire, Warrington and Wirral
Quality Surveillance Group which is held alternate months. Through 2015/16, the Quality
Surveillance Group has undertaken thematic reviews in a number of areas, including Maternity
Services and Mental Health Services.
The local health economy still has challenges to meet to improve the quality of patients care.
These are to:
• Reduce levels of harm in the event of serious incidents in particular never events
• Reduce Healthcare Acquired Infections (HCAI’s)
• Prevent Pressure Ulcers
• Achieving against the four hour A&E standard
Over the past year, Wirral CCG has played an active role in the Cheshire, Warrington and Wirral
Quality Surveillance Group and has raised issues relating to Continuing Health Care (Previous
Unassessed Periods of Care) and the timeliness to delivery. These concerns raised have led to
thematic reviews in both Merseyside and Cheshire QSG where actions where instigated by the
provider and assurance was gained.
Single Item QSG’S (SIQSG’S):
If quality concerns arise within a single organisation based on an outcome of a review or soft
intelligence, the CCG with support from NHS England will convene a Single Item Quality
Surveillance Group. The aim of the meeting is to:
• To gain a collective understanding of the issues
• To gain assurance that the organisation will develop a coherent, robust ad sustainable plan
to tangible mitigate risks and progress improvements at pace
• To discuss and agree any offers of support from commissioners
• Consider any additional implications
In 2015/16, Single Item Quality Surveillance Groups have been established to review quality
issues in Wirral University teaching Hospital following a CQC report.
In 2014/15 the CCG working with NHSE undertook a Single item QSG with the acute trust due
to quality concerns raised relating to:
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• Infection Prevention and Control (c-difficle rates and pseudomonas)
• Never Events
• Non achievement against the 4 hour target
• Culture- 2013 staff survey results
Safeguarding Boards:
CCGs are also required to demonstrate that they have appropriate systems in place for
discharging their statutory duties in terms of safeguarding vulnerable adults and Children.
These include:
• A clear line of accountability for safeguarding, properly reflected in the CCG governance
arrangements, i.e. a named executive lead to take overall leadership responsibility for the
organisation’s safeguarding arrangements.
• Clear policies setting out their commitment, and approach, to safeguarding including safe
recruitment practices and arrangements for dealing with allegations against people who
work with children and adults as appropriate.
• Training their staff in recognising and reporting safeguarding issues, appropriate supervision
and ensuring that their staff are competent to carry out their responsibilities for safeguarding.
• Effective inter-agency working with local authorities, the police and third sector
organisations which includes appropriate arrangements to cooperate with local authorities
in the operation of Local Safeguarding Childrens Boards, Safeguarding Adults Boards and
Health and Wellbeing Boards.
• Ensuring effective arrangements for information sharing.
• Employing, or securing, the expertise of Designated Doctors and Nurses for
Safeguarding Children and for Looked After Children and a Designated Paediatrician for
unexpected deaths in childhood.
• Having a Designated Nurse Safeguarding Adults (DNSA) which should include the Adult
Safeguarding lead role and a lead for the Mental Capacity Act, supported by the relevant
policies and training.
• Effective systems for responding to abuse and neglect of adults.
• Supporting the development of a positive learning culture across partnerships for
safeguarding adults to ensure that organisations are not unduly risk averse.

During 2014/15 the CCG has strengthened the mechanisms for safeguarding to ensure
compliance with the national agenda including ‘PREVENT’ and ‘The Care Act 2014’. This has
led to the appointment of a Named GP for Safeguarding Adults and a Designated Nurse
Safeguarding Adults. The CCG remains an active member of the Adult and Children’s
Safeguarding Boards and subgroups. Some of the work led by the CCG in partnership with
other agencies has included Sleep safe campaign, Female Genital Mutilation (FGM) and Child
Sexual Exploitation (CSE).
It is acknowledged that the local health economy still has challenges to meet to improve the
quality of patient care:
These are to:
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• Reduce levels of harm in the event of serious incidents in particular to Never Events
• Reduce Healthcare Acquired Infections (HCAI’s)
• Prevent Pressure Ulcers
• Achieving against the four hour A&E standard
Specific areas of focus:
In 2015/16, the CCG has undertaken specific work to address the quality for children and
adolescent mental health services and primary care.
In line with the ‘Future in Mind’ plan, NHS Wirral CCG has been working with children and
young people to develop a set of outcome measures that will help us to understand the quality
of the services offered by our local CAMHS team, and the outcomes achieved by service
users. The service has started to use goal-based outcomes with children and young people,
and we are using our Future in Mind resource to roll this approach out within the school setting
in 2016/17.
NHS Wirral CCG offered a Primary Care Quality Scheme for October 2015 - March 2016 to
member practices which focused on improving demand management across referrals, elective
admissions, non-elective admissions and prescribing growth. A review of the scheme is
currently underway to identify lessons learned for consideration of a future scheme.
In addition, regular practice visits are undertaken by the Primary Care Team from the CCG
where there is an opportunity to discuss quality issues. This is alongside the deployment of an
incident reporting system into all GP Practices, that allows practice staff to report provider
related incidents which are then investigated by the relevant providers to ensure quality of
furture services is improved.

1.8

Duty to reducing inequalities

We will continue to strive to reduce health inequality, and there will be a core level of services
available to all Wirral patients. However, we work with Public Health to take into account the
needs of patients in each of the Wirral constituencies, to make sure that we put the right
services in place where they are really needed. This means services are reflective of any local
variations and inequalities within Wirral.
We cannot achieve this vision alone; we will seek to enable and empower our Wirral public to
assume a greater responsibility for their own health, and for each in turn to encourage friends,
family, and others to do the same. To this end, NHS Wirral CCG has continued to promote selfcare and community based support as part of its Healthy Wirral programme through a number
of large scale engagement events and more specific localised fora. In addition, the integrated
care hubs that have been established as part of the Healthy Wirral delivery programme is based
on smaller geographic units that are locally sensitive to health need variations. The CCG is also
starting to use the Right Care approach to understand where variation is most prominent so as
to plan service provision to address this.
It is the CCG’s belief that there have been no serious lapses in the discharge of this duty.

1.9

Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response

NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group commissioned North West Commissioning Support
Unit, now Midlands and Lancashire Commissioning Support Unit from 1 st March 2016, to
undertake various elements of work relating to emergency planning, response and resilience
(EPRR).
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Clinical Commissioning Groups are Category 2 responders under the Civil Contingencies Act
2004 and EPRR responsibility consisted of one distinct role:
(a) The statutory duties as per the Category 2 Responders under the Civil Contingencies Act
(2004), and those responsibilities for Clinical Commissioning Groups as outlined in The NHS
Emergancy Planning Guidence 2005 and its supporting guidance;
The Department of Health however has indicated an expectation that CCG’s also undertake the
duties assigned to Category 1 responders; which requires production of Emergency Plans,
Business Continuity Plans, and Assessment of Risk and ensuring that there are arrangements
for informing and warning the public. This will allow CCGs to be part of the overall planning
process within both the Local Resilience Forum and the Local Health Residence Partnership.
Under the guidance issues by NHS England, CCG’s are required to have a system in place to
allow their commissioned services to contact them on a 24/7 basis. This 24/7 access will
additionally allow the NHS England Area Team to make contact in emergencies, allowing
CCG’s to work with the Area Team in support of the wider NHS response to any incident.
NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group is also responsible for maintaining an effective
response to emergencies / adviser incidents and as such the Director of Corporate Affairs
maintained an on call rota, for members of the Senior Management / on call team.
CCG’s are required to ensure they have a Business Continuity and Incident Response Plan in
place which complies with the NHS Core Standards for Emergency Preparedness, Resilience
Response (EPRR) and are also required to assure themselves that their commissioned services
have plans in place to respond and recover from emergencies.
This guidance focuses on planning for emergencies/ major incidents and the ability of the NHS
to respond to such incidents (i.e. for those incidents that only affect the NHS and those which
affect all multi-agency partners). Selected tasks include:
(a) training those senior managers who will be members of on call rotas to a national core
standard (which is provided by NHS England and Cheshire & Merseyside Commissioning
Support Unit);
(b) establishing new on call rotas to strategically manage the response of the NHS;
(c) development of plans including Business Continuity Plan which also included a validation
exercise of this plan
These three areas have been complied with and the CCG has a Business Continuity Plan in
place that has been tested with staff and a robust on call rota. In addition, on-call staff have
attended training courses and exercises including:
•

NHS Core Standards for EPRR and the National Occupational Standards for Emergency
response

•
•
•
•
•

Tactical Training and Awareness
Business Continuity and Incident Response Plan Exercise
Introduction to Inetgrated Emergency Management Exercise
Cheshire Resilience Forum – Integrated Emergency Management Exercise
Control of Major Accident Hazards (COMAH Exercise)

Midlands and Lancashire Commissioning Support Unit Emergency Planning Response and
Resilience Team have provided Wirral CCG representation at the following groups:
• Merseyside Local Health Resilience Partnership
• Merseyside Local Health Resilience Partnership Practitioners Group
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• Merseyside Local Health Resilience Partnership Business Continuity Group (This group was
amalgamated into the main practitioners group during 2015)
• Merseyside Local Health Resilieince Partnership Pandemin Flu Group
• Merseyside Resilience Forum Practitioners Goup
• Merseyside Resilience Forum Capabilities Group
• Merseyside Resilience Forum Risks and Hazards Group
• Merseyside Resilience Forum Training and Exercising Group
• Merseyside Resilience Forum Public Warning and Informing Group
• Local Authority Resilience Actions Groups
• Local Authority Safety Advisory Groups
A monthly brief is also prepared by the Senior Resilience Manager (CSU) which outlines to the
CCG the current events in the area, issues arising from any of the above groups, any additional
meetings attended, industrial action updates, exercises being held and training available.
An Annual Report has also been produced to outline the work of the EPRR team which will be
reviewed at the May 2016 Governing Body meeting. Objectives for further work for the CCG will
be set following discussions with the Director of Corporate Affairs and Corporate Affairs
Manager as to the CCG’s requirements for the next year.
I certify that the clinical commissioning group has incident response plans in place, which are
fully compliant with the NHS Commissioning Board Emergency Preparedness Framework 2013.
The clinical commissioning group regularly reviews and makes improvements to its Business
Continuity major incident plan and has a programme for regularly testing this plan, the results of
which are reported to the Governing Body.
Name: Jonathan Develing
Role: Accountable Officer
Signature:

Jonathan Develing
Date: 24th May 2016

1.10 Learning from Serious Incidents
A Serious Incident Review Group is held on a monthly basis within the CCG to review all Root
Cause Analysis (RCA) reports and action plans, and monthly updates are also provided to the
Quality, Performance & Finance Committee; a sub-committee of the Governing Body. Each
incident and report is scrutinised by the group members which is made up of clinicians and
managers. This group also enables Wirral CCG to monitor and ensure that all serious incidents
and/or never events are managed appropriately and within a timely manner, whilst also
ensuring that root causes and lessons learned are shared across organisations with a view to
prevent similar incidents occurring again.
Local organisations that are providers of NHS funded care are required to report serious
incidents or never events to Wirral CCG’s Corporate Team, within a maximum of 2 working days
from the time the incident is known, by using the Strategic Executive Information System
(StEIS).The StEIS system enables electronic logging, planner tracking and reporting of serious
incidents which is monitored by NHS Wirral CCG, NHS England and provider organisations.
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There were 255 serious incidents reported in 2015/16, which is a 19% increase on previous
reporting year. During the same reporting period 5 incidents were never events. All serious
incidents including never events are scrutinised and investigated fully as per the NHS England
Serious Incident Framework, appropriate action taken, and outcomes reviewed via the CCG
Serious Incident management process. The Quality, Performance & Finance Committee have
oversight of all Serious Incidents.
The chart below details the number of serious incidents reported on to the Strategic Information
Executive System (StEIS) within the period of 1st April 2015 – 31st March 2016, which is split by
each reporting provider organisation:
Incidents reported on Steis for the period 1st April 2015 to 31st March 2016
45

Wirral University Teaching
Hospital

40

Wirral Community NHS Trust

35

West Cheshire CCG / CSU
Managed

30

NHS 111

25

Mersey Care NHS Trust

20

Liverpool Womens NHS
Foundation Trust

15

Liverpool CCG

10

Home Oxygen Service

5

Clatterbridge Cancer Care
Centre

0

Cheshire & Wirral
Partnership NHS Foundation
Trust

Apr
2015

May
2015

Jun Jul 2015 Aug
2015
2015

Sep
2015

Oct
2015

Nov
2015

Dec
2015

Jan
2016

Feb
2016

Mar
2016

I certify that the clinical commissioning group has complied with the statutory duties laid down in the
NHS Act 2006 (as amended by the Health & Social Care Act 2012).
Name: Jonathan Develing
Role: Accountable Officer
Signature:
Jonathan Develing
Date: 24th May 2016
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1.11

Principles for Remedy

Gaining the views of patients regarding the quality of services that have been commissioned on
their behalf is of paramount importance to the CCG.
The CCG has held a successful patient / engagement event to gain views on the development
of the CCG strategic vision (Vision 2018). The comments and opinions from patients and the
public have enabled the health and social care economy shape the future of health services.
One of the strengths of clinical commissioning is that the CCG is able to receive
contemporaneous feedback via the GP members. This vital intelligence is used to assess the
quality of care of providers and to address issues to ensure quality is maintained.
The Patient Advice and Liaison Service provided by Wired is commissioned by Wirral CCG to
support patients with concerns relating to General Practice, Dentistry, Ophthalmology and
Pharmacy. The purpose of the service is to provide on the spot help wherever possible, with the
power to negotiate immediate or speedy resolutions (within 48 hours) or problems. In some
cases, the PALs service will refer patients to independent advice and advocacy support from
local and national sources, including Healthwatch.
Ensuring good handling of complaints is one way in which CCG’s can help to improve quality of
care for patients and learning from complaints enables organisations to continually improve the
services they provide and the experience for all patients. Wirral CCG ensures that complaints
are managed in accordance with the strategic goals and objectives and sure that all complaints
are managed promptly and efficiently, in line with the Health Act 2009 and NHS Constitution. It
also ensures that they are adequately investigated and that complainants are treated with
dignity and respect.
Wirral CCG’s Corporate Affairs team are esponsible for the management of all formal
complaints.
An internal process has been agreed within the CCG and a local procedure has been agreed
with NHS England, to ensure that complaints are processed within a timely manner and in line
with the CCG’s Complaints Management policy.
Patients’ verbal comments, concerns, complaints and compliments are received via the CCG
public facing website, via post, email and by telephone.
Lessons learnt from complaints are an important tool to assist quality and responsiveness.
Where appropriate, lessons learnt from complaints are reported on a bi-monthly basis to the
Quality, Performance & Finance Committee and to the Governing Body committee. A further
quarterly aggregated report, including data provided from the Provider organisations, is also
presented to the Quality Performance and Finance committee.
In 2015/16 the CCG received 131 formal complaints. It is through patient feedback that we
were able to learn from complaints to monitor and improve services where required, to ensure
we met the needs of our patients in the future. As Commissioners of local Health Services we
monitored the complaints received for trends and took appropriate action to reduce the risk of
identified trends happening again and to share learning.
Knowing when patients have had a good experience is as important as knowing when things
have not gone well. A record of compliments was kept by our Patient Advice & Liaison Service
and feedback was given to the service in question.
The Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS) for Wirral CCG is provided by Wired; a voluntary
sector organisation. This service provides an informal way for patients to raise any concerns
with their healthcare. The PALS team work on the patients behalf by liaising with healthcare

35

staff, listening to concerns and providing information and advice. In 2015/16 there were 370
contacts made with the PALS team.
NHS Wirral CCG encourages a positive, open and honest approach to receiving and
responding to complaints as complaints provide a valuable feedback about patients’
experiences.
Complaints made to the CCG were managed by the Corporate Affairs Team. All complaints are
managed in accordance with the Complaints (England) Regulations 2009, The NHS
Constitution and principles published by the Health Service Ombudsman (Getting it right; being
customer focused; being open and accountable; acting fairly and proportionately; putting things
right; and seeking continuous improvement) and the CCG’s Complaints Policy. This supports us
to ensure the good handling of complaints and to improve the quality of services for patients.
The CCG handles complaints about services that we commission, on behalf of our population,
from providers or about the exercise of any of our functions. We also investigate more complex
complaints where one or more organisations are involved, including NHS England or other
service providers or commissioners. Ensuring all complaints are handled with the
patient/complainant at the centre of the response and coordinating the provision of a single
response is a priority for us.
Governance processes have been established by the CCG to ensure the sign off and learning
from complaints is built into the CCG complaints handling processes. Every complaint is
entered on to an Integrated Risk Management system (Datix) alongside MP letters, patient
enquiries and incidents to enable the monitoring of trends and patterns in complaints and
concerns raised by patients and healthcare professionals. This helps us to detect systemic
problems early by highlighting areas for improvement and development. This information is
reported to the CCG’s Quality, Performance & Finance Committee on a monthly basis and a
quarterly aggregated report is also provided, who analyse the information and consider any
action required, driving improvements to the quality of services commissioned by the CCG and
sharing lessons learned. This information is also reported to the Governing Body on a bimonthly basis.
.
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2.

The Accountability Report

2.1 Corporate Governance Report
NHS England carried out a ‘Capability and Governance Review’ in 2014/15 and one of its key
findings was that the historic ‘consortia’ arrangements, based on a mosaic of non-geographic
grouping of member practices, had led to weak engagement and fragmented commissioning.
This led to a new Governing Body composition, with a combination of elected and appointed GP
posts to reflect areas where GP views are important (for example, the Primary Care Leads) and
subject matter expertise (for example, the Urgent Care Lead). This new composition was fully
complete in 2015/16, with the Governing Body’s posts all being filled and all members being
actively involved in a programme of development to strengthen the Governing Body. A recent
externally conducted diagnostic showed that the CCG’s Governing Body scored on a par with
more established Boards, which was deemed to be a good indication of how quickly the new
Governing Body members has matured.
The CCG has also formulated a new, more cohesive approach to engagement in the form of a
‘Clinical Senate’, which is made up of clinicians from a wide range of disciplines and
backgrounds so as to inform and advise on clinical developments and pathway design. This
has been fully operational throughout 2015/16 and has also recently been positively evaluated.
In addition, two other groups were created in the new arrangements. Firstly, a ‘Membership
Council’, to allow GPs and other practice representatives to meet as a group to discuss
commissioning issues from a Primary Care perspective.
In all, the CCG remains committed to engaging with its member practices to the fullest extent to
ensure the principles of clinical commissioning are at the centre of our approach to high quality,
effective services for Wirral patients.

2.2 Directors Report
The Governing Body are responsible for preparing an Annual Governance Statement (Section
2.7) which sets out how the Governing Body discharged its responsibilities. This Statement is
provided within section 2.7 of this report and also provides details of members of other
committees.
The Governing Body comprises of the following:
• Chair, Dr Pete Naylor
• Accountable Officer, Jonathan Develing
• Chief Financial Officer, Mike Treharne (previously Mark Bakewell until 31st January
2016)
• Director of Commissioning, Nesta Hawker
• Director of Corporate Affairs, Paul Edwards
• Director of Quality & Patient Safety, Lorna Quigley
• Secondary Care Doctor, Dr Arpan Guha
• Registered Nurse, Lesley Doherty
• Membership Council Representative, Dr Sean Magennis
• Lay Member – Audit & Governance, Alan Whittle
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• Lay Member – Patient Champion, James Kay
• Lay Member – Quality and Outcomes, Alastair Cannon
• Medical Director, Dr Sue Wells (Acting Chair from 1st February 2016)
• GP Executive Lead – Long Term Conditions, Dr Sian Stokes
• GP Executive Lead – Unplanned Care, Dr Paula Cowan
• GP Executive Lead – Primary Care, Dr Simon Delaney
• GP Executive Lead – Planned Care, Dr Laxman Ariaraj
The Governing Body membership differs from predecessor organisations in that there is
significantly higher proportion of GPs. This reflects the fact that, as a membership organisation
of general practices, front line clinicians are integral to the commissioning decisions of the CCG.
In addition, a secondary care clinician is present to represent a wider clinical view and the
Governing Body also invites such other person(s) to attend all or any of its meetings, in order to
assist its decision-making and in its duties as it sees fit. These individuals are listed below:
• Public Health Representative
• Local Authority Representative
• Healthwatch Representative
• Local Medical Committee Representative
A register of declared Interests by members of the governing body can be found in Appendix 1.
Each individual who is a member of the Governing Body at the time the report is approved
confirms:
So far as the member is aware, that there is no relevant audit information of which the clinical
commissioning group’s external auditors is unaware; and, that the member has taken all the
steps that they ought to have taken as a member in order to make them self-aware of any
relevant audit information and to establish that the clinical commissioning group’s auditor is
aware of that information.
Further information relating to the profiles of Governing Body members can be found within
Appendix B of this report.

Wirral has formed one Clinical Commissioning Group and each GP Practice on Wirral is a
member of this:
All Day Health Centre
Allport Surgery
Blackheath Medical Centre
Cavendish Medical Centre
Central Park Medical Centre
Church Road Medical Practice
Civic Medical Centre
Claughton Medical Centre
Commonfield Road Surgery
Devaney Medical Centre
Miriam Primary Care Group (Earlston & Seabank Medical Centre)
Eastham Group Practice
Egremont Medical Centre
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Fender Way Health Centre
Field Road Health Centre
Gladstone Medical Centre
Greasby Group Practice
Greenway Surgery
Grove Road Surgery Hamilton
Medical Centre Heatherlands
Medical Centre Heswall & Pensby
Group Practice Holmlands
Medical Centre Hoylake & Meols
Medical Centre Hoylake Road
Medical Centre Kings Lane
Medical Practice Liscard Group
Practice
Manor Health Centre
Marine Lake Medical Practice
Miriam Medical Centre
Miriam Primary Care Group (Earlston & Seabank Medical Centre)
Moreton Cross Group Practice
Moreton Health Clinic
Moreton Medical Centre
Parkfield Medical Centre
Prenton Medical Centre
Riverside Surgery
Silverdale Medical Centre
Somerville Medical Centre
Spital Surgery
St George’s Medical Centre
St Hilary Group Practice
Sunlight Group Practic
Teehey Lane Medical Centre
TG Medical Centre
The Orchard Surgery The
Villa Medical Centre
Townfield Health Centre
Upton Group Practice
Victoria Park Practice
Vittomia Medical Centre
West Wirral Group Practice
Whetsone Medical Centre
Woodchurch Medical Centre

2.3

Statement of Accountable Officer Responsibilities

The Clinical Commissioning Group was licensed from 1st April 2013 under prosisions enacted
in the Health and Social Care Act 2012, which amended the National Health Service Act 2006.
The Clinical Commissioning Group operated in shadow form prior to 1st April 2013, to allow for
the completion of the licencing process and the establishment of function, systems and
processes prior to the Clinical Commissioning Group taking on its full powers.
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control
that supports the achievement of the Clinical Group’s policies, aims and objectives, whilst
safeguarding the public funds and assest for which I am personally responsible, in accordance
with the responsibilities assigned to me in Managing Public Money.
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I acknowledge my responsibilities as set out in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable
Officer Appointment Letter. I am responsible for ensuring that the Clinical Commissioning Group
is administered prudently and economically and that resources are applied efficiently and
effectively, safeguarding financial propriety and regularity.
I confirm that as far as I am aware there is no relevant audit information of which the Clinical
Commissioning Group auditors are unaware, and the Chief Financial Officer has taken all steps
to make himself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Clinical
Commissioning Group’s auditors are aware of that information.
I also confirm that the annual report and accounts as a whole are fair, balanced and
understandable an that I take personal responsibility for the annual report and accounts and the
judgements required for determining that they are fair, balanced and understandable.

Name: Jonathan Develing
Role: Accountable Officer
Signature:
Jonathan Develing
Date: 24th May 2016

2.4

Remuneration Report

During the 2015/16 financial year, the Remuneration Committee of NHS Wirral Clinical
Commissioning Group considered the remuneration, terms of service and contracts of
employment for Chief Financial Officer and Directors. Additionally, the Remuneration Committee
considered the guidance on Very Senior Management (VSM) remuneration and the introduction
of a range of salary sacrifice schemes.
Composition & Membership of the Committee:
The Remuneration Committee provides advice to the Governing Body on such remuneration
includes all aspects of salary, provisions for other benefits including pensions and cars as well
as arrangements for termination of employment and other contractual terms. The Committee
has full authority to commission any reports or surveys it deems necessary to help fulfil its
obligations.
This Committee met twice in 2015/16 and provided minutes and assurance to the Governing
Body.
Further details relating to the attendance and frequency at meetings can be found in the Annual
Governance Statement (section 2.7) of this report.
The committee is chaired by the Lay Advisor (who is responsible for governance and audit) and
its membership now also comprises of:
• Three Governing Body Lay Members
• A Secondary Care Clinician
• The Chair of the Governing Body
A breakdown of attendance at the committee is detailed within the Annual Governance
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Statement (section 2.7).
Independent HR advice and guidance is provided by Human Resources from North West
Commissioning Support Unit (now Midlands and Lancashire Commissioning Support Unit from
the 1st March 2016). Advice is on legislative employee matters and benchmarking of NHS
salaries. The role is part of a wider contractual agreement for Commissioning Support Services.
The CCG and Remuneration Committee have been satisfied with the advice and guidance
provided.
The committee is established in accordance with NHS Wirral CCG’s Constitution, standing
orders and Scheme of delegation.
Policy on Remuneration of Senior Managers:
The majority of staff within the CCG hold contracts that are based on national NHS Terms and
Conditions of Service (Agenda for Change) and as such notice periods and termination
payments are in line with those nationally agreed terms and conditions. For other appointments
such as the Chief Officer, Chair, Medical Director, Executive Directors and GP Leads, local
agreements have been reached based on robust independent human resources advice as cited
above.
The remuneration for both the Chief Financial Officer and Chief Officer are based on the
national guidance provided by NHS England “Remuneration Guidance for Chief Officers and
Chief Finance Officer”. All contracts and/or terms and conditions of employment for staff not
governed by the national NHS Terms and Conditions of employment, where required, have
been approved by the CCG’s Remuneration Committee. In addition the remuneration for all
senior managers within the organisation adheres to the exceptions outlined in the recent
correspondence from the Secretary of State.
Senior Managers Performance Related Pay:
The CCG does not operate a system of Performance Related Pay.
Policy on Senior Managers Contracts:
The majority of staff within the CCG hold contracts that are based on national NHS Terms and
Conditions of Service (Agenda for Change) and as such notice periods and termination
payments are in line with those nationally agreed terms and conditions. For other appointments
such as the Chief Officer, Chair, Medical Director, Executive Directors and GP Leads, local
agreements have been reached based on robust independent human resources advise as cited
above.
The remuneration for both the Chief Financial Officer and Chief Officer are based on the
national guidance provided by NHS England “Remuneration Guiance for Chief Officers and
Chief Financial Officers”. All contracts and/or terms and conditions of employement for staff not
governed by the national NHS Terms and Conditions of employment, where required, have
been approved by the CCG’s Remuneration Committee.

Payment to Past Managers:
No awards have been made to past senior managers.
Compensation on early retirement or for loss of office
There has been no compensation on early retirement or for loss of office.
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Salaries and Allowances
Salaries & Allowances for Senior Employees of Wirral CCG (from 1st April 2015 to 31st March 2016)
Applicable Governing Body members may receive taxable benefits from the Clinical Commissioning Group’s lease car scheme as part of their
remuneration.
Salaries & Allowances for Senior Employees of Wirral CCG (from 1st April 2015 to 31st March 2016)

Name & Title

Taxable
Salary & Fees
Benefits
(bands of (Rounded to the
£5,000)
nearest £00)
£000

Annual
Performance
Long-term All Pension
Related
Performance
Related
Bonuses Related Bonuses
Benefits
(bands of
(bands of
(bands of
£5,000)
£5,000)
£2,500)
£000
£000
£000

Total
(bands of
£5,000)
£000

80 - 85

9

0

0

0

80 - 85

120 - 125

11

0

0

17.5 - 20

140 - 145

Mr J Wicks - Interim Accountable Officer (to 5 May 2015) (*2)

10 - 15

0

0

0

0

10 - 15

Mr Mark Bakewell - Chief Financial Officer (until 31 January 2016) (*3)

90 - 95

4

0

0

0

90 - 95

Mr M Treharne - Chief Financial Officer (with effect from 1 February 2016) (*3)

15 - 20

0

0

0

0

15 - 20

Mrs L Quigley - Director of Quality & Patient Safety

70 - 75

0

0

0

2.5 - 5

75 - 80

Mr P Edwards - Director of Corporate Affairs

70 - 75

0

0

0

5 - 7.5

80 - 85

Mrs N Hawker - Director of Commissioning (with effect from 20 July 2015)

45 - 50

3

0

0

35 - 37.5

85 - 90

Dr S Wells - Medical Director

75 - 80

0

0

0

210 - 212.5

285 - 290

Dr L Ariaraj - GP Lead - Planned Care (with effect from 1 May 2015) (*4)

30 - 35

0

0

0

237.5 - 240

265 - 270

Dr S Stokes - GP Lead - Long Term Conditions (with effect from 1 May 2015) (*4)

30 - 35

0

0

0

2.5 - 5

30 - 35

Dr S Delaney - GP Lead - Primary Care (with effect from 1 May 2015) (*4)

30 - 35

0

0

0

0

30 - 35

Dr P Cowan - GP Lead - Unplanned Care (with effect from 1 May 2015) (*4)

45 - 50

0

0

0

10 - 12.5

55 - 60

Mr A Cannon - Lay Member - Quality & Outcomes (with effect from 1 June 2015)

5 - 10

0

0

0

0

5 - 10

Mr A Whittle - Lay Member - Governance & Audit (with effect from 1 June 2015)

10 - 15

0

0

0

0

10 - 15

Mr J Kay - Lay Member - Patient Champion & Public Involvement

5 - 10

2

0

0

0

5 - 10

Mr S Wagener - Lay Member - Patient Champion (until 30 June 2015)

0-5

1

0

0

0

0-5

Mrs L Doherty - Registered Nurse (with effect from 1 October 2015)

0-5

0

0

0

0

0-5

Mr P Jennings (until 30 September 2015)

55 - 60

0

0

0

0

55 - 60

Dr M Green - Consortia Chair (until 30 April 2015)

5 - 10

0

0

0

0

5 - 10

5 - 10

0

0

0

0

5 - 10

Dr P Naylor - Chair (*1)
Mr J Develing - Accountable Officer (with effect from 6 May 2015) (*2)

Dr J Oates - Consortia Chair (until 30 April 2015)

(AUDITED)
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Taxable benefits include travel and subsistence expenses
Salaries & Allowances for Senior Employees of Wirral CCG (from 1st April 2014 to 31st March 2015)

Name & Title
Jennings Philip - Chair
Naylor Peter - Acting Chair
Mantgani Abhi - Chief Clinical Officer
Develing Jonathan - Interim Accountable Officer (nil charge)
Wicks John - Interim Accountable Officer (off payroll)
Bakewell Mark - Chief Financial Officer
Quigley Lorna - Director of Quality and Patient Safety
Edwards Paul - Director of Corporate Affairs
Campbell Christine - Head of Partnerships
Stewart Iain Consortia - Head of Direct Commissioning
Cooper Andrew Consortia - Head of Strategic Planning & Outcomes
Green Mark - Consortia Chair
Oates John - Consortia Chair
Wells Sue - GP Representative
Jones David - GP Representative
Ali Akhtar - GP Representative
McKay Hannah - GP Representative
Svrivastava P - GP representative
Kay James - Lay Member (Audit & Governance)
Wagener Simon - Lay Member (Patient Champion)

Salary &
Fees
(bands of
£5,000)
£000
110 - 115
85 - 90
165 - 170
0
65 - 70
90 - 95
70 - 75
70 - 75
60 - 65
65 - 70
60 - 65
30 - 35
65 - 70
5 - 10
5 - 10
5 - 10
5 - 10
0
10 - 15
5 - 10

Taxable
Benefits
(Rounded
to the
nearest
£00)
4
5
11
0
0
1
0
0
9
15
4
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
4
1

Annual
Performance
Related
Bonuses
(bands of
£5,000)
£000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Long-term
Performance
Related
Bonuses
(bands of
£5,000)
£000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

All Pension
Related
Benefits
(bands of
£2,500)
£000
12.5 - 15
35 - 37.5
0
0
0
7.5 - 10
25 - 27.5
45 - 47.5
10 - 12.5
0
12.5 - 15
22.5 - 25
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Total
(bands of
£5,000)
£000
125 - 130
125 - 130
170 - 175
0
65 - 70
100 - 105
95 - 100
115 - 120
70 - 75
65 - 70
75 - 80
55 - 60
65 - 70
5 - 10
5 - 10
5 - 10
5 - 10
0
10 - 15
5 - 10

Notes to the 2015/16 Salaries and Allowances Table
*1 The role of CCG Chair
Dr Pete Naylor has been ill on a long term basis and therefore Dr Sue Wells acted up to the CCG Chair role during this period from 1st February
2016 as Acting Chair. This is in line with the CCG’s Constitution.
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Following the CCG Capacity and Governance review in 2014/15 Dr Jennings left the CCG as of 31st March 2015, with 6 months’ notice in line with
contract of employment. His employment ended 30th September 2015, and Dr Jennings was on secondment during this notice period.
*2 The role of Chief Clinical (Accountable) Officer and interim appointments
In 2014/15 Mr John Wicks was appointed as Interim Accountable Officer, for the period from 6th December 2014. He continued in this interim post
until 5th May 2015.
Mr Jon Develing was appointed Accountable Officer following a recruitment process in February 2015 and took up the post with effect from 6th
May 2015.
*3 The role of Chief Financial Officer and interim appointments
Mr Bakewell was seconded to the Healthy Wirral (Vanguard) team as Chief Financial Officer for the period 1st February to 31st March 2015. Mr
Treharne was appointed as Interim Chief Financial Officer during this period.
*4 The role of GP Leads
Four GP Leads were appointed with effect from 1st May 2015.
* Additional Note – All Pension Related Benefits
The values in the All Pension Related Benefits column derive from a calculation that follows HMRC method to estimate the employer’s contribution
to the increase in pension entitlement for defined benefit pension schemes.
The value is not the contribution paid by the CCG to the Senior Manager. Rather it represents the employer’s contribution to twenty times the
increase of annual pension payments and the increase in lump sum if the Senior Manager became entitled to it at 31st March 2016 compared to
31st March 2015.
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Pension Benefits
Pension Benefits for Senior Employees at NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group 2015/16
Real increase
(decrease) in
pension at
pension age
(bands of
£2,500)
£000

Name

Real increase
Total accrued
Lump sum at
Cash
Real increase
Cash
(decrease) in
pension at
pension age
Equivalent (decrease) in Equivalent
pension lump pension age as related to accrued
Transfer
Cash
Transfer
sum at pension
31/03/2016
pension at
Value as at Equivalent
Value as at
age (bands of
(bands of
31/03/16 (bands of
31/03/2015 Transfer Value 31/03/2016
£2,500)
£5,000)
£5,000)
£000
£000
£000
£000
£000
£000

Employer's
contribution
to
stakeholder
pension
£00

Naylor Peter - Chair

0 - 2.5

0

15 - 20

45 - 50

253

0

257

0

Develing Jon - Accountable Officer

0 - 2.5

2.5 - 5

40 - 45

130 - 135

838

59

920

0

Bakewell Mark - Chief Financial Officer

0

0

10 - 15

40 - 45

177

0

180

0

Treharne Michael - Chief Financial Officer

0

0

35 - 40

110 - 115

0

0

0

0

Quigley Lorna - Director of Quality and Patient Safety

0 - 2.5

0

25 - 30

70 - 75

405

9

425

0

Edwards Paul - Director of Corporate Affairs

0 - 2.5

0

15 - 20

50 - 55

274

7

289

0

Hawker Nesta - Director of Commissioning

0 - 2.5

2.5 - 5

20 - 25

65 - 70

360

29

398

0

Wells Sue - Medical Director

7.5 - 10

27.5 - 30

15 - 20

45 - 50

145

178

327

0

Ariaraj Lax - GP Lead - Planned Care

10 - 12.5

30 - 32.5

10 - 15

35 - 40

39

140

180

0

0 - 2.5

0

5 - 10

15 - 20

87

6

96

0

Stokes Sian - GP Lead - Long Term Conditions
Delaney Simon - GP Lead - Primary Care

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Cowan Paula - GP Lead - Unplanned Care

0 - 2.5

0 - 2.5

0-5

5 - 10

43

18

62

0

(AUDITED)
*Dr Oates was not a member of the NHS Pension Scheme (Source: NHS Pensions Agency)
Mr Kay, Mr Wagener, Mr Cannon and Mr Whittle are lay members and do not contribute to the NHS pension scheme.
Mr Wagener performed the role of Lay Member until end of June 2015.
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Cash Equivalent Transfer Values
A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the
pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The benefits
valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s pension payable from
the scheme. A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure
pension benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a
scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The pension
figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their
total membership of the pension scheme, not just their service in a senior capacity to which
disclosure applies. The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any
pension benefits in another scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to the
NHS pension scheme. They also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the
member as a result of their purchasing additional years of pension service in the scheme at
their own cost. CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and framework prescribed by the
Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.
On 16 March 2016, the Chancellor of the Exchequer announced a change in the
Superannuation Contributions Adjusted for Past Experience (SCAPE) discount rate from 3.0%
to 2.8%. This rate affects the calculation of CETV figures in this report. Due to the lead time
required to perform calculations and prepare annual reports, the CETV figures quoted in this
report for members of the NHS Pension scheme are based on the previous discount rate and
have not been recalculated.

Pay Multiples
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the
highest-paid director in their organisation and the median remuneration of the organisation’s
workforce.
The median remuneration for all staff in Wirral CCG in the financial year 2015/16 is 34,876.
The range of staff remuneration is £124,817. The ratio between the median staff remuneration
and the midpoint of the banded remuneration of the highest paid director is 3.89. In 2014/15
the median was £32,898, the range was £101,052 and the pay multiple was 3.42. The
increased count of the workforce in 2015/16 is in relation to the closedown of the North West
Commissioning Support Unit.
In 2015/16, no employees received remuneration in excess of the highest-paid members of
the Governing Body.
Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay, benefits-inkind, but not severance payments. It does not include employer pension contributions and the
cash equivalent transfer value of pensions.
Off Payroll Engagements
The CCGs off payroll engagements are tabled below:
Table 1
Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2016

Number
0

Of which, the number that have existed:
for less than one year at the time of reporting
for between one and two years at the time of reporting
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for between 2 and 3 years at the time of reporting
for between 3 and 4 years at the time of reporting
for 4 or more years at the time of reporting

Table 2
Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in
duration, between 1 April 2015 and 31 March 2016
Number of new engagements which include contractual clauses giving
NHS Wirral CCG the right to request assurance in relation to income tax
and National Insurance obligations
Number for whom assurance has been requested
Of which:
assurance has been received
assurance has not been received
engagements terminated as a result of assurance not being received

Table 3
Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or senior
officers with significant financial responsibility, during the year
Number of individuals that have been deemed “board members, and/or
senior officers with significant financial responsibility” during the financial
year. This figure includes both off-payroll and on-payroll engagements

Numbe
r
0
0

Numbe
r
0
17

(2 of the indivuals deemed “board members, and/or senior ofiers with signification financial
responsibility” were off payroll and the further 15 were on payroll).
Governing Body Member Profiles
Further information relating to the profiles of Governing Body members can be found within
Appendix B of this report.
Severance payments
There were no severance payments or loss of office during 2015/16.
Staff Pay Awards
Awards for 2015/16 have been in line with National Agenda for Change agreements published
on NHS Employers.
Pension Liabilities
Note 4.5 to the accounts details the accounting for pension liabilities, covered by the
provisions of the NHS Pension Scheme. Details of pension benefits of CCG senior managers
are shown in the remuneration report, which is included as an appendix to this document.
There are no CCG employees who have stakeholder pensions in place of being a member of
the NHS pension scheme.
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2.5

Staffing Infomation

Sickness absence:
The CCG has a robust Attendance Management policy and procedure in place designed to
establish a positive attendance culture and support its managers and staff with attendance
issues by ensuring that these are managed consistently in a fair and equitable way.
The CCG proactively managed both short-term and long-term sickness absence in line with
this policy, with sickness absence being monitored on a monthly basis and reported on a
quarterly basis to the Quality, Performance and Finance Committee, which is a sub-committee
of the Governing Body.
Sickness absence levels for the CCG stood at 2.72% at the end of March 2016. The rolling
absence for the period ending March 2016 was 2.33%.
In the twelve month period ending March 2016 there have been 592 WTE (whole time
equivalent) days of absence and the average sick days per employee is 6.83. The figures
dislosed are based on the ESR Absence Time Line Analysis report.
Gender Profile:
At the end of March 2016 Wirral CCG has 68 female staff which equates to 68% of the
workforce and of these 51 were full time and 17 were part time. There were also 32 male staff
which equates to 32% of the workforce and of these 25 were full time and 17 were part time.
The table below includes the gender analysis in further detail:
Wirral CCG Gender Analysis
Full time
Female
68
Part time
Full time
Male
32
Part time

51
17
25
7

51.0%
17.0%
25.0%
7.0%

68.00%
32.00%

A further gender analysis of Governing Body members can also be found within the Annual
Governance Statement (section 2.7) of this report. For senior managers not on the Governing
Body, a gender profile is presented below:
Wirral CCG Senior Manager Gender Analysis
Male
0
0%
Female
0
Band 9
0%
Male
0
0%
Band
8D
Female
0
0%
Male
4
80%
Band
Female
1
8C
20%
Disabled employees:
The Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) is comitteed to equality of opportunity for all
employees and is commiteted to employment practices, policies and procedures which
wnsure that no emplpyee, or potential employee receives less favourable treatment on the
grounds of gender, race, colour, ethnic or national origin, sexual orientation, marital status,
religion or belief, age, trade union membership, disability, offending background, domestic
circumstances, social and employment status, HIV status, gender reassignment, political
affiliation or any other person characterstic as outlined in the Equality Act (2010) and any
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other status covered by the Human Rights Act (1998). Diversity will be viewed positive and in
recognising that everyone is different, the unique contribution that each individual’s
experience, knowledge and skills can make is valued equally.
Staff Partnership Forum:
The CCG acknowledges that the effective and productive conduct of employee relations
benefits significantly from a recognised forum within which all stakeholders play an active role
in partnership working. In support of this, the CCG has a recognition agreement with Trade
Unions and staff side representatives and actively participates in the Cheshire and Merseyside
Staff Partnership Forum, which aims to identify and facilitate the workforce and employee
aspectds of the NHS locally, in developing arrangements to implement required changes
which may affect the workforce.
The Staff Partnership Forum is the CCG’s main body for actively encouraging, consulting and
negotiating with key staff side stakeholders. The forum is authoritused to agree, revised and
review policies and procedures which may relate to changes in employment legislation and
regulation and the terms and conditions of employment affecting CCG staff covered by the
national Agenda for Change Terms and Conditions.
Any policies approved by the Staff Partnership Forum during this period were subsequently
ratified by the Quality, Performance and Finance Committee.
Personal Development Reviews:
The CCG has adopted an annual appraisal system for all of its employees in order to manage
the performance and development of its staff. The CCG has adopted the stance that the
current organisation’s objectives and appraisal system are the method by which performance
and achievement of corporate objectives would be measured. Further work is currently being
undertalen to develop the PDR process in line with the CCG’s Organisational Development
Plan and priorities.
Staff Support:
During the year the CCG continued to remain fully committed to the health and positive
wellbeing of its employees and understands that the health and wellbeing of the workforce is
crucial to the delivery the improvements in patient care outlined in the CCG’s strategic
commissioning plan. All staff have access to a comprehensive Occupational Health Servuce
including support for Visual Unit Display (VDU) uders and confidential counselling services.
Managers are supported by the Human Resources team to make appropriate referrals to
support any health concerns raised by an employee in a bid to ensure health and wellbeing
remains a priority for the organistion.

2.6

Equality and Diversity

NHS Wirral CCG is required to pay due regard to the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) as
defined by the Equality Act 2010. Failure to comply has legal, financial and reputational risks.
The key functions that enable Wirral CCG to make commissioning decisions and monitor the
performance of their providers have to demonstrate (in an auditable manner) that the needs of
protected groups have been considered in:
• Commissioning processes
• Consultation and engagement
• Procurement functions
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• Contract specifications
• Quality contract and performance schedules, and
• Governance Systems
Promoting equality is at the heart of NHS Wirral CCG core values, ensuring that we
commission services fairly and that no community or group is left behind in the changes that
will be made to health services to meet the challenges the NHS face, as outlined in the ‘Five
Year Forward View’.
We will continue to work internally, and in partnership with our Providers, community and
voluntary sector and other key organisations to ensure that we advance equality of opportunity
and meet our exacting requirements of the Equality Act 2010.
The Equality Act 2010 requires us to meet our Public Sector Equality Duty across a range of
protected groups including age, gender, race, sex, sexual orientation, religion / belief, gender
identity, marital / civil partnership status and pregnancy / maternity status.
Equality Objectives:
We are required to prepare and publish Equality Objectives to meet our specific duty as
outlines in the Equality Act 2010. Our plan is specific and measurable and we will update this
on an annual basis.
The CCG understands that at sometimes in our lives we may face barriers in relation to
accessing health services or experience different outcomes. The CCG wants to reduce the
health differences across our diverse communities and our Equality Objectives will support us
to do this.
Our Equality Objectives are:
1. To make fair and transparent commissioning decisions;
2. To improve access and outcomes for patients and communities who experience
disadvantage;
3. To improve the equality performance of our providers through robust procurement and
monitoring practice
4. To empower and engage our workforce
Throughout 2015/16, the CCG has ensured that Equality Impact Assessments are undertaken
and reported on when commissioning decisions are being considered. This process ensures
that patients and communities who experience disadvantage are taken into
account. Additionally, the CCG takes expert advice from Midlands and Lancashire’s
Commissioning Support Unit’s Senior Governance Manager (Equality and Diversity) to ensure
appropriate factors have been considered across the CCG’s processes for commissioning and
service redesign.
Equality delivery Systems 2:
To help us set our Equality Objectives we are currently undertaking Equality Delivery Systems
(EDS) 2.
NHS Wirral CCG has been assessed as “Developing” reflecting the need to fully embed
equality and diversity.
The outcomes and recommendations of the assessment will be presented to the CCG in April
2016.
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Provider performance:
All our key NHS providers have undertaken the EDS 2 assessment and have set equality
objectives in accordance with their requirements. We work closely with our providers to
improve equality performance and access and outcomes for protected groups through robust
contract monitoring, via the quality contract schedule.
Wirral CCG has an Equality and Diversity Policy and an Equality Objectives Plan that lays out
clear work streams that support the CCG to meet and pay due regards across its key
functions to meet their exacting Public Sector Equality Duty to:
• Eliminate discrimination
• Advance Equality of Opportunity
• Foster good community relationships
NHS Wirral CCG highlighted in the Equality and Diversity Strategy that:
• In addition to service delivery it is vital that our CCG and our healthcare providers have
excellent employment practice and go beyond the statutory requirements.
• We know that an organisation that values the different backgrounds of its employees
attracts the most talented people and has higher levels of productivity. We are committed
to achieving these outcomes.
The CCG seeks to develop positive practice to promote opportunity in employment by
attracting and appointing the most suitable candidate for each of its vacancies.
A Recruitment and Selection policy has been developed and this states that the CCG will have
due regard for the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, promote equality of opportunity,
and provide for good relations between people of diverse groups, in particular on the grounds
of the following protected characteristics as outlined in the Equality Act (2010): age, disability,
gender, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race,
religion or belief, and sexual orientation, in addition to offending background, trade union
membership or any other personal characteristic.
Promoting diversity embodies the principles of fair treatment for all and will as a result improve
recruitment and retention. The CCG values the diversity of its workforce and aims to ensure
that all staff understand this commitment and adhere to the standards.
The CCG produced key Equality Objectives and an Equality and Diversity Strategy to
progress the equality agenda. The Objectives were a specific requirement stipulated by the
Equality Act 2010 and were informed through the NHS Equality Delivery Systems (EDS) SelfAssessment.
The Strategy highlighted the key mechanisms required to enable progress to be made
throughout the year against the objectives as follows:
Objective 1: To make fair and transparent commissioning decisions
• Meetings took place to develop a process in order to embed Equality analysis into business
planning / options appraisal and committee reporting structures
• North West Commissioning Support Unit (NWCSU) provided skills and knowledge to the
CCG team and leadership
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• Systems were implemented to ensure intelligence of patient barriers and gaps which were
reflected and addressed in priority setting and planning
• Objective plan was aligned with the Equality and Diversity strategy Plan
• EDS stretch targets were set for 2015/16
Objective 2: To improve access and outcomes for patients and communities who experience
disadvantage
• The CCG developed an Equality Analysis (EA) process whereby they can assess the
equality implications, such as the risk of discrimination and disadvantage. EAs enable
organisations to eliminate or mitigate the risks when commissioning its services or
developing key policy or strategy. They also require commissioners to utilise evidence
(quantitative and qualitative) and instruct CCGs to provide a ‘level playing field’ in relation
to access and outcomes for the population they serve.
Objective 3: To improve the equality performance of our providers through robust
procurement and monitoring practice
•

The Equality contract quality requirements were reviewed to ensure contract mechanisms
have robust measures that test Provider compliance and enable a more joined up
approach to tackling barriers to access that certain protected group’s face.

Objective 4: To empower and engage our workforce
• Relevant HR Policies were reviewed.
In relation to disabled employment and equal opportunities, the Equality and Diversity policy
and other relevant HR policies were approved at the Cheshire and Merseyside Staff
Partnership Forum, held together with the CCG.
Involving our staff - Employee Consultation (Staff Well Being and Engagement):
Wirral CCG recognises that its staff are its greatest asses, as it is through staff that the CCG is
able to achieve the fundamental positive outcomes in clinical commissioning required as part
of the organisation’s corporate strategy and objectives. In support of this the CCG places a
high importance on the delivery of effective communications, involvement and engagement
with all of its employees and discharges these duties through a variety of means including:
• Staff Forum – the forum of the CCG actively encourages and promotes staff involvement at
all levels within the organisation allowing a mechanism for staff to raise issues and
progress actions.
• A Weekly Monday ‘team briefing’ which provides a valuable opportunity for the Chief
Officer and senior managers to brief staff on important matters concerning the business
and operations of the organisation, including specific employee matters which all CCG staff
are invited and encouraged to attend.
• A regular electronic bulletin available to all staff that provides a short and digestible
summary of key internal and external issues of
relevance to the staff and CCG.
• An internal online Intranet resources that includes summaries of key activities and
performance, alongside policy and procedures.
• A staff suggestions box for staff to post ideas they have to make changes and
improvements in the workplace.
• Focus groups for staff that have included the development of a refreshed Organisational
Development plan.
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The Clinical Commissioning Group has a suite of Human Resources related policies, which
include:
Agenda for Change Re-banding
Attendance Management
Annual Leave
Capability
Career Break
Disciplinary
Equality & Diversity
Family Leave (includes: maternity, paternity, adoption and parental leave)
Grievance and Disputes
Harassment & Bullying
Learning & Development
Management of Organisational Change
Pay Protection
Professional Registration
Recruitment & Selection
Retirement
Secondment
Shared Parental Leave
Special Leave
Travel & Expenses
Whistleblowing
Work Experience
These policies have been shared with staff and are available on the CCG’s Staff Intranet.

2.7

Annual Governance Statement

2.7.1

Introduction and context

The Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) was licensed from 1st April 2013 under provisions
enacted in the Health and Social Care Act 2012, which amended the National Health Service
Act 2006.
As at 1st April 2015, the CCG was licensed without conditions.
In 2014/15, NHS England conduted a ‘Capability & Governance review’ and as a result of the
review, the CCG’s Constitution was significantly amended. Historic ‘mosaic’ consortia
arrangements were disbanded in favour of a new approach to member engagement based on
a Clinical Senate, and a reorganisation of the CCG’s infrastructure, to reflect a stronger
overarching approach to commissioning for Wirral residents.
As the Governing Body was histrorically composed of representatives of consortia, the
amended Constitution also resulted in a new Governing Body composition, with clinical
representation based on a combination of open election and recruitment processes rather
than GP groupings.
With this in mine, there has been a continued focus on consolidation in 2015/16 with regards to
the CCG’s governance, particularly with regard to the establishment of new clinical
engagement arrangements (e.g. the Clinical Senate and Membership Council), extensive work
has been undertaken to support Governing Body development using an external agency and
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the Governing Bosy has refreshed its Strategic Aims and Objectives to reflect the new, more
cohesive approach.
Alongside these developments, the statutory committees that were established at the inception
of the CCG (Audit, Remuneration and Quality, Performance & Finance Committee) have
continued to run effectively during the period of review and transition, with each having a
dedicated work-plan that links to the organisation’s objectives. This also links to the
development and implementation of ‘Corporate Calendar’ that maps the CCG’s statutory
duties and how each committee and the Governing Body contribute to the delivery of its legal
duties.
Given the potential for conflict of interests that can arise from a GP led organisation, and in
readiness for the CCG adopting joint commissioning arrangements from 1st April 2016, the
CCG continues to operate an ‘Approvals Committee’ that is a committee comprised of non-GP
members to ensure probity in decisions that may materially affect General Practice. This
approach contributes to an ethos of transparency in decision making, as the minutes of the
meeting, along with all other committee minutes are made available to the public via the
CCG’s website and form part of Governing Body business, a meeting which is held in public.
In summary, I would state that the CCG has continued to successfully discharge its functions
through a year that has seen a significant degree of organisational change and development.
The new approach to clinical engagement and the new membership of the Governing Body
will require on-going attention to ensure they form a successful part of the CCG’s governance
arrangements. Organisational development will go hand in hand with the development of new
arrangements and the CCG is currently in the process of developing a new Organisation
Development Strategy and Implementation Plan.

2.7.2

Scope of responsibility

As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control
that supports the achievement of the clinical commissioning group’s policies, aims and
objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am personally
responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in Managing Public
Money. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out in my Clinical Commissioning Group
Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.
I am responsible for ensuring that the clinical commissioning group is administered prudently
and economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively, safeguarding
financial propriety and regularity.
To fulfil my role as Accountable Officer, I have:
• Continued to review and realign the responsibilities of the Senior Management Team in line
with the functional requirements of the organisation
• Ensured there is a weekly Operational Group meeting that, although not a formal
committee of the Governing Body, provides an opportunity for clinicians and senior
managers to oversee the transformational and corporate agenda facing the CCG
• Further refined the Integrated Performance Report and in particular the key elements to be
scrutinised by the Governing Body and Quality, Performance and Finance Committee, in
order to provide assurance of compliance with the CCG’s duties.
• Considered the wider objectives of the CCG which requires effective partnership working
across the health economy and beyond. I have processes in place to ensure that I and/or
my senior management team has good working arrangements with our partner
organisations which include:
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a)

Representation on the Local Safeguarding Boards for Children and Adults

b)

Regular meetings between the CCG and

c)

2.7.3

•

Clinical Commissioning Groups in our area

•

Wirral University Teaching Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

•

Cheshire and Wirral Partnership NHS Foundation Trust

•

Wirral Community NHS Trust

•

North West Commissioning Support Unit

•

Midlands and Lancashire Commissioning Support Unit

•

NHS England

•

GP Practices

•

Wirral Local Authority

•

Healthwatch

Attendance at the local Chairs and Chief Executive’s Forum and regular
meetings with Chief Executives and senior managers from:
•

Wirral University Teaching Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

•

Liverpool City Region CCG Alliance

•

Cheshire and Warrington CCGs

•

NHS England

•

Cheshire and Wirral Partnership NHS Foundation Trust

•

North West Commissioning Support Unit

•

Midlands and Lancashire Commissioning Support Unit

•

Wirral Community NHS Trust

•

Wirral Local Authority

Compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code

We are not required to comply with the UK Corporate Governance Code. However, we have
reported on our corporate governance arrangements by drawing upon best practice available,
including those aspects of the UK Corporate Governance Code we consider to be relevant to
the clinical commissioning group and best practice.

2.7.4

The Clinical Commissioning Group Governance Framewor

The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), at paragraph 14L(2)(b) states:
The main function of the governing body is to ensure that the group has made appropriate
arrangements for ensuring that it complies with such generally accepted principles of good
governance as are relevant to it.
The CCG’s governance framework provides assurance from service users to the Governing
Body through its embedded committee structure, which is described below:
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Governing Body Committee
• The Governing Body Committee met formally on a monthly basis, however, from September
2015 has met formally on a bi-monthly basis, using an annual work programme process to
help it plan its agenda and communication to the senior management team and the CCG’s
committees, sub-committees and groups of the assurance it requires throughout the year.
The Governing Body retains authority to approve key strategic documents, business plans
and financial plans on behalf of the CCG.
• The CCG Governing Body Committee comprises:
a) Five GP Executive Leads:
• GP Executive Lead – Long Term Conditions
• GP Executive Lead – Unplanned Care
• GP Executive Lead – Primary Care
• GP Executive Lead – Planned Care
• Medical Director
b) Three Lay Members:
• Lay Member – Audit and Governance
• Lay member – Patient Champion
• Lay Member – Quality and Outcomes
c) Further Members:
• Director of Quality and Patient Safety
• GP Membership Council Representative
• Registered Nurse
• Director of Corporate Affairs
• Director of Commissioning
• Secondary Care Doctor
• Accountable Officer
• Chair
• Chief Financial Officer
• The Governing Body also invited such other person(s) to attend all or any of its meetings, in
order to assist in its decision-making and its discharge of its duties as it sees fit. These
individuals are listed below:
Public Health Representative
Adult Social Services Representative
Healthwatch Representative
Local Medical Committee Representative
• At an overall level, responsibility for governance is held by the Governing Body. The
Governing Body is accountable for ensuring that the right culture, systems and procedures
are in place to enable appropriate governance, including establishing committees of the
Governing Bpody as required. The Governing Body has retained responsibility for its
Scheme of Reservation and Delegation through this, and approving the terms of reference
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for Board reporting committees, maintains overall responsibility for the statutory functions of
the CCG and has clarified the information it requires to be assured that all functions are
appropriately discharged.
• The Governing Body has conducted structured informal sessions, held alongside main
Governing Body meetings, in areas such as the assurance framework.
• Committee structure – The formal committees of the Governing Body have been designed
to provide assurance on delivery of the CCG’s strategic aims and objectives. An outline of
the CCG’s committees can be found below:

Audit Committee
• The Audit Committee is established in accordance with NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning
Group’s Constitution, Standing Orders and Scheme of Delegation.
• The Audit Committee comprises:
a) Voting Members:
• Lay Member responsible for Governance and Audit (Chair) – Alan Whittle
• Lay Member Quality and Outcomes – Alastair Cannon
• 3 Audit Lay Members - Bernard Halley, Tracey Fisher and Sylvia Cheater
b) Attendees
• Chief Financial Officer
• Mersey Internal Audit Agency Manager / Client Lead
• External Audit Manager
• Director of Corporate Affairs
• Local Counter Fraud Specialist
• Minute Taker
• The Audit Committee has met on a quarterly basis and has an annual work programme.
Formal minutes were produced and an action log maintained of open and closed actions.
Its formal minutes were provided to the Governing Body Committee.
• The Committee is chaired by the Lay Member (who is responsible for governance and
audit). It makes arrangements for its meetings to be regularly attended by the Chief
Financial Officer, other members of the senior management team and the CCG’s internal
(Mersey Internal Audit Agency) and external auditors (Grant Thornton Auditors).
• Its role is to review, on behalf of the Governing Body:
Integrated Governance, Risk Management and Internal Control
Financial reporting
Internal Audit
Counter Fraud
Policy and best practice
• As part of an integrated committee structure, the Audit Committee is pivotal in advising the
Governing Body on the effectiveness of the system of internal control. Any significant
internal control issues would be reported to the Governing Body via the Audit Committee.
The Audit Committee is informed by reports on the CCG’s systems and processes
prepared by both internal and external auditors.
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• During 2015/16 items received by the committee included:
Counter Fraud updates
Information Governance update reports
Internal Audit progress reports
External Audit progress reports
Changes to Financial Instructions and Accounting Policies
Financial Management Risks and Controls
Audit Tracker
Assurance Framework
Review of Risk Management System
Business of other Committees and Inter Relationships
Clinical Audit progress reports
Financial Accounts / Annual Report
• The Chair and members of the Audit Committee maintained close relationships with the
Internal and External auditors throughout the year by regular private meetings.
Remuneration Committee
• The Committee met twice in 2015/16 and provided minutes and assurance to the
Governing Body.
• The Committee is chaired by the Lay Member (who is responsible for governance and
audit) and its membership comprises of:
Three Governing Body Lay Members
A Secondary Care Clinician
The Chair of the Governing Body
• The Committee has full authority to commission any reports or surveys it deems necessary
to help it fulfil its obligations.

Quality, Performance and Finance Committee
• During 2015/16 this committee met monthly, had an annual work programme, produced
formal minutes and maintained an action log of open and closed actions. Its formal minutes
were also provided to the Governing Body.
• The Committee comprises:
Chair of the Governing Body
Accountable Officer
Chief Financial Officer
Director of Quality and Patient Safety
Director of Commissioning
Director of Corporate Affairs
Lay Member – Audit and Governance
Lay Member – Quality and Outcomes (Chair)
Medical Director
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1 other GP from Governing Body
• The Committee provided the Board with assurance that the committee monitors the
financial, quality, contractual and commissioning performance of the CCG against its
relevant objectives and targets to assure the governing body of overall compliance with its
statutory and regulatory obligations.
• During 2015/16 reports received by the committee included:
Financial activity information
Performance against Targets / Objectives
Contract Monitoring Meetings
Patient experience including complaints, PALs enquires, MP letters and Freedom of
Information requests
Lessons learned from GP reported and Serious Incidents
Workforce matters relating to sickness / turnover / disciplinary
Policy review and approval
Quality Accounts Safeguarding
update reports Information
Governance updates Risk
Register
Continuing Healthcare (CHC) updates
Updates to NHS Constitution
Updates regarding reviews being undertaken by the CCG
Commissioning Support Intentions
• Its role also includes:
To report to the Governing Body on quality, governance, contract performance monitoring,
financial and work force issues
To receive assurance that the CCG meets all its relevant obligations with regards to the
quality of commissioned services including patient experience and infection control
To review the CCG annual financial plan for incorporation with the operational plan and
recommend to the Governing Body for approval
• Oversee and review the performance of all contracts and service level agreements
commissioned by the CCG in all aspects of quality, activity, waiting times and financial
performance
• Receive regular performance monitoring reports outlining the CCG’s performance in
numerous areas
• Receive reports and consider assurance, required for actions plans which are relevant to
integrated performance
• Review the outcomes and action plans associated with all serious incidents to ensure
learning is shared
• Review all exception reports relating to the quality of the patient experience including
complaints, MP enquiries, patient enquiries and Freedom of Information requests
• Review by exception any gaps in the information governance toolkit compliance and
assurance that actions are taken
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• Consider the assurance that the relevant standards in relation to safeguarding children and
adults are being complied with and that the risks associated with those are identified and
controlled
• Undertaken the oversight of development and update approval of CCG policies, reporting
for information only to the Governing Body
• Receive regular reports on areas of risk via the risk management process
• Agree and review the assurance framework and risk scoring mechanism
• Receive assurance that relevant standards are in place relating to equality and human
rights

Approvals Committee
• During 2015/16 this committee met once, had an annual work programme, produced
formal minutes and maintained an action log of open and closed actions. Its formal minutes
were provided to the Governing Body together with an assurance report.
• The Approvals Committee comprises:

Lay Member – Quality and Outcomes (Chair)
Lay Member – Audit and Governance
Lay Member – Patient Champion
Lay Member (Audit Committee Lay Member) X2
Director of Quality and Patient Safety
Director of Public Health
Chief Financial Officer (non-voting)
• Its role includes reviewing and reaching agreement on all matters relating to the
commissioning of health services in circumstances where the Governing Body cannot do
so without independent scrutiny due to potential conflicts of interest. The Committee may
approve with or without further conditions, reject or refer back to the originating body for
further development, any proposal reviewed and not approved.
• During 2015/16 the report received by the committee included:
Establishment of the Primary Care Quality Scheme

Clinical Senate
• During 2015/16 this committee met 8 times, had an annual work programme and produced
formal minutes which were provided to the Governing Body. The Clinical Senate meets on
a bi-monthly basis and reports to the Governing Body.
• The membership of the Clinical Senate includes:
Medical Director (Chair)
Secondary Care Doctor – GB Member
Director of Quality and Patient Safety (Vice Chair)
Four GP Executive Leads (Deputy Chair)
Other GP’s co-opted with particular interest and expertise as appropriate to the

work plan

Nursing representative (Provider)
Two Therapist representatives (from different professional groups)
Local Medical Committee representative

60

Pharmacist representative
Medicines Management representative
4 Provider Clinical Representatives (Mental Health, Community, Acute, GP)
Public Health Representative
Designated professional (Safeguarding)
• The functions of the Clinical Senate are to:

Inform Commissioning Reform in the areas of:
Major clinical strategic areas including clinical service planning and reform, models of
care and service delivery
Strategies to improve patient care by improving the integration of services to patients
across all settings of care
Identifying relevant innovations, emergent best practice and research findings in
healthcare and to inform future strategies
Strategies to support the transformation of health and social care services to reduce
the growth in hospital demand
Influence Clinical Excellence in the areas of:
Strategies to implement clinical guidelines and standards
Strategies to improve the safety, quality, efficiency and sustainability of clinical services and
prevention strategies
Strategies to improve the professional links between partner organisations and
professional groups
Recommend:
Discuss and make recommendations on key clinical issues as determined by the
Governing Body
Engage:
Provide a forum for multidisciplinary discussion of redesign and clinical

developments

Improve engagement of clinicians in influencing the future commissioning intentions
and delivery
Provide further opportunity for the provision of assurance that new models care /
pathways will have positive impact on patient safety and experience
• During 2015/16 the reports received by the committee included:
Consultant Connect overview
Vanguard Business Case – Clinical Input
Diabetes Registries – Adults and Children
Registry Pathway – COPD
Registry – Asthma
Antimicrobial Resistance
Review of activity of clinical groups
Wirral Community NHS Trust Transformation Programme
Musculoskeletal Service Redesign update
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Self-Neglect Research Project – For approval
Sensitive data review

Attendance at Governing Body and Committees:
Board / Committee

Average Attendance of Members (%)

Governing Body Committee

83%

Audit Committee

92%

Remuneration Committee

73%

Quality Performance and Finance

66%

Committee
Approvals Committee

63%

Clinical Senate

54%

• As Accountable Officer, I am assured that both the Governing Body and its SubCommittees have reviewed their performance and effectiveness during 2015/16, through
self-assessment and annual reports.

• The above committee structure supports the CCG’s approach to Integrated Governance
which is defined as ‘systems, processes and behaviours by which CCGs lead, direct and
control their functions in order to achieve organisational objectives, safety and quality of
service and in which they relate to patients and carers, the wider community and partner
organisations. The CCG is committed to ensuring its continued high performance through
robust systems and processes. The CCG works continuously to deliver high quality safe
care and to minimise risk and improve quality at all levels and across all services in the
organisation.

2.7.5

The Clinical Commissioning Group Risk Management
Framework

As Accountable Officer / Chief Officer, I have overall responsibility for risk management within
the CCG and this is discharged through agreed delegation to the Senior Management team
which is documented within the CCG’s Risk Management Strategy and Policy and identified
below:
Lead Officer
Risk Area
Chief Financial Officer, Mike Treharne

Financial
Information Governance
Senior Information Risk Owner

Director of Corporate Affairs, Paul
Edwards

Corporate Governance
Legal and statutory compliance
Communications
Patient and Public Engagement
Complaints & claims management
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Business Continuity, Emergency
Preparedness Resilience and Response
as Accountable Emergency Officer
HR, Workforce and Organisational
Development
Director of Quality and Patient Safety,
Lorna Quigley

Quality Improvement
Clinical Policy
Incidents and Serious Incidents
Continuous improvement process
Patient Safety
Safeguarding

Director of Commissioning, Nesta
Hawker

Commissioning
Performance
Delivery
Contracting
System transformation
Service design

Medical Director, Dr Susan Wells

Leadership of the Clinical Senate and
engagement with the clinical community
and Medical Directors in Provider
Organisations
Caldicott Guardian

The Governing Body reviewed and approved its Risk Management Strategy and Policy in
September 2015 and this is due for next review in September 2018. The key elements of the
Risk Management Strategy and Policy include:
• The Governing Body’s commitment to risk management
• A statement that identifies the support for employees in providing services that are safe for
patients and recognises that risk management is everyone’s business, on behalf of the
Accountable Officer
• The corporate and strategic context for risk management
• The organisational arrangements and responsibilities
• The risk management accountability reporting structure
• The stages of the risk management process
• Description of the corporate risk register
• Risk matrix
There is a systematic process for the identification of risk throughout the organisation which is
then documented in the corporate risk register and assurance framework. The risk register is
reviewed monthly at the Quality Performance and Finance Committee and bi-monthly at the
Governing Body to ensure risks are being managed effectively in accordance with the Risk
Management Strategy and Policy.
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The risk evaluation model is based on a grading of impact and likelihood. Risks are then
scored against impact and likelihood and either managed locally or raised to the corporate
risk register and assurance framework, which is reviewed and monitored by the Quality
Performance and Finance Committee and Governing Body. This is maintained by the Director
of Corporate Affairs and Corporate Affairs Manager. The assurance frameworks of several
client CCGs were independently review by the CCG’s internal auditors, and a report was
submitted to the Audit Committee which indicated that the CCG’s assurance framework was
broadly consistent with others.
The Governing Body received the assurance framework quarterly and corporate risk register
monthly to discuss the strategic and principal risks and controls in place to mitigate the risk.
The Governing Body also receive integrated performance reports which provide data in
respect of financial, clinical and national targets and objectives. Any areas of risk are then
highlighted through the use of a Red, Amber and Green (RAG) rating system.
The following provides guidance as to the actions taken based on the risk assessment and
outlines who has authority to act.
Risk Score

Authority to Act

Very Low and Low
risks (1 – 8)

To be escalated and appropriate actions to be taken by
members of the Quality Performance and Finance
Committee.

Moderate risks

To be escalated and appropriate actions to be taken by
Commissioning Managers and Senior Finance Managers
and reviewed by Quality Performance and Finance
Committee and Governing Body members.

(9-14)

High risks
(15+)

To be escalated and appropriate actions to be taken by
members of the Governing Body.

During 2015/16, the CCG has also implemented an integrated risk management system which
is used by GP Practices to report primary care related incidents.
Risk assessment
Using the processes described above to identify and assess risk together with appropriate
mechanisms for mitigation, the key risks for the CCG in 2015/16 are detailed within this
section of the report.
The CCG’s Assurance Framework sets out the strategic and principal risks which could impact
on the delivery of the organisation’s objectives. The strategic risks which have been identified
in 2015/16 have included areas such as:
a) Failure to engage general public in change, difficultly in engaging with hard to reach
groups.
Summary of key controls / systems the CCG has in place to manage the risk:
• Communications Campaigns
• Diversity in delivery of health messages
• New Engagement Strategy to be developed and implemented
• Healthy Wirral work stream promoting self-care
• Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALs) and Complaints Management
• Website feedback mechanisms
• Communications support systems
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• Quarterly aggregated report of incidents, complaints and patient enquiries to Quality
Performance and Finance Committee
• Regular communications with local politicians as Councillors, MPs plus regular, open,
transparent communication with local media
b) Failure to promote and commission safe services, therefore, outcomes for patients don’t
improve or deteriorate.
Summary of key controls / systems the CCG has in place to manage the risk:
• CCG Strategy and Plans
• Health and Wellbeing Strategy
• Patient Engagement
• NHS England Performance Monitoring
• Quality and Performance Contract meetings
• Refreshed Strategic Plan
• Quality Innovation Productivity and Prevention (QIPP) Strategy and Plans
• Integrated Planning Process
• Joint Strategic Commissioning Group
• Quality Surveillance Group
c) Organisations fail to put the patient at the heart of everything they do.
Summary of key controls / systems the CCG has in place to manage the risk:
• Friends and Family Test
• Monitoring of Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN)s
• Implementation of Datix Risk Management System
• Hospital visits and walk arounds
• Quarterly aggregated report of incidents, complaints and patient enquiries to Quality
Performance and Finance Committee
• CCG Strategic Plan
• Clinically led work streams
• Continuing work with Community Partners in voluntary, community and faith sectors plus
representatives of individuals with protected characteristics to ensure full representation in
the CCG’s Commissioning Plans
• Patient Engagement
• New Engagement Strategy to be developed and implemented
d) Reducing financial resource available across health and social care and failure to agree
financial arrangements.
Summary of key controls / systems the CCG has in place to manage the risk:
• Quality Innovation Productivity and Prevention (QIPP) Strategy and Plans
• Quality Performance and Finance Committee monitoring
• Integrated planning processes
•

Joint Strategic Commissioning Group
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• Healthy Wirral finance workstream
• Development of Financial Recovery Plan
e) Failure to agree and operate appropriate and efficient governance processes and
framework across Wirral enconomy
Summary of key controls / systems the CCG has in place to manage the risk:
• Memorandum of Understanding developed between Wirral Health and Social Care
Partners
• Strategic Leaders Group well established and meets regularly
The Accountable Officer has overall accountability for Risk Management within the CCG and
the Governing Body demonstrates commitment through the endorsement of the Risk
Management Strategy.
Each committee is responsible for identifying, assessing, evaluating, treating, monitoring and
recording risks as set out in the Risk Management policy. Following assessment, all identified
high or complex risks that cannot be controlled within the respective area will be escalated to
the NHS Wirral CCG Corporate Risk Register.
The Governing Body Committee and Quality, Performance and Finance Committee also
review and monitor those risks escalated from sub-committees, on a monthly basis, along with
all other risks entered onto the Corporate Risk Register and to ensure appropriate actions
have been carried out.
Details of the high level risks on the Risk Register are provided below:
A&E 4 Hour Target (including quality of care and standards provided to patients)
The action plan is reviewed on a monthly basis at Quality Performance and Finance
Committee and Governing Body Committee and it has been acknowledged that for 2015/16
the 4 hour target would not be achieved. This was recognised by members of the Quality
Performance and Finance Committee, however, a range of measures are in place to address
this risk and it was envisaged that performance would improve in Quarter 1, 2016/17.
Financial risk to CCG and Better Care Fund (BCF)
There are financial challenges within the CCG that have manifested themselves via the
required contribution to the Better Care Fund.
The “planning gap” is £3.4million and it was always assumed that this gap would be closed by
project slippage, or avoidance of expenditure, from the Better Care Fund. This assumption
appeared to be reasonable and deliverable when comparing actual spend to date against
potential forecast (i.e. pro-rata, year to date spend to year end would have implied significant
further slippage).
In light of discussions with the Local Authority’s Director of Adult Social Services (pool fund
manager) and Social Services Finance Manager, it became apparent that no further slippage
would be delivered. The associated financial pressure has resulted in the CCG declaring a
£1.4million deficit in its annual accounts.
A complete review of the BCF governance and reporting arrangements is being carried out,
together with a complete review of BCF and CCG expenditure schemes. A Lessons Learned
Paper will be produced which will aim to improve forecasting and reporting arrangements
going forward.
Where the CCG has service level agreements and contracts with other organisations these
are monitored via reports through the governance structure and regular contract meetings.
Risk management is further embedded within the CCG through service management
responsibilities; equality impact assessments are carried out against core business policies,
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and risk assessments are completed on proposed business activities and changes made
where necessary.
Members of the public and patients are involved in identifying risk and for bringing this to the
attention of the CCG in a variety of ways including:
• Complaints, MP enquiries and patient enquiries
• Patient Forums
• Patient Participation Groups
The responsibility of Directors and Committees is described in detail in the section above
entitled The Clinical Commissioning Group Governance Framework.
In addition to regular reviews by the Governing Body of both the corporate Risk Register and
the Assurance Framework, in 2015/16 the CCG has developed a new ‘Performance Pack’ to
allow greater degree of oversight of performance and has sourced external support from
Internal Audit to undertake a ‘Root and Branch’ review of the Assurance Framework aligned to
the refreshed CCG strategic objectives.

2.7.6

The Clinical Commissioning Group Internal Control
Framework

A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the clinical
commissioning group to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives. It is designed to
identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the
impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically.
The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather than
eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of
effectiveness.
The Governing Body has overall responsibility for the management of risk which it discharged
through the Accountable Officer and members of the Governing Body and senior management
team. The management of risk is an integral component of the CCG’s governance committee
structure. The risk management systems and processes allow the CCG to deliver a multidisciplinary approach to risk management. This is underpinned by a clear accountability
governance structure.
In addition, the CCG continually re-assess risk, and identifies and responds to new risks,
through, for example, incident reporting, complaints data, claims and risk assessments. The
CCG also reviews recommendations from internal and external data, reports and inquiries into
other local provider organisations and national guidance to ensure the CCG encompass
lessons learnt.
To support achievement of the organisational objectives, and in order to fulfil its
responsibilities, the Board has developed a management system which allows decisions to be
taken in a structured and equitable way. The Risk Management Strategy and Policy is a key
component within that management system.
The CCG’s Audit Committee is provided with details of the CCG’s approach to internal control
via the Risk Management Strategy and Policy that is approved at Governing Body. This
ensures the Audit Committee can take a view on the quality and effectiveness of these
processes. It is deemed that, given that the primary role of the
Audit Committee is to provide assurance on CCG systems and processes, this is sufficient
process to ensure internal control processes are robust and of appropriate quality.
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Information Governance
The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by which
the NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular personal identifiable
information. The NHS Information Governance Framework is supported by an information
governance toolkit and the annual submission process provides assurances to the clinical
commissioning group, other organisations and to individuals that personal information is dealt
with legally, securely, efficiently and effectively.
Information Governance risks are assessed using the Information Governance Toolkit. The
CCG has a Senior Information Risk Owner (Chief Financial Officer) who reviews all data
protection issues in partnership with the Senior Governance Manager of Midlands and
Lancashire Commissioning Support Unit (MLCSU).
The CCG’s Information Governance status is reviewed and monitored by the Quality
Performance and Finance Committee and the Governing Body. This has supported the CCG’s
self-assessment of achieving level 2 against each of the Information Governance Toolkit
requirements. As at the end of March 2016, the CCG achieved satisfactory compliance
against the statutory and mandatory training requirements for information governance.
The CCG has not had any lapses in data security for 2015/16.
The CCG place high importance on ensuring there are robust information governance
systems and processes in place to help protect patient and corporate information. The CCG
also has information governance policies and procedures in line with the Information
Governance Toolkit:
• Information Governance Strategy
• Information Governance Policy
• Freedom of Information Act Policy
• Subject Access Requests Policy
• Confidentiality and Data Protection Policy
• Corporate Records Management and Retention Policy
There are processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious incidents and
regular briefing documents are issued to staff and published on the Intranet in relation to the
policies and procedures in place.
There are processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious incidents and
regular briefing documents are issued to staff and published on the Intranet in relation to the
policies and procedures in place.
Summary of personal data incidents in 2015/16
Category

Nature of Incident

Total

I

Loss of inadequattly protected electronic equipment, devices
or paper documents from secured NHS premises

0

II

Loss of inadequately protected electronic equipment,
devices or paper documents from outside secured NHS
premises

0

III

Insecure disposal of inadequately protected electronic
equipment, devices or paper documents

0

IV

Unauthorised disclosure

0

V

Other

0
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Review of economy, efficiency & effectiveness of the use of resources
The CCG has a Quality, Performance and Finance Committee which meets monthly and
regularly assesses the effective use of resources. It does this by reviewing performance and
financial data to ensure this is closely scrutinised by internal staff and lay members. Reports
on Quality, Finance and Performance are also received regularly at Governing Body. In
addition the CCG receives an opinion from the Head of Internal Audit on use of resources and
value for money, together with additional views via the annnual External Audit opinion
Feedback from delegation chains regarding business, use of resources and responses
to risk
The CCG delegates some of its support functions to a Commissioning Support Unit (CSU). In
2015/16, the CCG was required to re-procure its commissioning support supplier from the
Lead Provider Framework (LPF) following the failure of the existing CSU to secure a place on
the LPF.
Prior to this re-procurement, the CCG had regular Key Performance Indicator (KPI) reports
and contract performance / monitoring meetings to ensure effective and efficient services.
Following the award of commissioning support to a new provider from 1 st March 2016, it is
envisaged that a similar performance management regime will be adopted.
The Audit Committee will receive a Service Auditor Report at year end, which will provide an
independent assessment of the control systems employed by the CSU on the CCG’s behalf.

2.7.7

Review of the effectiveness of Governance, Risk
Management & Internal Control

As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of
internal control within the Clinical Commissioning Group.
Capacity to Handle Risk & Review of Effectiveness
My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of the
internal auditors and the executive managers and clinical leads within the CCG who have
responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control framework. I have
drawn on performance information available to me. My review is also informed by comments
made by the external auditors in their management letter and other reports.
The Assurance Framework itself provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of controls
that manage the risks to the CCG achieving its principles objectives have been reviewed. The
system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to
eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it can therefore only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness.
The system of internal control is based on an on-going process designed to:
a)

identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of the policies, aims and
objectives of Wirral CCG, and

b)

evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised the impact should they be
realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically
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My review is informed in a number of ways. The Head of Internal Audit (Mersey Internal Audit
Agency) provides me with an opinion on the overall arrangements for gaining assurance and
on the controls reviewed as part of the internal audit work. Further assurance has been
received in relation to the Assurance Framework; Board reporting and Risk Management
systems and other internal audit reports undertaken.
My review is informed by the Governing Body members and Senior Management Team within
the organisation that have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the system
of internal control and to provide me with assurance. The corporate risk register/assurance
framework itself provides me with assurance that the effectiveness of controls that manage
the risks to the organisation achieving its principal objectives have been reviewed.
My review is also informed by debate and reports at the Governing Body meetings, Audit
Committee, reports from the Quality, Performance & Finance Committee, the Approvals
committee, Remuneration committee and the Clinical Senate
I have been advised on the implications of the result of my review of the effectiveness of the
system of internal control, by receiving and reviewing detail within the meeting minutes of key
groups which promote risk management.
I am aware of the role of the Governing Body in providing active leadership to the CCG within
a framework of prudent and effective controls that enable risk to be assessed and managed. I
am also aware of the committees other groups and individuals which promote risk
management. Details of these committees and their function are outlined above.
Additionally my review has taken account of the following:
a) Internal Audit, who provide reports to the Audit Committee and full reports to the Chief
Financial Officer, Director of Corporate Affairs and Director of Quality & Performance and
other Senior Managers as appropriate. Regular meetings are also held between the Chief
Financial Officer, Director of Corporate Affairs, Corporate Affairs Manager and Audit Manager,
Mersey Internal Audit Agency.
b) The CCG has had two internal audit reviews during 2015/16 which reported limited
assurance; Complaints Management. The objective of this review was to ensure that the
organisation has a Board approved Complaints Management Policy and supporting
procedures to ensure that all complaints are dealt with on a timely and appropriate basis. This
highlighted 2 high level recommendations, 2 medium level recommendations and 2 low level
recommendations. However, this review has been subject to follow up in year with all
recommendations identified as being implemented, resulting in significant assurance being
reported. The second was the Better Care Fund and the objective of this review was to
provide assurance that there is effective and robust governance built into the local integrated
Better Care Fund processes including section 75 joint Governance Agreements; and Risk
Sharing and that these are sufficiently robust for the 15/16 BCF funding round. This review
highlighted 3 high level recommendations, 3 medium level recommendations and 1 low level
recommendation. An action plan is in place to address the recommendations.
c) Internal Audit has assigned significant assurance to the following reviews undertaken within
2015/16:
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• Core Financial Systems review – The objective of this review was to provide an opinion
on the effectiveness of the key financial systems which provided for compliance with NHS
accounting requirements, the accuracy of accounts and reliability of management
information. This review highlighted 2 medium level recommendations and 1 low level
recommendation.
• Corporate Governance Compliance – The objective of this review was to perform a
compliance check of the CCG’s implementation of its current Corporate Governance
Documents. This review highlighted 1 medium level recommendation and 2 low level
recommendations.
• Information Governance – The objective of this review was to provide an opinion upon
the policies and processes established by the CCG to develop and embed an Information
Governance (IG) culture within the organisation, to collate and submit its IG toolkit return
and to provide an independent assessment of the validity and accuracy of the scored
submitted. This review highlighted no recommendations.
• Friends and Family Test – The objective of this review was to document and evaluate the
systems and processes in place to capture, record and report data for the Friends and
Family test. This review highlighted 2 medium level recommendations.
• Financial Shared Service – The objective of this review was to review and provide an
opinion of the controls and processes supporting the delivery by the CSU to each CCG
customer of key financial systems, which are; general Ledger, Treasure Services and Cash
Management, Accounts Receivable and Accounts Payable. This review highlighted 1
medium level recommendation and 2 low level recommendations.
d) The CCG has established a management tracking system for all audit review
recommendations and agreed actions, which is monitored on a monthly basis by the
Corporate Affairs Manager, reviewed by the MIAA Audit Manager, Director of Corporate
Affairs & Chief Financial Officer prior to presentation at all Audit Committee meetings.
e) The CCG has received reports from the external auditor and has adopted
recommendations made in the reports to improve services and performance.
My review confirms that NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group has a sound system of
internal control that supports the achievement of its policies, aims and objectives. The
Governing Body is committed to continuous improvement and enhancement of the systems of
internal control.
Head of Internal Audit Opinion
Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the clinical
commissioning group, the Head of Internal Audit issued an independent and objective opinion
on the adequacy and effectiveness of the clinical commissioning group’s system of risk
management, governance and internal control.
The purpose of the Audit Opinion is to contribute to the assurances available to underpin the
Governing Body’s own assessment of the effectiveness of the organisation’s system of
internal control. The opinion is based upon the work completed and includes an opinion on
the Assurance Framework and the risk based audit assignments across the critical business
systems, along with contributions to improving governance, risk management and internal
control.
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The Head of Internal Audit concluded that significant assurance can be given that there is
generally sounds system of internal control designed to meet the organisation’s objectives,
and that controls are generally being applied consistently. However, some weaknesses in the
design or inconsistent application of controls put the achievement of a particular objective at
risk.
The overall opinion is provided in the context of the level of risk awareness of the CCG and
the targeted and effective use of Internal Audit as part of the system of internal control. Going
forward, the CCG faces a number of challenges, including the further integration of local
health and care systems, driving forward the Vanguard programme and delivering the
efficiency savings and performance required.
Assurance was noted across the organisation’s critical business systems:
Access to Services
Documentation, evaluation and review of the clinical Core Financial Systems review which
provided Significant Assurance. The review of the Better Care Find received Limited
Assurance and recommended improvements with regard to governance, information
governance and contract / Key Performance Indicator performance management.
Transparency and Governance
Review of the organisations Corporate Governance Compliance received Significant
Assurance and confirmed effective control and governance arrangements on a sample check
of key governance requirements.
Patient Participation and Customer Services
The risk based review in respect of Complaints received Limited Assurance, however, a follow
up undertaken in year identified significant improvement and implementation of agreed actions
to report Significant Assurance.
Informed Commissioning
Mandated review of the Information Governance Toolkit concluded Significant Assurance. The
review undertaken of the Friends and Family Test systems and processes undertaken with cooperation of Wirral University Teaching Hospital NHS Foundation Trust received Significant
Assurance. Advisory support to strengthen the shared service governance and supporting
systems for Continuing Healthcare.
Higher Standards
A supportive review of core processes underpinning the organisation’s Co-Commissioning
arrangements which confirmed the development of appropriate governance and supporting
systems.
Follow-up
Follow-up review remonstrated good progress against action plans to improve systems and
control, in line with agreed timescales.
During the year, Internal Audit issued the following audit reports which identified governance,
risk management and/or control issues which were significant to the organisation:
• Core Financial Systems Review
• Corporate Governance Compliance
• Information Governance
• Friends and Family Test
• Financial Shared Service
• Complaints Management
• Better Care Fund
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External Audit
The CCG’s external audit was conducted by Grant Thornton UK LLP, who are also external
auditors for a number of other local CCG’s. The cost of the duties performed during the
2015/16 financial year was £67.5K.
With the abolition of the Audit Commission, and the establishment of a new framework for the
audit of public sector bodies as part of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014, the CCG
will in future appoint its own external auditord in a procurement exercise to be completed in
time for the appointment of auditors by 31st December 2016.
The new approach to local audit does not begin until the 2017/18 financial year, the first year
in which the CCG will appoint its own external auditor. This means that Grant Thornton will
continue until the completion of the audit work for 2016/17.
The 2014 Act requires that the CCG must appoint an external auditor to audit the annual
accounts by 31st December of the preceding year. As the new approach begins in 2017/18,
this means an appointment must be made by 31 st December 2016. The appointment can be
for longer than a year, but there must be a new appointment process at least once every 5
years. The existing external auditor can be re-appointed for further terms. The external audit
firm must be eligible for appointment in line with the requirements of the Financial Reporting
Council.
Since appointments for 2017/18 must be made by the end of 2016, the CCG’s auditor panel
needed to be in place early in 2016 to ensure that it can fulfil its responsibilities. The CCG’s
Governing Body has already decided to appoint the Audit Committee to fulfil the role of its
Auditor Panel, by virtue of the independence and specialist knowledge of the the members of
the committee.
The Act further specifies the use of auditor panels to advise Governing Bodies / Boards on the
selection, appointment and removal of external auditors, and on maintaining an independent
relationship with them. The only exception to this would be is a body decided to make the
appointment via a ‘collective procurement’ such as through a sector-led body. There are no
current proposals for any such body in the NHS sector. The CCG must consult and take
account of the auditor panel’s advice on the selection and appointment of the external auditor.
The advice given by the panel must be published and, should the CCG not follow that advice,
the reasons for not doing so must also be published.
Data Quality
The CCG reviewed the provision of information to the Governing Body in the last financial year
and, as a result, has brought Business Intelligence services in-house so as to improve
the quality and responsiveness of data. This team has worked to further improve reporting
and has combined this information with other finance, performance and contracting data to
create a new performance dashboard. Additionally, a new reporting format was adopted in
2015/16 to ensure alignment to the new external CCG Assurance Framework and to Statutory
Functions, whilst ensuring that all key considerations have sufficient information to allow
Governing Body to make informed decisions.
Business Critical Models
Within the CCG we have a number of business models which are used to support the delivery
of our statutory duties. In line with the Macpherson Report these models have an underpinning
framework that ensure each model has a responsible owner within the CCG who ensures the
quality assurance process is compliant and appropriate, that model risks, limitations and major
assumptions are understood by users of the model, and the use of the model outputs is
appropriate.
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Data Security
We have submitted a satisfactory level of compliance with the information governance toolkit
assessment.
The CCG has had no Serious Incidents relating to data security breaches and there have
been no lapses in data security for 2015/16, therefore there was nothing reportable to the
Information Commissioners Office for this period.
Discharge of Statutory Functions
During establishment, the arrangements put in place by the CCG and explained within the
Corporate Governance Framework were developed with extensive expert external legal input,
to ensure compliance with all relevant legislation. That legal advice also informed the matters
reserved for Membership Body and Governing Body decision and the scheme of delegation.
In light of the Harris Review, the CCG has reviewed all of the statutory duties and powers
conferred on it by the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and other associated
legislative and regulations. As a result, I can confirm that the CCG is clear about the legislative
requirements associated with each of the statutory functions for which it is responsible,
including any restrictions on delegation of those functions.
Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead Senior Manager. All
Directors have confirmed that their structure provides the necessary capability and capacity to
undertake all of the CCG’s statutory duties.
Conclusion
As Accountable Officer I recognise that there are significant challenges in delivering locally
based services in the coming years. Like many CCG’s there are demographic, economic and
qualitative challenges which will need to be reflected within the strategic intentions of the
organisation over the next 5 year period. The CCG is working closely with partners across the
system to support the delivery of our plans and the continued development of the Healthy
Wirral approach will continue to be an enabler for change and for closer integration.
The significant risks identified during the year were the financial challenge and the Better Care
Fund, but I am confident that the CCG’s recovery plan and its re-profiling of the Better Care
Fund will establish a firm foundation for future years. The CCG can plan with more confidence
strategically based on the introduction of three year allocations. Whilst the Wirral allocation is
below the national average uplift, I am confident that the CCG has the right team internally
and the right partnerships externally to make the local economy a success.
In preparation of this document I would like to express my personal thanks to the senior
management of the CCG and all staff for their support through the year.
Jonathan Develing
Accountable Officer
Signed: Jonathan Develing
24th May 2016
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3. Financial Statements
Data entered below will be used throughout the workbook:

Entity name:
This year
This year ended
This year commencing:

NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group
2015-16
31-March-2016
01-April-2015
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Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended
31-March-2016
Note
Total Income and Expenditure
Employee benefits
Operating Expenses
Other operating revenue
Net operating expenditure before interest

2015-16
£000

2014-15
£000

4.1.1
5
2

3,458
489,200
(824)
491,834

2,927
468,125
(468)
470,584

Investment Revenue
Other (gains)/losses
Finance costs
Net operating expenditure for the financial year

8
9
10

0
0
0
491,834

0
0
0
470,584

Net (gain)/loss on transfers by absorption
Total Net Expenditure for the year

11

0
491,834

0
470,584

4.1.1
5
2

2,820
2,196
(35)
4,981

2,747
3,829
(19)
6,557

4.1.1
5
2

638
487,004
(789)
486,853

180
464,296
(449)
464,027

Of which:
Administration Income and Expenditure
Employee benefits
Operating Expenses
Other operating revenue
Net administration costs before interest

Programme Income and Expenditure
Employee benefits
Operating Expenses
Other operating revenue
Net programme expenditure before interest

Other Comprehensive Net Expenditure
Impairments and reversals
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of property, plant & equipment
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of intangibles
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of financial assets
Movements in other reserves
Net gain/(loss) on available for sale financial assets
Net gain/(loss) on assets held for sale
Net actuarial gain/(loss) on pension schemes
Share of (profit)/loss of associates and joint ventures
Reclassification Adjustments
On disposal of available for sale financial assets
Total comprehensive net expenditure for the year

2015-16
£000
22

2014-15
£000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
491,834

0
470,584

The notes on pages 83 to 87 form part of this statement
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Statement of Financial Position as at
31-March-2016
Note

2015-16

2014-15

£000

£000

Non-current assets:
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Investment property
Trade and other receivables
Other financial assets
Total non-current assets

13
14
15
17
18

0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0

Current assets:
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Other financial assets
Other current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets

16
17
18
19
20

0
3,853
0
0
7
3,860

0
3,996
0
0
20
4,016

Non-current assets held for sale

21

0

0

Total current assets

3,860

4,016

Total assets

3,860

4,016

(25,954)
0
0
0
(162)
(26,116)

(22,794)
0
0
0
(60)
(22,854)

(22,256)

(18,838)

0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0

Assets less Liabilities

(22,256)

(18,838)

Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity
General fund
Revaluation reserve
Other reserves
Charitable Reserves
Total taxpayers' equity:

(22,256)
0
0
0
(22,256)

(18,838)
0
0
0
(18,838)

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Other financial liabilities
Other liabilities
Borrowings
Provisions
Total current liabilities

23
24
25
26
30

Non-Current Assets plus/less Net Current Assets/Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Other financial liabilities
Other liabilities
Borrowings
Provisions
Total non-current liabilities

23
24
25
26
30

The notes on pages 83 to 87 form part of this statement
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The financial statements on pages 77 to 82 were approved by the Governing Body on 24th May 2016 and
signed on its behalf by:

Signed: Jonathan Develing
Chief Accountable Officer
J Develing
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NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2015-16
Statement of Changes In Taxpayers Equity for the year ended
31-March-2016

General fund
£000

Revaluation
reserve
£000

Other reserves
£000

Total reserves
£000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2015-16
Balance at 1 April 2015

(18,838)

0

0

(18,838)

Transfer between reserves in respect of assets transferred from closed NHS bodies
Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 1 April 2015

0
(18,838)

0
0

0
0

0
(18,838)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2015-16
Net operating expenditure for the financial year
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of property, plant and equipment
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of intangible assets
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of financial assets
Total revaluations against revaluation reserve

(491,834)

(491,834)

0

0
0
0
0

0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
(491,834)

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
(491,834)

Net funding

488,416

0

0

488,416

Balance at 31 March 2016

(22,256)

0

0

(22,256)

Net gain (loss) on available for sale financial assets
Net gain (loss) on revaluation of assets held for sale
Impairments and reversals
Net actuarial gain (loss) on pensions
Movements in other reserves
Transfers between reserves
Release of reserves to the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure
Reclassification adjustment on disposal of available for sale financial assets
Transfers by absorption to (from) other bodies
Reserves eliminated on dissolution
Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial Year
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Revaluation
reserve
£000

General fund
£000

Other reserves
£000

Total reserves
£000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2014-15
Balance at 1 April 2014
Transfer of assets and liabilities from closed NHS bodies as a result of the 1 April 2013
transition
Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 1 April 2014
Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2014-15
Net operating costs for the financial year
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of property, plant and equipment
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of intangible assets
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of financial assets
Total revaluations against revaluation reserve

(23,098)

0

0

(23,098)

0
(23,098)

0
0

0
0

0
(23,098)

(470,584)

(470,584)

0

0
0
0
0

0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
(470,584)

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
(470,584)

Net funding

474,844

0

0

474,844

Balance at 31 M arch 2015

(18,838)

0

0

(18,838)

Net gain (loss) on available for sale financial assets
Net gain (loss) on revaluation of assets held for sale
Impairments and reversals
Net actuarial gain (loss) on pensions
Movements in other reserves
Transfers between reserves
Release of reserves to the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure
Reclassification adjustment on disposal of available for sale financial assets
Transfers by absorption to (from) other bodies
Reserves eliminated on dissolution
Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial Year

The notes on pages 83 to 87 form part of this statement
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NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2015-16
Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31-March-2016
Note
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net operating expenditure for the financial year
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairments and reversals
Movement due to transfer by Modified Absorption
Other gains (losses) on foreign exchange
Donated assets received credited to revenue but non-cash
Government granted assets received credited to revenue but non-cash
Interest paid
Release of PFI deferred credit
Other Gains & Losses
Finance Costs
Unwinding of Discounts
(Increase)/decrease in inventories
(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables
(Increase)/decrease in other current assets
Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables
Increase/(decrease) in other current liabilities
Provisions utilised
Increase/(decrease) in provisions
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Operating Activities

5
5

17
23
30
30

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Interest received
(Payments) for property, plant and equipment
(Payments) for intangible assets
(Payments) for investments with the Department of Health
(Payments) for other financial assets
(Payments) for financial assets (LIFT)
Proceeds from disposal of assets held for sale: property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of assets held for sale: intangible assets
Proceeds from disposal of investments with the Department of Health
Proceeds from disposal of other financial assets
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets (LIFT)
Loans made in respect of LIFT
Loans repaid in respect of LIFT
Rental revenue
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Investing Activities
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) before Financing

2015-16
£000

2014-15
£000

(491,834)
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
143
0
3,160
0
0
102
(488,429)

(470,584)
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
(418)
0
(3,903)
0
0
60
(474,845)

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

(488,429)

(474,845)

488,416
0
0
0
0
0
488,416

474,844
0
0
0
0
0
474,844

(13)

(1)

20

21

Effect of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash and cash equivalents held in foreign currencies

0

0

Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the End of the Financial Year

7

20

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Parlimentary Funding Received
Other loans received
Other loans repaid
Capital element of payments in respect of finance leases and on Statement of Financial Position PFI and LIFT
Capital grants and other capital receipts
Capital receipts surrendered
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Financing Activities
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year

20

The notes on pages 82 to 86 form part of this statement
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Notes to the financial statements
1

Accounting Policies
NHS England has directed that the financial statements of clinical commissioning groups shall meet the accounting requirements of the Manual for Accounts issued by the
Department of Health. Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Manual for Accounts 2015-16 issued by the Department of
Health. The accounting policies contained in the Manual for Accounts follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to
clinical commissioning groups, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board. Where the Manual for Accounts permits a choice
of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group for the purpose of
giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies adopted by the NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group are described below. They have been applied
consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts.

1.1

Going Concern
These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis.
Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial
provision for that service in published documents.
Where a clinical commissioning group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be provided (using the same assets, by another public sector
entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of Financial Statements. If services will continue to be provided the financial statements are
prepared on the going concern basis.

1.2

Accounting Convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories
and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.

1.3

Acquisitions & Discontinued Operations
Activities are considered to be ‘acquired’ only if they are taken on from outside the public sector. Activities are considered to be ‘discontinued’ only if they cease entirely. They
are not considered to be ‘discontinued’ if they transfer from one public sector body to another.

1.4

Movement of Assets within the Department of Health Group
Transfers as part of reorganisation fall to be accounted for by use of absorption accounting in line with the Government Financial Reporting Manual, issued by HM Treasury. The
Government Financial Reporting Manual does not require retrospective adoption, so prior year transactions (which have been accounted for under merger accounting) have not
been restated. Absorption accounting requires that entities account for their transactions in the period in which they took place, with no restatement of performance required
when functions transfer within the public sector. Where assets and liabilities transfer, the gain or loss resulting is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Net
Expenditure, and is disclosed separately from operating costs.
Other transfers of assets and liabilities within the Department of Health Group are accounted for in line with IAS 20 and similarly give rise to income and expenditure entries.

1.5

Charitable Funds
From 2014-15, the divergence from the Government Financial Reporting Manual that NHS Charitable Funds are not consolidated with bodies’ own returns is removed. Under the
provisions of IAS 27: Consolidated & Separate Financial Statements, those Charitable Funds that fall under common control with NHS bodies are consolidated within the entities’
accounts.

1.6

Pooled Budgets
Where NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group has entered into a pooled budget arrangement under Section 75 of the National Health Service Act 2006 NHS Wirral Clinical
Commissioning Group accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenditure arising from the activities of the pooled budget, identified in accordance with the
pooled budget agreement.
If the clinical commissioning group is in a “jointly controlled operation”, the clinical commissioning group recognises:
·
The assets the clinical commissioning group controls;
·
The liabilities the clinical commissioning group incurs;
·
The expenses the clinical commissioning group incurs; and,
·
The clinical commissioning group’s share of the income from the pooled budget activities.
If the clinical commissioning group is involved in a “jointly controlled assets” arrangement, in addition to the above, the clinical commissioning group recognises:
·
The clinical commissioning group’s share of the jointly controlled assets (classified according to the nature of the assets);
·
The clinical commissioning group’s share of any liabilities incurred jointly; and,
·
The clinical commissioning group’s share of the expenses jointly incurred.

1.7

Critical Accounting Judgements & Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
In the application of NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates and the estimates and underlying assumptions are continually reviewed.
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

1.7.1

Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies
NHS W irral Clinical Commissioning Group made no critical judgements , apart from those involving estimations (see below) that management has made in the process of
applying NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group’s accounting policies that have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.

1.7.2

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
The following are the key estimations that management has made in the process of applying NHS W irral Clinical Commissioning Group’s accounting policies that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:
·
Primary Care practice prescribing information is received by NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioining Group approximately 6 weeks following the end of each reporting
period. Management have estimated the year-end prescribing expenditure accrual, circa £9.2 million (2014/15 circa £9 million, based on 2 months estimate) based on an
analysis of the forecast provided by the Prescription Pricing Division of the NHS Business Services Authority and NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioining Group's internal model.
This forecast is based on 10 months actual prescribing data. Analysis of previous years data would suggest that there is no reason for this forecast to be materially different to
actual year-end prescribing results.
·
Following a ruling by the NHS Ombudsman, NHS W irral Clinical Commissioning Group is potentially liable for continuing healthcare restitution payments from W irral
residents who have previously been unsuccessful in obtaining continuing healthcare funding. Management have calculated a provision to reflect the likely cost of all known
restitution claims received during the financial year, following both IAS37, contingent liabilities and contingent assets' and the NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group's
accounting policy (note 1.21).

1.8

Revenue
Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs, and is measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable.
Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year, that income is deferred.

1.9

Employee Benefits

1.9.1

Short-term Employee Benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received from employees, including bonuses earned but not yet taken.
The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that employees are permitted to carry
forward leave into the following period.

1.9.2

Retirement Benefit Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers,
General Practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would
enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the
cost to NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group of participating in the scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is
charged to expenditure at the time NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.
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1.10

Other Expenses
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. They are measured at the fair value of the consideration
payable.
Expenses and liabilities in respect of grants are recognised when NHS W irral Clinical Commissioning Group has a present legal or constructive obligation, which occurs when
all of the conditions attached to the payment have been met.

1.11

Property, Plant & Equipment

1.11.1

Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:
·
It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;
·
It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to the NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group;
·
It is expected to be used for more than one financial year;
·
The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and,
·
The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or,
·
Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, where the assets are functionally interdependent, they
had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and are under single managerial control; or,
·
Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit, irrespective of their individual or collective cost.
Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset lives, the components are treated as separate assets and
depreciated over their own useful economic lives.

1.11.2

Valuation
All property, plant and equipment are measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly attributable to acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the location
and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. All assets are measured subsequently at fair value.
Land and buildings used for the NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group’s services or for administrative purposes are stated in the statement of financial position at their revalued amounts, being the fair value at the date of revaluation less any impairment.
Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that carrying amounts are not materially different from those that would be determined at the end of the reporting
period. Fair values are determined as follows:
·
Land and non-specialised buildings – market value for existing use; and,
·
Specialised buildings – depreciated replacement cost.
HM Treasury has adopted a standard approach to depreciated replacement cost valuations based on modern equivalent assets and, where it would meet the location
requirements of the service being provided, an alternative site can be valued.
Properties in the course of construction for service or administration purposes are carried at cost, less any impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees but not borrowing
costs, which are recognised as expenses immediately, as allowed by IAS 23 for assets held at fair value. Assets are re-valued and depreciation commences when they are
brought into use.
Fixtures and equipment are carried at depreciated historic cost as this is not considered to be materially different from current value in existing use.
An increase arising on revaluation is taken to the revaluation reserve except when it reverses an impairment for the same asset previously recognised in expenditure, in which
case it is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there. A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service
potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure.
Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported as
other comprehensive income in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure.

1.11.3

Subsequent Expenditure
Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly attributable cost is capitalised. Where subsequent expenditure restores the
asset to its original specification, the expenditure is capitalised and any existing carrying value of the item replaced is written-out and charged to operating expenses.

1.12

Intangible Assets

1.12.1

Recognition
Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance, which are capable of sale separately from the rest of NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group’s
business or which arise from contractual or other legal rights. They are recognised only:
·
When it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group;
·
Where the cost of the asset can be measured reliably; and,
·
Where the cost is at least £5,000.
Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at fair value. Software that is integral to the operating of hardware, for example an operating system, is capitalised
as part of the relevant item of property, plant and equipment. Software that is not integral to the operation of hardware, for example application software, is capitalised as an
intangible asset. Expenditure on research is not capitalised but is recognised as an operating expense in the period in which it is incurred. Internally-generated assets are
recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:
·
The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use;
·
The intention to complete the intangible asset and use it;
·
The ability to sell or use the intangible asset;
·
How the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits or service potential;
·
The availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the intangible asset and sell or use it; and,
·
The ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.

1.12.2

Measurement
The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when the criteria above are initially met. W here no
internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised, the expenditure is recognised in the period in which it is incurred.
Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at current value in existing use by reference to an active market, or, where no active market exists, at the lower of
depreciated replacement cost or the value in use where the asset is income generating . Internally-developed software is held at historic cost to reflect the opposing effects of
increases in development costs and technological advances.

1.13

Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairments
Freehold land, properties under construction, and assets held for sale are not depreciated.
Otherwise, depreciation and amortisation are charged to write off the costs or valuation of property, plant and equipment and intangible non-current assets, less any residual
value, over their estimated useful lives, in a manner that reflects the consumption of economic benefits or service potential of the assets. The estimated useful life of an asset is
the period over which NHS W irral Clinical Commissioning Group expects to obtain economic benefits or service potential from the asset. This is specific to NHS Wirral Clinical
Commissioning Group and may be shorter than the physical life of the asset itself. Estimated useful lives and residual values are reviewed each year end, with the effect of any
changes recognised on a prospective basis. Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their estimated useful lives.
At each reporting period end, NHS W irral Clinical Commissioning Group checks whether there is any indication that any of its tangible or intangible non-current assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If there is indication of an impairment loss, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine whether there has been a loss and, if so,
its amount. Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment annually.
A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent
that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to
expenditure. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of the recoverable amount but capped at
the amount that would have been determined had there been no initial impairment loss. The reversal of the impairment loss is credited to expenditure to the extent of the
decrease previously charged there and thereafter to the revaluation reserve.

1.14

Donated Assets
Donated non-current assets are capitalised at their fair value on receipt, with a matching credit to Income. They are valued, depreciated and impaired as described above for
purchased assets. Gains and losses on revaluations, impairments and sales are as described above for purchased assets. Deferred income is recognised only where conditions
attached to the donation preclude immediate recognition of the gain.

1.15

Government Grants
The value of assets received by means of a government grant are credited directly to income. Deferred income is recognised only where conditions attached to the grant
preclude immediate recognition of the gain.
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1.16

Non-current Assets Held For Sale
Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This
condition is regarded as met when:
·
The sale is highly probable;
·
The asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition; and,
·
Management is committed to the sale, which is expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification.
Non-current assets held for sale are measured at the lower of their previous carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. Fair value is open market value including alternative
uses.
The profit or loss arising on disposal of an asset is the difference between the sale proceeds and the carrying amount and is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Net
Expenditure. On disposal, the balance for the asset on the revaluation reserve is transferred to the general reserve.
Property, plant and equipment that is to be scrapped or demolished does not qualify for recognition as held for sale. Instead, it is retained as an operational asset and its
economic life is adjusted. The asset is de-recognised when it is scrapped or demolished.

1.17

Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating
leases.

1.17.1

NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessee
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at the inception of the lease, at fair value or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease
payments, with a matching liability for the lease obligation to the lessor. Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as
to achieve a constant rate on interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are recognised in calculating NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group’s
surplus/deficit.
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives are recognised initially as a liability and subsequently as
a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated and individually assessed as to whether they are operating or finance leases.

1.17.2

NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessor
Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as receivables at the amount of NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group’s net investment in the leases. Finance
lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group’s net investment outstanding in
respect of the leases.
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease
are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

1.18

Private Finance Initiative Transactions
HM Treasury has determined that government bodies shall account for infrastructure Private Finance Initiative (PFI) schemes where the government body controls the use of the
infrastructure and the residual interest in the infrastructure at the end of the arrangement as service concession arrangements, following the principles of the requirements of
IFRIC 12. NHS W irral Clinical Commissioning Group therefore recognises the PFI asset as an item of property, plant and equipment together with a liability to pay for it. The
services received under the contract are recorded as operating expenses.
The annual unitary payment is separated into the following component parts, using appropriate estimation techniques where necessary:
·
Payment for the fair value of services received;
·
Payment for the PFI asset, including finance costs; and,
·
Payment for the replacement of components of the asset during the contract ‘lifecycle replacement’.

1.18.1

Services Received
The fair value of services received in the year is recorded under the relevant expenditure headings within ‘operating expenses’.

1.18.2

PFI Asset
The PFI assets are recognised as property, plant and equipment, when they come into use. The assets are measured initially at fair value in accordance with the principles of
IAS17. Subsequently, the assets are measured at fair value, which is kept up to date in accordance with NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group’s approach for each relevant
class of asset in accordance with the principles of IAS 16.

1.18.3

PFI Liability
A PFI liability is recognised at the same time as the PFI assets are recognised. It is measured initially at the same amount as the fair value of the PFI assets and is
subsequently measured as a finance lease liability in accordance with IAS 17.
An annual finance cost is calculated by applying the implicit interest rate in the lease to the opening lease liability for the period, and is charged to ‘finance costs’ within the
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure.
The element of the annual unitary payment that is allocated as a finance lease rental is applied to meet the annual finance cost and to repay the lease liability over the contract
term.
An element of the annual unitary payment increase due to cumulative indexation is allocated to the finance lease. In accordance with IAS 17, this amount is not included in the
minimum lease payments, but is instead treated as contingent rent and is expensed as incurred. In substance, this amount is a finance cost in respect of the liability and the
expense is presented as a contingent finance cost in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure.

1.18.4

Lifecycle Replacement
Components of the asset replaced by the operator during the contract (‘lifecycle replacement’) are capitalised where they meet NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group’s
criteria for capital expenditure. They are capitalised at the time they are provided by the operator and are measured initially at their fair value.
The element of the annual unitary payment allocated to lifecycle replacement is pre-determined for each year of the contract from the operator’s planned programme of lifecycle
replacement. Where the lifecycle component is provided earlier or later than expected, a short-term finance lease liability or prepayment is recognised respectively. W here
the fair value of the lifecycle component is less than the amount determined in the contract, the difference is recognised as an expense when the replacement is provided.
If the fair value is greater than the amount determined in the contract, the difference is treated as a ‘free’ asset and a deferred income balance is recognised. The deferred
income is released to the operating income over the shorter of the remaining contract period or the useful economic life of the replacement component.

1.18.5

Assets Contributed by NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group to the Operator For Use in the Scheme
Assets contributed for use in the scheme continue to be recognised as items of property, plant and equipment in NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group’s Statement of
Financial Position.

1.18.6

Other Assets Contributed by NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group to the Operator
Assets contributed (e.g. cash payments, surplus property) by NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group to the operator before the asset is brought into use, which are intended
to defray the operator’s capital costs, are recognised initially as prepayments during the construction phase of the contract. Subsequently, when the asset is made available to
NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group, the prepayment is treated as an initial payment towards the finance lease liability and is set against the carrying value of the liability.

1.19

Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value using the first-in first-out cost formula. This is considered to be a reasonable approximation to fair value due to
the high turnover of stocks.

1.20

Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that mature in
3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.
In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and that form an integral part of NHS Wirral Clinical
Commissioning Group’s cash management.
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1.21

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that NHS
Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a
provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties. Where a
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows using HM Treasury’s discount rate as
·
Timing of cash flows (0 to 5 years inclusive): Minus 1.55% (2014-15: minus 1.50%)
·
Timing of cash flows (6 to 10 years inclusive): Minus 1% (2014-15: minus 1.05%)
·
Timing of cash flows (over 10 years): Minus 0.80% (2014-15: plus 2.20%)
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually
certain that reimbursements will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.
A restructuring provision is recognised when NHS W irral Clinical Commissioning Group has developed a detailed formal plan for the restructuring and has raised a valid
expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement the plan or announcing its main features to those affected by it. The measurement of
a restructuring provision includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are those amounts that are both necessarily entailed by the restructuring and
not associated with on-going activities of the entity.

1.22

Clinical Negligence Costs
The NHS Litigation Authority operates a risk pooling scheme under which NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority
which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to expenditure. Although the NHS Litigation Authority is administratively responsible for all
clinical negligence cases the legal liability remains with NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group.

1.23

Non-clinical Risk Pooling
NHS W irral Clinical Commissioning Group participates in the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk pooling schemes under which NHS W irral Clinical
Commissioning Group pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority and, in return, receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership
contributions, and any excesses payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.

1.24

Continuing healthcare risk pooling
In 2014-15 a risk pool scheme was introduced by NHS England for continuing healthcare claims and continues in 2015-16, for claim periods prior to 31 March 2013. Under the
scheme NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group contribute annually to a pooled fund, which is used to settle the claims.

1.25

Carbon Reduction Commitment Scheme
Carbon Reduction Commitment and similar allowances are accounted for as government grant funded intangible assets if they are not expected to be realised within twelve
months, and otherwise as other current assets. They are valued at open market value. As NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group makes emissions, a provision is
recognised with an offsetting transfer from deferred income. The provision is settled on surrender of the allowances. The asset, provision and deferred income amounts are valued
at fair value at the end of the reporting period.

1.26

Contingencies
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
uncertain future events not wholly within the control of NHS W irral Clinical Commissioning Group, or a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that a
payment will be required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured sufficiently reliably. A contingent liability is disclosed unless the possibility
of a payment is remote.
A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future
events not wholly within the control of NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group. A contingent asset is disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits is probable.
Where the time value of money is material, contingencies are disclosed at their present value.

1.27

Financial Assets
Financial assets are recognised when NHS W irral Clinical Commissioning Group becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in the case of trade receivables, when
the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights have expired or the asset has been transferred.
Financial assets are classified into the following categories:
·
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss;
·
Held to maturity investments;
·
Available for sale financial assets; and,
·
Loans and receivables.
The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

1.27.1

Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss
Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to their host contracts, and contracts with embedded derivatives whose separate value cannot be ascertained,
are treated as financial assets at fair value through profit and loss. They are held at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in calculating NHS W irral Clinical
Commissioning Group’s surplus or deficit for the year. The net gain or loss incorporates any interest earned on the financial asset.

1.27.2

Held to Maturity Assets
Held to maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity, and there is a positive intention and ability to hold to
maturity. After initial recognition, they are held at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment. Interest is recognised using the effective interest

1.27.3

Available For Sale Financial Assets
Available for sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available for sale or that do not fall within any of the other three financial asset
classifications. They are measured at fair value with changes in value taken to the revaluation reserve, with the exception of impairment losses. Accumulated gains or losses are
recycled to surplus/deficit on de-recognition.

1.27.4

Loans & Receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments which are not quoted in an active market. After initial recognition, they are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment. Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.
Fair value is determined by reference to quoted market prices where possible, otherwise by valuation techniques.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset, to the initial fair value of the financial
asset.
At the end of the reporting period, NHS W irral Clinical Commissioning Group assesses whether any financial assets, other than those held at ‘fair value through profit and loss’
are impaired. Financial assets are impaired and impairment losses recognised if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events which occurred after
the initial recognition of the asset and which has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the asset.
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
the revised future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. The loss is recognised in expenditure and the carrying amount of the asset is reduced
through a provision for impairment of receivables.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised,
the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through expenditure to the extent that the carrying amount of the receivable at the date of the impairment is reversed does
not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

1.28

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group becomes party to the contractual provisions of the
financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been received. Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the liability has been
discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has expired.
Loans from the Department of Health are recognised at historical cost. Otherwise, financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value.
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1.28.1

Financial Guarantee Contract Liabilities
Financial guarantee contract liabilities are subsequently measured at the higher of:
·
The premium received (or imputed) for entering into the guarantee less cumulative amortisation; and,
·
The amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined in accordance with IAS 37: Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets.

1.28.2

Financial Liabilities at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss
Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to their host contracts, and contracts with embedded derivatives whose separate value cannot be ascertained,
are treated as financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss. They are held at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in NHS W irral Clinical Commissioning
Group’s surplus/deficit. The net gain or loss incorporates any interest payable on the financial liability.

1.28.3

Other Financial Liabilities
After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, except for loans from Department of Health, which are
carried at historic cost. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the life of the asset, to the net carrying amount of
the financial liability. Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.

1.29

Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of NHS W irral Clinical Commissioning Group are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax on purchases is not
recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input
VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.

1.3

Foreign Currencies
NHS W irral Clinical Commissioning Group’s functional currency and presentational currency is sterling. Transactions denominated in a foreign currency are translated into
sterling at the exchange rate ruling on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
spot exchange rate on 31 March. Resulting exchange gains and losses for either of these are recognised in NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group’s surplus/deficit in the
period in which they arise.

1.31

Third Party Assets
Assets belonging to third parties (such as money held on behalf of patients) are not recognised in the accounts since NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group has no
beneficial interest in them.

1.32

Losses & Special Payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health service or passed legislation. By their nature they are
items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control procedures compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into different categories,
which govern the way that individual cases are handled.
Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses which would have been made good through
insurance cover had NHS W irral Clinical Commissioning Group not been bearing its own risks (with insurance premiums then being included as normal revenue expenditure).

1.33

Subsidiaries
Material entities over which NHS W irral Clinical Commissioning Group has the power to exercise control so as to obtain economic or other benefits are classified as
subsidiaries and are consolidated. Their income and expenses; gains and losses; assets, liabilities and reserves; and cash flows are consolidated in full into the appropriate
financial statement lines. Appropriate adjustments are made on consolidation where the subsidiary’s accounting policies are not aligned with NHS W irral Clinical
Commissioning Group or where the subsidiary’s accounting date is not co-terminus.
Subsidiaries that are classified as ‘held for sale’ are measured at the lower of their carrying amount or ‘fair value less costs to sell’.

1.34

Associates
Material entities over which NHS W irral Clinical Commissioning Group has the power to exercise significant influence so as to obtain economic or other benefits are classified
as associates and are recognised in NHS W irral Clinical Commissioning Group's accounts using the equity method. The investment is recognised initially at cost and is
adjusted subsequently to reflect NHS W irral Clinical Commissioning Group's share of the entity's profit/loss and other gains/losses. It is also reduced when any distribution is
received by NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group from the entity.

1.35

Joint Ventures
Material entities over which NHS W irral Clinical Commissioning Group has joint control with one or more other parties so as to obtain economic or other benefits are classified
as joint ventures. Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method.
Joint ventures that are classified as ‘held for sale’ are measured at the lower of their carrying amount or ‘fair value less costs to sell’.

1.36

Joint Operations
Joint operations are activities undertaken by NHS W irral Clinical Commissioning Group in conjunction with one or more other parties but which are not performed through a
separate entity. NHS W irral Clinical Commissioning Group records its share of the income and expenditure; gains and losses; assets and liabilities; and cash flows.

1.37

Research & Development
Research and development expenditure is charged in the year in which it is incurred, except insofar as development expenditure relates to a clearly defined project and the
benefits of it can reasonably be regarded as assured. Expenditure so deferred is limited to the value of future benefits expected and is amortised through the Statement of
Comprehensive Net Expenditure on a systematic basis over the period expected to benefit from the project. It should be re-valued on the basis of current cost. The amortisation
is calculated on the same basis as depreciation.

1.38

Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted
The Government Financial Reporting Manual does not require the following Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2015-16, all of which are subject to consultation:
·
IFRS 9: Financial Instruments
·
IFRS 14: Regulatory Deferral Accounts
·
IFRS 15: Revenue for Contract with Customers
The application of the Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the accounts for 2015-16, were they applied in that year.
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2 Other Operating Revenue

Education, training and research
Non-patient care services to other bodies
Other revenue
Total other operating revenue

2015-16
Total

2015-16
Admin

2015-16
Programme

2014-15
Total

£000

£000

£000

£000

60
36
728
824

0
0
35
35

124
34
310
468

60
36
693
789

Revenue in this note does not include resource allocation from NHS England, which is drawn directly into the bank account of NHS
Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group and credited to the General fund.
Admin revenue is revenue received that is not directly attributable to the provision of healthcare or healthcare services.
NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group revenue has increased from 2014/15. There are a number of factors relating to this
increase above last years revenue:
New Prescribing rebate schemes in 2015-16 totalling £149k
New Safeguarding Macmillian Income totalling £18k
NHS England GP Care Home Pilot Scheme totalling £54k
3 Revenue

From rendering of services
From sale of goods
Total

2015-16
Total
£000
824
0
824

2015-16
Admin
£000
35
0
35

2015-16
Programme
£000
789
0
789

2014-15
Total
£000
468
0
468
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4. Employee benefits and staff numbers
4.1.1 Employee benefits

2015-16

Total

Permanent
Employees
£000

Total
£000

Admin

Other
£000

Permanent
Employees
£000

Total
£000

Programme

Other
£000

Permanent
Employees
£000

Total
£000

Other
£000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Gross employee benefits expenditure

2,843
249
366
3,458

2,780
249
366
3,395

63
0
0
63

2,300
209
311
2,820

2,250
209
311
2,770

50
0
0
50

543
40
55
638

530
40
55
625

13
0
0
13

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.2)
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs

0
3,458

0
3,395

0
63

0
2,820

0
2,770

0
50

0
638

0
625

0
13

Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

0
3,458

0
3,395

0
63

0
2,820

0
2,770

0
50

0
638

0
625

0
13

4.1.1 Employee benefits

2014-15

Total

Permanent
Employees
£000

Total
£000

Admin

Other
£000

Permanent
Employees
£000

Total
£000

Programme

Other
£000

Permanent
Employees
£000

Total
£000

Other
£000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure

2,431
199
241
56
2,927

2,171
199
241
56
2,667

260
0
0
0
260

2,283
186
222
56
2,747

2,032
186
222
56
2,496

251
0
0
0
251

148
13
19
0
180

139
13
19
0
171

9
0
0
0
9

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.2)
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs

0
2,927

0
2,667

0
260

0
2,747

0
2,496

0
251

0
180

0
171

0
9

Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

0
2,927

0
2,667

0
260

0
2,747

0
2,496

0
251

0
180

0
171

0
9

Permanent employees have increased during 2015/16 due to services transfered in house from North W est Commissioning Support Unit.
Other' staff costs have significantly lowered due to the constitutional changes in 2014-15.

4.1.2 Recoveries in respect of employee benefits
NHS W irral Clinical Commissioning Group did not receive any recoveries in respect of employee benefits during the year ended 31 March 2016 (2014/2015 - nil).
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4.2 Average number of people employed
2015-16
Permanently
employed
Number

Total
Number
Medical and Dental
Administration and estates
Nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff
Total

2
66
5
73

2014-15
Other
Number

Total
Number

2
64
5
71

0
2
0
2

549
63
9

2014-15
Number
99
48
2

3
48
4
55

4.3 Staff sickness absence and ill health retirements
2015-16
Number
Total Days Lost
Total Staff Years
Average working Days Lost
Source: Department of health, figures based on 12 months of data.
There were no retirements due to ill health during the year ending 31 March 2016 (2014/2015 - nil).
4.4 Exit packages agreed in the financial year

£50,001 to £100,000
Total

2015-16
Other agreed departures
Number
£
0
0

2015-16
Total
Number
0
0

2014-15
Total
£

0
0

Number
0
0

1
1

£
56,306
56,306

Analysis of Other Agreed Departures
2015-16

Contractual payments in lieu of notice
Total

Other agreed departures
Number
£
0
0
-

2014-15
Other agreed departures
Number
£
1
56,306
1
56,306

These tables report the number and value of exit packages agreed in the financial year. The expense associated with these departures may have been
recognised in part or in full in a previous period. There were no exit packages agreed in 2015/16.

Exit costs are accounted for in accordance with relevant accounting standards and at the latest in full in the year of departure.

The Remuneration Report includes the disclosure of exit payments payable to individuals named in that Report.
4.5 Pension costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pension Scheme. Details of the benefits payable under these provisions can be found
on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/Pensions.
The Scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of
State, in England and W ales. The Scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme
assets and liabilities.
Therefore, the Scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the clinical commissioning group of participating in the
Scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the Scheme for the accounting period.
The Scheme is subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years (until 2004, every five years) and an accounting valuation every year. An outline of these
follows:
4.5.1 Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the Scheme (taking into account its recent demographic
experience), and to recommend the contribution rates to be paid by employers and scheme members. The last such valuation, which determined current
contribution rates was undertaken as at 31 March 2012 and covered the period from 1 April 2008 to that date. Details can be found on the pension scheme
website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.
For 2015-16, employers’ contributions of £379,115 were payable to the NHS Pensions Scheme (2014-15: £270,662) were payable to the NHS Pension
Scheme at the rate of 14.3% of pensionable pay. The scheme’s actuary reviews employer contributions, usually every four years and now based on HMT
Valuation Directions, following a full scheme valuation. The latest review used data from 31 March 2012 and was published on the Government website on 9
June 2014. The change in employer contribution will take effect from April 2015 and the employer contribution rate will move to 14.3%. These costs are
included in the NHS pension line of note 4.1.1.
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5. Operating expenses
2015-16
Total
£000
Gross employee benefits
Employee benefits excluding governing body members
Executive governing body members
Total gross employee benefits
Other costs
Services from other CCGs and NHS England
Services from foundation trusts
Services from other NHS trusts
Services from other NHS bodies
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies
Chair and Non Executive Members
Supplies and services – general
Consultancy services
Establishment
Transport
Premises
Impairments and reversals of receivables
Audit fees
Prescribing costs
Pharmaceutical services
General ophthalmic services
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS
Other professional fees excl. audit
Research and development (excluding staff costs)
Education and training
Provisions
CHC Risk Pool contributions
Total other costs

2015-16
Admin
£000

2,673

2015-16
Programme
£000

2,035
785
3,458

2014-15
Total
£000
638

785
2,820

2,063
0
638

864
2,927

4,817
279,415
67,762
1
68,468
203
736
74
640
11
603
3
81
60,491
126
79
4,293
342
0
66
102
887
489,200

Total operating expenses

492,658

878
7
62
0
0
203
75
11
158
8
511
0
81
0
0
0
0
170
0
32
0
0
2,196

3,939
279,408
67,700
1
68,468
0
661
63
482
3
92
3
0
60,491
126
79
4,293
172
0
34
102
887
487,004

5,016

487,642

Admin expenditure is not direct payments for the provision of healthcare or healthcare services.
The below explains the significant changes to individual categories between 2014/15 and 2015/16 for NHS Wirral Commissioning Group:
Increase in Purchase of Healthcare NON NHS due to Better Care Fund schemes and contribution paid to Local Authority.
Increase in Premises is due to the void space charges being incurred since Wirral Community Trust vacated the building October 2015.
Pharmaceutical Services has increase due to the 'Think Pharmacy' new piloted scheme.
Education and Training increase is linked to the Consortia Reconfiguration.

6.1 Better Payment Practice Code
Measure of compliance

2015-16
Number

2015-16
£000

2014-15
Number

2014-15
£000

Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target
Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target (95%)

9,953
9,722
97.68%

76,718
76,038
99.11%

10,065
9,933
98.69%

64,617
64,163
99.30%

NHS Payables
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target
Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target (95%)

2,975
2,943
98.92%

350,905
350,028
99.75%

3,142
3,091
98.38%

360,394
359,709
99.81%

6.2 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998
NHS W irral Clinical Commissioning Group did not incur any interest on the late payment of commercial debts during the year ending 31 March 2016 (2014/2015 - nil).

7 Income Generation Activities
NHS W irral Clinical Commissioning Group did not undertake any income generation activities in the year ending 31 March 2016 (2014/2015 - nil).

8. Investment revenue
NHS W irral Clinical Commissioning Group did not generate any investment revenue during the year ending 31 March 2016 (2014/2015 - nil).

9. Other gains and losses

NHS W irral Clinical Commissioning Group did not incur any other gains or losses during the year ending 31 March 2016 (2014/2015 - nil).

10. Finance costs
NHS W irral Clinical Commissioning Group did not incur any finance costs during the year ending 31 March 2016 (2014/2015 - nil).

11. Net gain/(loss) on transfer by absorption

NHS W irral Clinical Commissioning Group did not incur any gains or losses on transfer by absorption during the year ending 31 March 2016 (2014/2015 - nil).
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12. Operating Leases
12.1 As lessee
12.1.1 Payments recognised as an Expense

Payments recognised as an expense
Minimum lease payments
Total

Land
£000

Buildings
£000

0
0

518
518

2015-16
Other
£000

2014-15
Total
£000

Total
£000
1
1

519
519

95
95

NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group occupies property owned and managed by NHS Property Services Ltd.
Whilst our arrangements with NHS Property Services Limited fall within the definition of operating leases, rental charge for
future years has not yet been agreed . Consequently this note does not include future minimum lease payments for the
arrangements only
The increase in the building operating lease is due to void space charges being incurred since Wirral Community Trust vacated the
Old Market House in October 2015.

12.2 As lessor
NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group was not party to any agreements as a lessor during the year ending 31 March 2016 (2014/2015 - nil).

13 Property, plant and equipment
NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group did not hold any tangible non-current assets as at 31 March 2016 (2014/2015 - nil).
14 Intangible non-current assets
NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group did not hold any intangible non-current assets as at 31 March 2016 (2014/2015 - nil).
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15 Investment property
NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group did not hold any investment property as at 31 March 2016 (2014/2015 - nil).

16 Inventories
NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group did not hold any inventory as at 31 March 2016 (2014/2015 - nil).
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17 Trade and other receivables

Current
2015-16
£000

Non-current
2015-16
£000

Current
2014-15
£000

Non-current
2014-15
£000

NHS receivables: Revenue
NHS prepayments
NHS accrued income
Non-NHS receivables: Revenue
Non-NHS prepayments
Non-NHS accrued income
Provision for the impairment of receivables
VAT

685
1,193
284
1,578
15
91
(4)
11

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

339
1,764
310
1,072
208
284
(2)
19

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Other receivables
Total Trade & other receivables

0
3,853

0
0

2
3,996

0
0

Total current and non current

3,853

3,996

A significant amount of trade is with NHS England. As NHS England is funded by Government to provide funding to
clinical commissioning groups to commission services, no credit scoring for this organisation is considered necessary.

17.1 Receivables past their due date but not impaired

By up to three months
By three to six months
By more than six months
Total

2015-16
£000

2014-15
£000

1,020
18
124
1,162

124
33
2
159

£478k of the amount above has subsequently been recovered post the statement of financial position date.
NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group did not hold any collateral against receivables outstanding as at 31 March 2016
(2014/15 - nil).

17.2 Provision for impairment of receivables

2015-16
£000

2014-15
£000

Balance at 01-April-2015

(2)

0

Amounts recovered during the year
(Increase) decrease in receivables impaired
Balance at 31-March-2016

2
(4)
(4)

0
(2)
(2)

NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group did not hold any collateral against receivables impaired as at 31 March 2016 (2014/15nil).
2014-15
2015-16
£000
£000
Receivables are provided against at the following rates:
NHS debt
0%
0%
NON NHS exc Government >60 Days
50%
50%
NON NHS exc Government >120 Days
100%
100%
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18 Other financial assets
NHS W irral Clinical Commissioning Group did not hold any Other Financial Assets as at 31 March 2016 (2014/2015 - nil).

19 Other current assets
NHS W irral Clinical Commissioning Group did not hold any Other Current Assets as at 31 March 2016 (2014/2015 - nil).

20 Cash and cash equivalents
2015-16
£000
20
(13)
7

2014-15
£000
21
(1)
20

Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position

7
7

20
20

Bank overdraft: Government Banking Service
Bank overdraft: Commercial banks
Total bank overdrafts

0
0
0

0
0
0

Balance at 31-March-2016

7

20

Balance at 01-April-2015
Net change in year
Balance at 31-March-2016

21 Non-current assets held for sale
NHS W irral Clinical Commissioning Group did not hold any non-current assets for sale as at 31 March 2016 (2014/2015 - nil).

22 Analysis of impairments and reversals
NHS W irral Clinical Commissioning Group did not have any impairments or reversals during the year ending 31 March 2016 (2014/2015 - nil).

23 Trade and other payables

Current
2015-16
£000

NHS payables: revenue
NHS accruals
Non-NHS payables: revenue
Non-NHS accruals
Non-NHS deferred income
Social security costs
Tax
Other payables
Total Trade & Other Payables

4,772
1,601
1,695
17,266
2
47
51
520
25,954

Total current and non-current

25,954

Non-current
2015-16
£000

Current
2014-15
£000

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

1,013
3,642
2,732
15,214
0
42
61
89
22,794

Non-current
2014-15
£000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

22,794

Other payables include £66k outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2016.
24 Other financial liabilities
NHS W irral Clinical Commissioning Group did not have any Other Financial Liabilities as at 31 March 2016 (2014/2015 - nil).
25 Other liabilities
NHS W irral Clinical Commissioning Group did not have any Other Liabilities as at 31 March 2016 (2014/2015 - nil).
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26 Borrowings
NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group did not have any borrowings during the year ended 31 March 2016 (2014/2015 - nil).

27 Private finance initiative, LIFT and other service concession arrangements
NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group has not entered into any PFI or NHS LIFT arrangements during the year ended 31 March 2016
(2014/2015 - nil).

28 Finance lease obligations
NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group has not entered into any finance lease arrangements during the year ended 31 March 2016
(2014/2015 - nil).

29 Finance lease receivables
As at 31 March 2016, NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group has not entered into any finance lease arrangements as a lessor.

30 Provisions
Current
2015-16
£000
Pensions relating to former directors
Pensions relating to other staff
Restructuring
Redundancy
Agenda for change
Equal pay
Legal claims
Continuing care
Other
Total

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
162
0
162

Total current and non-current

162

Non-current
2015-16
£000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Current
2014-15
£000

Non-current
2014-15
£000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
60
0
60

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

60
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Pensions
Relating to
Former
Directors
£000s

Pensions
Relating to
Other Staff
£000s

Restructuring
£000s

Agenda for
Change
£000s

Redundancy
£000s

Equal Pay
£000s

Continuing
Care
£000s

Legal Claims
£000s

Other
£000s

Total
£000s

Balance at 01-April-2015

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

60

0

60

Arising during the year
Utilised during the year
Reversed unused
Unwinding of discount
Change in discount rate
Transfer (to) from other public sector body
Balance at 31-March-2016

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

102
0
0
0
0
0
162

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

102
0
0
0
0
0
162

Expected timing of cash flows:
Within one year
Between one and five years
After five years
Balance at 31-March-2016

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

162
0
0
162

0
0
0
0

162
0
0
162

In 2015-16 NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group made a provision of £102,000 (2014/15 - £60,000) has been included in respect of the potential costs of restitution payments arising after 1 April 2013 resulting from the NHS Ombudsman's ruling of
continuing healthcare. The provision has been calculated in line with the clinical commissioning group's accounting policies (see note 1.7.2, key source of estimation uncertainty and provisions).
NHS England is responsible for accounting for liabilities relating to NHS Continuing Healthcare claims relating to periods of care before 1 April 2013, the date on which NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning group was established. The total value of legacy
NHS Continuing Healthcare provisions accounted for by NHS England on behalf of NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning group at 31 March 2016 is £4,694,000 (2014/2015 - £4,772,071). See note 1.24.
Legal claims are calculated from the number of claims currently lodged with the NHS Litigation Authority and the probabilities provided by them, there were no claims lodged against NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group during the year ended 31
March 2016 (2014/2015 - nil)

31 Contingencies
NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group has not agreed any contingencies as at 31 March 2016 (2014/2015 - nil).
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32 Capital commitments
NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group did not have any capital commitments as at 31 March 2016 (2014/2015 - nil).

33 Financial instruments
33.1 Financial risk management
Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in creating
or changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.
Because NHS Clinical Commissioning Group is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of financial
risk faced by business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be
typical of listed companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The clinical commissioning group has limited
powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather
than being held to change the risks facing the clinical commissioning group in undertaking its activities.
Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within the NHS
Clinical Commissioning Group standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is subject
to review by the NHS Clinical Commissioning Group and internal auditors.
33.1.1 Currency risk
The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and
liabilities being in the UK and sterling based. The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group has no overseas operations. The NHS Clinical
Commissioning Group and therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.
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33.1.2 Interest rate risk
The Clinical Commissioning Group borrows from government for capital expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed by NHS
England. The borrowings are for 1 to 25 years, in line with the life of the associated assets, and interest is charged at the National
Loans Fund rate, fixed for the life of the loan. The clinical commissioning group therefore has low exposure to interest rate
fluctuations.
33.1.3 Credit risk
Because the majority of the NHS Clinical Commissioning Group and revenue comes parliamentary funding, NHS Clinical
Commissioning Group has low exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables
from customers, as disclosed in the trade and other receivables note.
33.1.4 Liquidity risk
NHS Clinical Commissioning Group is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed from
resources voted annually by Parliament. The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group draws down cash to cover expenditure, as the
need arises. The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.
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33 Financial instruments cont'd
33.2 Financial assets
At ‘fair value
through profit
and loss’
2015-16
£000
Embedded derivatives
Receivables:
·
NHS
·
Non-NHS
Cash at bank and in hand
Other financial assets
Total at 31-March-2016

Loans and
Receivables
2015-16
£000

Total
2015-16
£000

0

0

0

0

0
0
0
0
0

970
1,669
7
0
2,646

0
0
0
0
0

970
1,669
7
0
2,646

At ‘fair value
through profit and
loss’
2014-15
£000
Embedded derivatives
Receivables:
·
NHS
·
Non-NHS
Cash at bank and in hand
Other financial assets
Total at 31-March-2016

Available for
Sale
2015-16
£000

Loans and
Receivables
2014-15
£000

Available for
Sale
2014-15
£000

Total
2014-15
£000

0

0

0

0

0
0
0
0
0

339
1,072
20
2
1,433

0
0
0
0
0

339
1,072
20
2
1,433

100

33.3 Financial liabilities
At ‘fair value
through profit
and loss’
2015-16
£000
Embedded derivatives
Payables:
·
NHS
·
Non-NHS
Private finance initiative, LIFT and finance lease obligations
Other borrowings
Other financial liabilities
Total at 31-March-2016

0

0

0

0
0
0
0
0
0

6,373
19,480
0
0
0
25,853

6,373
19,480
0
0
0
25,853

At ‘fair value
through profit and
loss’
2014-15
£000
Embedded derivatives
Payables:
·
NHS
·
Non-NHS
Private finance initiative, LIFT and finance lease obligations
Other borrowings
Other financial liabilities
Total at 31-March-2016

Total
2015-16
£000

Other
2015-16
£000

Other
2014-15
£000

Total
2014-15
£000

0

0

0

0
0
0
0
0
0

4,655
18,305
0
0
0
22,960

4,655
18,305
0
0
0
22,960
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34 Operating segments
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) require financial performance to be analysed across key decision
making segments. NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group only have one segment: commissioning of healthcare
services.

35 Pooled budgets
The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group shares of the income and expenditure handled by the pooled budget in the
financial year were:
2015-16
£000
Income
Expenditure

0
19,129

2014-15
£000
0
0

In 2015-16 NHS W irral Clinical Commissioning Group entered into a s75 Agreement with the host W irral Council inline with the
Government Initiative Better Care Fund. The above figure is NHS W irral Clinical Commissioning Groups contribution to the pooled fund.
The total expenditure of the joint pool is £27m.
36 NHS Lift investments
NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group had no LIFT investments as at 31 March 2016 (2014/2015 - nil).
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37 Related party transactions
Details of related party transactions with individuals are as follows:
Payments to
Related Party
2015-16
£000
Dr Abinandan Mantgani (Chief Clinical Officer) - Miriam Medical Centre
Dr Abinandan Mantgani (Chief Clinical Officer) - Earlston & Seabank Medic
Dr Abinandan Mantgani (Chief Clinical Officer) - Miriam Primary Care Grou
Dr Philip Jennings (Chair) - West Wirral Group Practice
Dr Peter Naylor (Chair) - St Georges Medical Centre
Dr John Oates (Consortia Chair) - Parkfield Medical Centre
Dr Mark Green (Consortia Chair) - St Hilary Group Practice
Dr Hannah McKay (GP Representative) - Moreton Medical Centre
Dr Akhtar Ali (GP Representative) - Hoylake Road Medical Centre
Dr David Jones (GP Representative) - Heswall & Pensby Group Practice
Dr Susan Wells (Medical Director) - Marine Lake Medical Centre
Dr Paula Cowan (Clinical Lead) - Eastham Group Practice
Dr Lax Ariaraj (Clinical Lead) - Claughton Medical Centre
Dr Sian Stokes (Clinical Lead) - The Village Medical Centre
Dr Simon Delaney (Clinical Lead) - Sunlight Group Practice

Receipts from
Related Party
2015-16
£000
0
0
0
0
609
0
0
0
0
0
354
225
590
141
146

Amounts owed to
Related Party
2015-16
£000

0
0
0
0
(4)
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
(10)
0
(1)

Amounts due from
Related Party
2015-16
£000

0
0
0
0
10
0
0
0
0
0
45
19
18
9
14

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Payments to
Related Party
2014-15
£000
154
91
681
377
262
91
65
94
83
276
377
0
0
0
0

These transactions predominately relate to prescribing reimbursements and locally enhanced services.
The transactions do not include contractual income in relation to general or primary medical services for GP's, these payments are the
responsibility of NHS England.
All consortia transactions are subject to prior approval through the Clinical Commissioning Group approvals committee.
All locally enhanced service payments are subject to annual sign up from each practice, each scheme is prior approved via the Clinical
Commissioning Group approvals committee

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year the clinical commissioning group has had a significant number of
material transactions with entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. These entities are listed below:
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• NHS England;
• NHS Foundation Trusts;
Aintree University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
Alder Hey Childrens NHS Foundation Trust
Central Manchester University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
Cheshire And Wirral Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
Clatterbridge Cancer Centre NHS Foundation Trust
Countess Of Chester Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Liverpool Heart And Chest NHS Foundation Trust
Liverpool Womens Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Salford Royal NHS Foundation Trust
South Staffordshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust
St Helens And Knowsley Hospitals NHS Trust
University Hospital Of South Manchester NHS Foundation Trust
Warrington And Halton Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
Wirral University Teaching Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Wrightington, Wigan & Leigh Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
• NHS Trusts;
Liverpool Community Health NHS Trust
North West Ambulance Service NHS Trust
Royal Liverpool Broadgreen Hospitals NHS Trust
Wirral Community NHS Trust
• NHS Litigation Authority; and,
• NHS Business Services Authority.
Cheshire and Merseyside Commissioning Support Unit
In addition, the clinical commissioning group has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other central
and local government bodies. Most of these transactions have been with W irral Metropolitan Borough Council in respect of joint funded
packages of care.
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38 Events after the end of the reporting period
There are no post balance sheet events which will have a material effect on the financial statements of NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group or the
consolidated group.

39.1 Losses
NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group did not incur any losses in the year ended 31 March 2016 (2014/15 - nil).

39.2 Special payments

Ex gratia payments
Total

Total Number of
Cases
2015-16
Number
0
0

Total Value of
Cases
2015-16
£'000

Total Number of
Cases
2014-15
Number
0
0

Total Value of
Cases
2014-15
£'000
0
0

0
0

There were no special payments made in 2015/16 (2014/15 - nil).

40 Third party assets
NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group did not hold any third party assets as at 31 March 2016 (2014/15 - nil).
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41 Financial performance targets
NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).
NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group's performance against those duties is tabled below.

41.1 Financial performance targets
Expenditure not to exceed income
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions

2015-16
Target
491,198
490,411

2015-16
Performance
492,621
491,834

7,446

7,147

Target
2015-16
£000
490,411
485,588
(4,823)

Performance
2015-16
£000
490,411
491,834
1,423

Duty Met
N
N

2014-15
Target
473,553
473,085

2014-15
Performance
471,051
470,584

Y

7,929

7,750

Target
2014-15
£000
473,085
468,403
(4,682)

Performance
2014-15
£000
473,085
470,584
(2,501)

41.2 Financial Outturn Position

Total Resource
Total Expenditure
(Surplus) / Deficit

42 Impact of IFRS
There was no IFRS impact on the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2016 (2014/2015 - nil).

43 Analysis of charitable reserves
NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group does not administer or hold any charitable funds / reserves.
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APPENDIX A – DECLARATION OF INTERESTS
A copy of the declaration of interests is available on the CCG’s website, and is also included
below:
https://www.wirralccg.nhs.uk/Downloads/AboutUs/WhosWho/Register%20of%20Interests%20
2015%2016%20Version%20Updated%20February%202016.pdf
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APPENDIX B – Biographies of Governing Body Members
Position

Name

Start Date with
Wirral CCG

Sex

Accountable
Officer

Jonathan
Develing

04/05/2015

Male

Chair

Dr Pete Naylor

01/04/2013

Male

Chief Financial
Officer

Mike Treharne
prior to this Mark
Bakewell

01/02/2016

Male

Director of
Corporate Affairs

Paul Edwards

01/05/2013

Male

Director of
Quality and
Patient Safety

Lorna Quigley

01/04/2013

Female

Director of
Commissioning

Nesta Hawker

20/07/2015

Female

Medical Director

Dr Sue Wells

01/04/2013

Female

Secondary Care
Doctor

Dr Arpan Guha

01/09/2015

Male

Registered
Nurse

Lesley Doherty

01/10/2015

Female

GP Membership
Council
Representative

Dr Sean
Magennis

01/08/2015

Male

Lay Member –
Quality and
Outcomes

Alastair Cannon

01/06/2015

Male

Lay Member –
Patient
Champion

James Kay

01/04/2013

Male

Lay Member –
Audit and
Governance

Alan Whittle

01/06/2015

Male

GP Executive
Lead – Long
Term Conditions

Dr Sian Stokes

01/05/2015

Female

GP Executive
Lead –
Unplanned Care

Dr Paula Cowan

01/05/2015

Female

GP Executive
Lead – Primary
Care

Dr Simon
Delaney

01/05/2015

Male

GP Executive
Lead – Planned

Dr Laxman

01/05/2015

Male
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Care

Ariaraj

Public Health
Representative
(Local Authority)

Fiona Johnstone

01/04/2013

Female

Adult Social
Services
Representative
(Local Authority)

Graham
Hodkinson

01/04/2013

Male

Jonathan Develing, Accountable Officer
Jonathan Develing began his NHS career in 1980 and has a clinical background in both
general and psychiatric nursing at Clatterbridge and Withington Hospitals. After moving into
health management he was responsible for developing quality specifications and care
standards before becoming involved in contract management as a Director of Contracts for
South Cheshire Health Authority.
He became Director of Commissioning for North Cheshire in 2003, before being appointed
Director of Specialised Commissioning for Cheshire and Merseyside PCTs. In October 2006
Jonathan was appointed as Chief Officer of the North West Specialised Commissioning Team.
He has led the National High Secure commissioning team and was responsible for the
transition of specialised commissioning across the North region to NHS England.
Jonathan was appointed as Regional Director of Operations and Delivery for NHS England
(North) in October 2012 and has since started working at NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning
Group as Chief Officer at the beginning of May 2015.
Dr Pete Naylor, Chair
Pete Naylor qualified in Medicine from Sheffield University and moved to Wirral in 1997. He
has been a GP in St George’s Medical Centre in Wallasey since 1999. He worked on the
Professional Executive Committee for Wirral PCT before becoming Assistant Clinical Chair for
Wirral CCG. He became Chair in 2015 after being interim Chair the preceding year.
His other current roles includes working for NICE in their Diagnostics arm, being a member of
Cheshire and Merseyside Senate Council and a member of the Youth Justice Management
Board.
Mike Treharne, Chief Financial Officer
Mike Treharne is a finance professional with some 32 years experience in the NHS.
He has been a Director of Finance within the North West for some 17 years, and has worked
extensively across the NHS at a very senior finance level in PCTs, District Health Authorities,
University Teaching Hospitals, DGH’s and community trusts/FT in Wales, West Suffolk,
West Cumbria, St Helens & Knowsley, and Wigan.
He has completed the NHS Leadership Centre and Kings Fund Executive Director
Development Programme: undertaken applied study tours to Berkeley and Harvard
Universities; and visited Melbourne Australia to compare health services in the Victoria State.
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Paul Edwards, Director of Corporate Affairs
Paul has worked in the NHS since 1993 in variety of roles, including management positions in
Business Development, Primary Care Contacting, Commissioning and clinical services
provision. He holds an Honours degree, post graduate qualifications in Health Economics and
a Masters in Business Administration.
Paul’s current role as ‘Director of Corporate Affairs’ involves leading on all aspects of
corporate governance and ensuring that the CCG’s business is undertaken to the highest
standards of probity and according to statutory and regulatory requirements. He is the CCG’s
lead for Emergency Planning and Business Continuity, Workforce, Communications and
Engagement, Risk Management and the CCG’s Compliance Team.
Lorna Quigley, Director of Quality and Patient Safety
Lorna commenced her NHS career 28 years ago whilst training as a Nurse at Walton and
Fazakerley Hospitals. Lorna then went on to various other roles within the voluntary sector
and NHS within general management, acute hospital trusts, primary care trust and now NHS
Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group.
Lorna’s previous roles have included Assistant Director of Service Development, Lead Nurse
and other performance related roles.
Lorna’s current role at the CCG is Director of Quality & Patient Safety and this involves
monitoring the quality of services that are commissioned by the CCG against agreed
standards, responsibility as Executive Lead for Safeguarding Children and Vulnerable Adults
and is also the lead for infection, prevention and control.
Nesta Hawker, Director of Commissioning
Nesta joined the NHS 27 years ago as a student mental health nurse in North Wales. Since
completing her nurse training Nesta has had a variety of roles within the NHS including
various nursing roles, general management with a multi-agency substance misuse team and
commissioning both on a regional and national basis. She completed her Masters in Health
Service Management in South Wales in 2007. Most recently, Nesta’s role was involved in
commissioning of specialised services on a national basis.
As Director of Commissioning her current responsibilities include leading on the development
of the strategic plan of the Clinical Commissioning Group by reviewing the needs of the people
of Wirral and by working with partners to deliver the health services to meet these needs. She
is involved in the planning, delivery, agreement and monitoring of the majority of the health
services and their outcomes received by the population of the Wirral.
Dr Sue Wells, Medical Director
Dr Wells started life in the Midlands, graduated from Cambridge in 1982 and progressed by
completing Vocational Training for General Practice in Chester.
Sue moved to Wirral in 1987 to become a GP principal in a practice in West Kirby where she
continues to undertake clinical work as a GP.
In her early years as a GP Sue was involved with activities for the Royal College of GPs in
Mersey Faculty and nationally over 9 years. She developed an interest in Diabetes, working
as a Clinical Assistant in Diabetes in Wirral University Teaching Hospital for 13 years .She

110

also developed an interest in education becoming a GP trainer facilitating the education of
doctors who wish to become GPs
Sue took on a management role when she was elected to the Board of Wirral Health
Commissioning Consortium in 2011 and a GP executive on the Wirral CCG Governing Body.
She became deputy chair of WHCC.
She was elected as Medical Director of Wirral CCG in February 2015.
Dr Arpan Guha, Secondary Care Doctor
Arpan is Professor and head of the Postgraduate School of Medicine at Liverpool University
and an Associate Medical Director at the Royal Liverpool & Broadgreen University Hospitals
NHS Trust. He is clinically a Consultant in Critical Care Medicine. His works closely with
several national and regional bodies in the NHS to promote patient safety and is especially
interested in capacity building of safety and quality through education. He is on the steering
committee of the Mersey and Cheshire Quality Improvement Network and is a core member of
the Northwest Coast Academic Health Sciences Network's Patient Safety Collaborative. is
passionate about high quality leadership in the NHS, having personally benefited from
education from Harvard and Cornell Universities and the World Bank Institute. His own
leadership ability was recognised by an NHS Leadership Recognition award in 2015.
Lesley Doherty, Registered Nurse
Lesley qualified as an RN in 1979 and RM in 1980. She became a Director of Nursing in 1998
and undertook a secondment to the DH leading on nursing recruitment and retention. Moving
to Bolton Hospitals NHS Trust as Director of Nursing in 2003 she became CEO in 2010
developing a national and internal reputation for lean in healthcare.
Lesley has held national roles as Chair of the Neonatal Nursing Association, regional lead for
the National Leadership Programme, a member of the DH’s National HCAI Prevention
Advisory Group 2006/9 and one of the Clinical Advisors on the NHS Constitution. Lesley now
works in consultancy and coaching support and is the Lay Member / Registered Nurse for
Wirral CCG.
Dr Sean Magennis, GP Membership Council Representative
Dr Magennis is a practicing GP on the Wirral who qualified from Liverpool University in 1983.
He has been a GP at Manor Health Centre in Wallasey since 1987 and has held roles with the
Local Medical Committee and the Medical Audit Advisory Group. He was elected by members
to represent GP practices as Chair of the Members Council and a voting member of the
Governing Body.
Alastair Cannon, Lay Member – Quality and Outcomes
Alastair Cannon started his career as a cardiac technician in Plymouth in the 1970s then
worked in a variety of roles in the private and charitable sector before returning to the public
sector as a regulator in the 1990s. He then worked in a number of senior governance and
regulatory roles with national regulatory bodies including the the Health & Safety Executive,
the Food Standards Agency, the Healthcare Commission and most recently with the Care
Quality Commission during which he chaired a variety of cross government committees and
groups aiming to improve the quality of regulation, especially in health and social care.
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Work brought Alastair to the Wirral during the 1990s and Alastair relocated back here in 2014.
He continues to work as a occasional Special Advisor to the CQC, providing on site quality
and corporate governance expertise on large scale hospital inspections.
He also has a number of other regulatory and quality assurance roles, including with the
Institute of Chartered Accountants and holds a range of professional qualifications in
regulation, governance, finance and management.
James Kay, Lay Member – Patient Champion
James Kay moved to Wirral in 1989 with his private sector company Healthwise to establish
the UK’s National Drugs, AIDs and Alcohol Helplines within a new base in Liverpool. James
has held various senior management positions in public, private and third sector organisations
over the last thirty years.
He joined Wirral Primary Care Trust as a Non-Executive Director in 2006 and became the
Chairman of the Trust in 2010, until it was abolished as part of the government’s health
service reforms. James is currently the Chair of Wirral Clinical Commissioning Groups Audit
Committee, Approvals Committee and Remuneration Committee.
James is also a Chartered Director, a Fellow of the Chartered Management Institute and of
the Institute of Directors.
Alan Whittle, Lay Member – Audit and Governance
Alan’s professional background is in finance, and he has been a member of the Chartered
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) since 1977. He has spent his entire
career in the public services, beginning with 16 years in a variety of finance roles in Local
Authorities, before moving to the NHS in 1988.
He retired from the position of Chief Executive at an NHS Foundation Trust in Essex in 2013.
His key skills and interests are in financial management, corporate governance, business
strategy, board development and regulatory compliance.
Alan has 23 years’ experience at Board level in NHS acute hospitals, 13 as Finance Director
and 10 as CEO, and includes in his achievements the successful leadership of the application
to become a first wave Foundation Trust in 2004, and overseeing the delivery of statutory
financial duties for 23 consecutive years. Alan has led on all aspects of NHS service
developments including the establishment of the £60 million regional Essex Cardiothoracic
Centre in 2007.
Alan has family roots in Liverpool and moved to Merseyside from Essex in 2015. He was
appointed as Lay Member (Audit and Governance) for Wirral CCG in June 2015.
Dr Sian Stokes, GP Executive Lead – Long Term Conditions
Dr Stokes graduated from St George’s Hospital Medical School, London in 1998. She moved
to Manchester in 2000 to complete her vocational training in General Practice. In 2007, Sian
moved to the Wirral and took up a partnership at Grove Medical Centre in Wallasey, which
has recently merged to become The Village Medical Centre.
In addition to her work as a practising GP, Sian has an interest in GP education and works as
a GP trainer. In 2012 she was elected to the Board of Wirral Health Commissioning
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Consortium. During this role she undertook work with the GP training forum as well as chairing
the Wallasey ‘cluster’ group of GP’s.
In 2015 Sian was appointed as the Clinical Lead for Long Term Conditions for Wirral CCG.
Dr Simon Delaney, GP Executive Lead – Primary Care
Dr Delaney grew up on Wirral. He was an undergraduate at Nottingham University before
returning to Wirral for his GP training.
He has been a partner at Parkfield Medical Centre for 11 years. He is also a GP trainer and
appraiser.
Outside of medicine, he is a keen golfer, cricketer and Evertonian.
Dr Laxman Ariaraj, GP Executive Lead – Planned Care
Dr Laxman Ariaraj trained at the University of Sheffield Medical School and, after working in
hospital specialities in Sheffield, Warrington and in Queensland, Australia, he returned to
complete GP training in Liverpool. He became a member of the Royal College of General
Practioners and then joined the team at Claughton Medical Centre in Birkenhead, where he is
a GP partner providing General Medical Care, Minor Surgery and Family Planning advice.
He is a GP trainer and the practice lead for Child Health. He also works as an Upper
Gastrointestinal Endoscopist at Arrowe Park Hospital.
In May 2015, Dr Ariaraj took up the post as Wirral CCG Clinical Lead for Planned Care. He
sits on the Governing Body and Systems Resilience Group and works closely with colleagues
in several areas of health care.
Dr Paula Cowan, GP Executive Lead – Unplanned Care
Having qualified in 1995 from the Royal College of Surgeons, Dublin, Dr Cowan practiced in
Internal Medicine, Critical Care, and Anaesthesia within Ireland. In 2001, she embarked on a
career in Primary care, and completed General Practice training through the Mersey Deanery.
Dr Cowan has been a GP partner at the Eastham Group Practice since 2003.
Dr Cowan has been involved in Wirral CCG activity since 2010, as Executive Board member
for Wirral Health Commissioning Consortium, and also as Urgent Care lead for Wirral Health
Commissioning Consortium since 2012.
She was, until this recent appointment, an active Wirral LMC committee member, and held the
position of vice chair from 2007-2013.
In this role as Clinical Lead for Urgent Care, Dr Cowan is responsible for optimising the
healthcare framework for those with urgent care needs.
Fiona Johnstone, Public Health Representative (Local Authority)
Fiona Johnstone has been a Director of Public Health since May 2002, coming to post in
Wirral at the end of September 2010.
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She is responsible for monitoring and improving the health status of local people, advising on
strategies to reduce inequalities, identifying health needs, developing programmes to reduce
risk and the provision of public health evidence and expertise to support commissioning of
services.
She has a particular interest in health inequalities, having conducted one of the first equity
audits in the country, as well as considerable experience of working in primary care and Local
Authority settings, as well as in the academic sector.
Fiona has worked jointly between the local authority and the NHS on Wirral since September
2010. NHS Reform means that she is now jointly appointed by the local authority and Public
Health England.
Graham Hodkinson, Adult Social Services Representative (Local Authority)
Graham was born and educated in Wirral. He moved away in 1990 to pursue a career in
Social Work. He moved back to Wirral with his family in 2012 to take on the role of Director of
Adult Social Services. He has considerable experience of working at the interface between
health and social care in both acute and community focused services.
Graham has been leading the Transformation of social care and the integration workstream of
Vision 2018.

114

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE GOVERNING BODY
OF NHS WIRRAL CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP
We have audited the financial statements of NHS Wirral CCG for the year ended 31 March
2016 under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (the "Act"). The financial statements
comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, the Statement of Financial
Position, the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers' Equity, the Statement of Cash Flows and
the related notes. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their
preparation is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as
adopted by the European Union, and as interpreted and adapted by the 2015/16
Government Financial Reporting Manual (the 2015/16 FReM) as contained in the
Department of Health Group Manual for Accounts 2015/16 (the 2015/16 MfA) and the
Accounts Direction issued by the NHS Commissioning Board with the approval of the
Secretary of State as relevant to the National Health Service in England (the Accounts
Direction).
We have also audited the information in the Remuneration and Staff Report that is subject to
audit, being:
• the table of salaries and allowances of senior managers and related narrative notes
on pages 42 to 44,
• the table of pension benefits of senior managers and related narrative notes on page
45,
• the analysis of staff numbers and related narrative notes on page 48, and
• the pay multiples disclosure on page 46.
This report is made solely to the members of the Governing Body of NHS Wirral CCG, as a
body, in accordance with Part 5 of the Act and as set out in paragraph 43 of the Statement of
Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies published by Public Sector Audit
Appointments Limited. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the
members of the Governing Body of the CCG those matters we are required to state to them
in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do
not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the CCG and the members of the
Governing Body of the CCG, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions
we have formed.
Respective responsibilities of the Accountable Officer and auditor
As explained more fully in the Statement of Accountable Officer's Responsibilities, the
Accountable Officer is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being
satisfied that they give a true and fair view and is also responsible for ensuring the regularity
of expenditure and income. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the
financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing
(UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board's
Ethical Standards for Auditors. We are also responsible for giving an opinion on the regularity
of expenditure and income in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice prepared
by the Comptroller and Auditor General as required by the Act (the "Code of Audit Practice").

As explained in the Annual Governance Statement the Accountable Officer is responsible for
the arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of the CCG's
resources. We are required under Section 21 (1)(c) of the Act to be satisfied that the CCG
has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use
of resources and to report our opinion as required by Section 21(4)(b) of the Act.
We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the CCG's
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources are
operating effectively.
Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from
material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of:
whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the CCG's circumstances and have been
consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by the Accountable Officer; and the overall presentation of the financial
statements. In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Annual
Report to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to
identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially
inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If we
become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the
implications for our report.
In addition, we are required to obtain evidence sufficient to give reasonable assurance that
the expenditure and income recorded in the financial statements have been applied to the
purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the authorities
which govern them.
Scope of the review of arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in the use of resources
We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having
regard to the guidance on the specified criteria, issued by the Comptroller and Auditor
General in November 2015, as to whether the CCG had proper arrangements to ensure it
took properly informed decisions and deployed resources to achieve planned and
sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people. The Comptroller and Auditor General
determined these criteria as that necessary for us to consider under the Code of Audit
Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the CCG put in place proper arrangements for
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31
March 2016, and to report by exception where we are not satisfied.
We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk
assessment, we undertook such work as we considered necessary to form a view on
whether, in all significant respects, the CCG had put in place proper arrangements to secure
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements:
give a true and fair view of the financial position of NHS Wirral CCG as at 31 March
2016 and of its expenditure and income for the year then ended; and
have been prepared properly in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European
Union, as interpreted and adapted by the 2015/16 FReM as contained in the 2015/16
MfA and the Accounts Direction.
Basis for qualified opinion on regularity
The CCG reported a deficit of £1.4m million in its financial statements for the year ending 31
March 2016, thereby breaching its duty under the National Health Service Act 2006, as
amended by paragraph 2231 of Section 27 of the Health and Social Care Act 2012, to break
even on its commissioning budget.
Qualified Opinion on regularity
In our opinion, except for the effects of the matter described in the basis for qualified opinion
on regularity paragraph, in all material respects the expenditure and income recorded in the
financial statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the
financial transactions in the financial statements conform to the authorities which govern
them.
Opinion on other matters
In our opinion:
the parts of the Remuneration and Staff Report to be audited have been properly
prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, as
interpreted and adapted by the 2015/16 FReM as contained in the 2015/16 MfA and
the Accounts Direction; and
the other information published together with the audited financial statements in the
annual report and accounts is consistent with the financial statements.
Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We are required to report to you if we refer a matter to the Secretary of State under section
30 of the Act because we have reason to believe that the CCG, or an officer of the CCG, is
about to make, or has made, a decision which involves or would involve the body incurring
unlawful expenditure, or is about to take, or has begun to take a course of action which, if
followed to its conclusion, would be unlawful and likely to cause a loss or deficiency.
On 13 May 2016 we referred a matter to the Secretary of State under section 30 of the Act in
relation to NHS Wirral CCG's breach of its revenue resource limit for the year ending 31
March 2016.
We report to you if we are not satisfied that the CCG has put in place proper arrangements
to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.

Basis for qualified value for money conclusion
The CCG reported a deficit of £1.4 million in its financial statements for the year ending 31
March 2016, which is a significant deterioration from the planned £4.8 million surplus. The
deterioration in the CCG's financial position was due to inaccurate forecasting of elements of
expenditure, failure to take corrective action and non-delivery of planned savings schemes.
These issues are evidence of weaknesses in proper arrangements for planning finances
effectively to support the sustainable delivery of strategic priorities and maintain statutory
functions.
Qualified value for money conclusion
On the basis of our work, having regard to the guidance issued by the Comptroller & Auditor
General in November 2015, except for the effects of the matter described in the Basis for
qualified value for money conclusion paragraph, we are satisfied that, in all significant
respects, NHS Wirral CCG put in place proper arrangements for securing economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2016.
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where we are required to report
by exception if:
in our opinion the governance statement does not comply with the guidance issued
by the NHS Commissioning Board; or
we issue a report in the public interest under section 24 of the Act; or we make a
written recommendation to the CCG under section 24 of the Act.
Certificate
We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of NHS Wirral CCG in
accordance with the requirements of the Act and the Code of Audit Practice.

Robin Baker
for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Appointed Auditor

Grant Thornton UK LLP
Royal Liver Building
Liverpool L3 1PS
26 May 2016

